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8 e mrm s an

INTRODUCTION.

@ N the 18th of June, 1778, the Britith army evacu-
5 ated Philadelphia, and withdrew towards New
York, its heavy fupplies and a large amount of
" property of individuals preferring to fhare its fortunes
being fent around in veflels to that place. The
American army at Valley Forge, fome twenty miles diftant,
were previoufly informed of the intentions of the enemy,
and as foon as the movement was made, occupied the city,
the greater portion croffing the river in purfuit of the re-
treating enemy, who were overtaken and fought at Mon-
mouth ten days afterwards.

General Arnold, in the month of O&ober previous, had
been feverely wounded in the Battle of Saratoga, where,
although not in command, he took a confpicuous part, and
by that perfonal bravery and recklefs difregard of danger by
which he had been often before diftinguithed, he did much

towards
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towards deciding the fortunes of battle in favour of the
American arms. He remained at Albany through the
winter, with the bone of a leg fraGured; and when this
had fo far healed as to allow him to leave his room, he went
to Middletown, Conn., and after fpending a month pro-
ceeded to New Haven. .

Wherever he travelled, the fame of his military achiev-
ments fecured him an honorable welcome, and the moft
refpe&ful attentions. At New Haven he received from
General Wathington as a prefent, in token of his higheft
approbation, a pair of epaulettes and a fword knot, one of a
fet of three, received from a gentleman in France. Of the
other fets, General Wathington prefented one to General
Lincoln, and retained the other himfelf.

Before the clofe of May, Arnold joined the army at
Valley Forge; and as his wound had not yet fo far re-
covered as to enable him to take an a&ive part in the open-
ing campaign, and as a further token of confidence from
the commander in chief, he received an appointment as
commandant at Philadelphia, which was then expe&ed to
fall again into our hands in a few days. This truft,
although not of particular military importance, was one of
great delicacy and refponfibility, fince, during the eight
months of occupation by the enemy, they had purfued a
conciliatory policy towards the inhabitants, and many
perfons had become favourably impreﬂ'gd with regard to
the royal caufe. The fuflerings at Valley Forge, of which

rumours
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rumours exaggerated for effeét, were publithed within the
enemy’s lines, contrafting with the plenty and feftivity of the
city, muft have had an influence in imprefling a convi&ion
that the end of the revolution was drawing nigh, and that
an early return to allegiance would be the fureft means of
fecuring property and perfonal advancement under a return-
ing peace. This feeling was more prevalent among the
wealthy and influential clafles, who had more to fave,
and more to gain by a return to power of the ariftocratic
inftitutions of the colonies.

There was alfo a large amount of merchandize, and
other property in the city, of doubtful ownerthip, or in the
hands of perfons of queftionable patriotifm, the difpofition
of which, might do much good or harm to the colonial
caufe, according as it was ufed for or againft its interefts;
and which, from the circumftances of the cafe, often allowed
of collufion, private partnerfhips and fecret fale, the more
effe@ually to evade ftri@ military juftice, and the regula-
tions of trade and transfer which it was found neceflary to
eftablith.

With thefe temptations and opportunities around him,
and viewed in the light of our prefent knowledge of the
chara&er of Arnold, it was the wrong place to put a man
who like him, had no controlling fenfe of patriotifm and
honour ; but who could readily traffick in both to promote his
inordinate avarice, vanity and pride. But the commander-
in-chief, himfelf incapable of a difhonorable thought or deed,

was



[ vi]
was anxious to confer upon the intrepid Arnold, a pofition
which fhould itfelf be an honourable acknowledgment of
military merit, and an example of the value fet upon bravery,
by fhowing its reward, and in view of his prefent difability
. from the fervice, afligned him the pofition.

Under a refolution of congrefs pafled June sth, 1778, the
commander-in-chief was ordered to fufpend the removal, fale,
or transfer of goods in Philadelphia, whenever it fhould
fall into our hands, until a joint committee of that body,
and of the executive council of Pennfylvania, fhould
afcertain whether it were the property of the king or his
fubje@s. In purfuance of this order, and as proved in the
trial fubfequently held before a court martial, with the ap
probation and afliftance of the prefident of the council, a
proclamation was prepared and iffued, clofing all ftores of
goods, until the joint committee could take a&ion concern-
ing them, under the refolution of congrefs above noticed.
This regulation although fan&ioned by the highett authority,
proved burdenfome to the people, and led to the moft
grievous complaints againft the immediate agency through
which, and in whofe name it was ordered, and in the fubfe-
quent difficulties was made one of the charges againft the
adminiftration of General Arnold, but was not maintained.
From its firft being felt among the poorer clafles, who were
moft affected by its operation, it laid the foundation of an
early and bitter feeling of diflike towards General Arnold,
which might have been equally felt towards the beft of men

under
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under like circumftances, until removed by a courfe of con-
du& that fhould, while it thowed its neceflity, at the
fame time prove the ftri integrity with which it was
executed.

But there was nothing in the chara&ter of General
Arnold to conciliate the favour of the popular maffes when
once loft, and the luftre of his military fame, as the fight-
ing general, was foon obfcured by a courfe of official and
private condu&, which betrayed the fpeculator, and the
weak, vain, and ambitious man,

On the 23d of June, 1778, when General Arnold had
been but four days in command at Philadelphia, he formed
a very fufpicious partnerfhip, by which goods not wanted
for the publick ufe, were purchafed with publick funds and
fold for the benefit of himfelf and partners.

The powers of the commandant were neceffarily left
indefinite, and the line of feparation between civil and
military authority was not clearly defined. Thefe doubtful
queftions, in the hands of a perfon of unfullied patriotifin,
and firm integrity, would have prefented no difficulties in a
faithful and acceptable adminiftration. Juftice and equity,
would have fuggefted the line of duty, and a due regard to
the publick good and to private rights, would have fupplied the
place of lz(w, under circumftances where the neceflities of
the hour, might be the only rule of a&ion.

But with a man like Arnold, of habits and motives im-
perious, crafty and mercenary, it could not be expetted

that
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that he would long harmonize with a civil power which,
upon many points, claimed concurrent jurifdi&ion.

General Arnold’s affociations in the city were largely
among thofe who fecretly preferred the fuccefs of the royal
caufe. During his refidence there, he formed an alliance
by marriage, with the family of Mr. Edward Shippen, who
was prominently known to prefer the old order of things,
and his young wife, beautiful, gay, and ambitious, had been
admired and flattered by the officers of the Britith army,
during their refidence in the city. Among thefe was Major
Andre, with whom fhe correfponded, after the Britith army
withdrew to New York, and who afterwards became an
acceflory, and victim to the treafon of her hufband. She
was, probably, unconfcious of the true fa&s of the cafe,
and of too light and frivolous a chara&er, to be trufted
with a plan in which filence and myftery were effential
elements of fuccefs.

The facilities for communication with the enemy were
thus eafy and ample, but we have no evidence that he had,
as yet, formed any definite plans for returning to the allegi-
ance of the crown; although he doubtlefs familiarized him-
felf with the alternatives which the chances of war might
bring, with the view of feizing the firft opportunity which
any event might offer, to advance his own fortune.

His profeflions were, however, on all occafions, until the
final difclofure of his. confpiracy, entirely patriotic, and for
whatever he did or attempted, he had a reafon oftenfibly

confiftent
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confiftent with the public good. His firft correfpondence
with Andrd, began under an aflureed name, about April, 1779.

The habits of Genmeral Arnold, while holding chief
military command in Philadelphia, were fumptuous and ex-
travagant to a degree far beyond the income from his pay
and the regular allowances of government. He indulged
in an expenfive equipage, a fumptuous table, and coftly
livery. His houfe was one that had belonged to the Penn
family, and his eatertainments, and ftyle of living generally,
were fuch as might be expe&ed of a prince, rather than of
aa army officer in a fimple republic. As a natural confo-
quence, he became involved in debt, from which he under-
took to extricate himfelf by private fpeculations, which
were unfortunate. He took fhares in privateers, and was
unlucky. He prefented claims againft the United States, for
expenfes incurred in his northern campeigns, which were
difallowed by the commiffioners appointed to audit them.
He quarreled with members of congrefs who happened to
oppofe his claims, and he was continually alluding to his
wounds, his fcars, and his fervices, as a reafon why his pre-
tenfions-fhould be regarded and his demands atlowed.

At one time, he propofed to refign his commiffion and
enter the navy, and at another to engage in privateering,
but neither of thefe fchemes were matured.

His adminiftration proved obnoxious to the inhabitants
from the beginning ; and his affumptions of power coming
in confli@ with the jurifdi®ion of the fupreme executive

2 council,
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council, led at length to the paffage of refolutions by that
body, feverely cenfuring his condué. To underftand fully
thefe relations, it may be proper briefly to notice the form
of government that then exifted in Pennfylvania, under the
conftitution of September 28, 1776.

The powers of government were vefted in a general
affembly, and a fupreme executive council. The former
confifted of members eleéted annually, and poffeffed fole
legiflative power, their vote and feal giving validity to all
laws without further approval. Their feflions were publick.
No reprefentative could ferve more than four years in feven,
and none but freemen “ moft noted for wifdom and virtue,”
were eligible.

The fupreme executive council, confifted of twelve
members, ele¢ted one from each county, and (after the firft),
for three years, and by virtue of their office, made juftices
of the peace for the whole commonwealth. To countera&
“the danger of eftablithing an inconvenient ariftocracy” no
member of the general aflfembly, or delegate in congrefs,
could be chofen to this office, and after ferving three years,
they were ineligible during the next four years afterwards.
This council ele&ed from their number a prefident, who
was commander in chief of all the forces of the ftate. It
poffefled the power of appointing moft civil and military
officers in the commonwealth. It could grant licences and
pardons, remit fines and penalties, regulate commerce and
the intercourfe with other ftates, and perform executive a&s

generally.
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generally, It alfo fat as a court, for the trial of impeach-
ment, and fuits in chancery in certain cafes. This conftitu-
tion was fuperceded in 1790.

The difficulties between General Arnold and the council
began within a week after he took command, while Prefident
Wharton was in the prefidential chair, and continued to
become more formidable and aggravated, until they led to
the refolutions of cenfure above alluded to, in which the
attorney general was direGted to commence a profecution.
As General Arnold was an officer of the United States, it
was thought proper to make an appeal to congrefs.

The charges, with a letter from Prefident Reed, and other
papers, were laid before that body, and in due courfe came
up for a&ion. A committee of inquiry relieved General
Arnold from any criminality in the charges, but a mifunder-
ftanding having prevented the council from furnithing fuch
teftimony as was neceffary to fuftain their charges, congrefs
neglected to a& upon the report of their committee,
but by an agreement between the parties, the queftion
was referred to a joint committee of congrefs and the
affembly and council of Pennfylvania. This joint commif~
fion was found to be embarrafled with fo many difficulties,
that the affair was finally put into the hands of the com-
mander in chief, who referred it to a court martial. This
armngement having been agreed to by the joint committee,
and approved by congrefs, went into effe&, to the infinite
difguft of General Arnold ; who had hoped through his in-

fluence
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fluence with the joint committee, to fecure a decifion in his
favor. He affe&ed to regard this difpofitien of his cafe as a
compromife, in which his interefts had been facrificed by
congrefs to conciliate the government of Pennfylvania. He,
however, acquiefced in the arrangement, requefted an early
aétion by the court martial, and profefled the utmoft confi-
dence in his ability to fecure a favorable decifion. But the
council were not ready to proceed to trial, and three months
elapfed before their preparations were completed. General
Arnold complained of this delay, as a pretext of keeping
him under odious charges before the publick mind. The
commander in chief in notifying the form of trial, required
the council to aét as the accufing party. To this Prefident
Reed, in behalf of the council, ftrongly obje@ed, faying
that their intention was only to make known their opinion
of General Arnold to his fuperiors and the publick ; and that
to go beyond this would be inconfiftent with their dignity ;
but the points of etiquette thus raifed, were finally waived,
and they proceeded to prepare for the trial.  The correfpond-
ence between Prefident Reed and General Wathington,
relative to the mode of bringing on and condu&ing the trial,
as given in full, in the publifhed life and correfpondence of
Mr. Reed, is quite voluminous, and involves points of dif-

cuffion which it is not neceffary for us here to enumerate.
General Arnold refigned his command in Philadelphia on
the 18th of March, 1779, upon the report of the com-
mittee of congrefs on the charges being announced. The
next
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next day he informed the board of war of this altion in the
following letter :
Philadelphia, March 19, 1779.
S,

Having fometime fince, obtained permiffion of His Excel-
lency, General Wathington, I have this day refigned my
command in this city to Brigadier General Hogan, of which
I thought proper to give the Hon’ble Board of War notice,
that notwithftanding my having given up the command, I
fhall be bhappy at all times to render my country every

fervice in my power.
I am with refpe&, fir,
Your obed. and humble Serwe.,
B. ARNOLD.
Dire&ed

Major Scull, Sect’y to the Board of War,

General Arnold ftill continued to refide in the city, and
to maintain the fame expenfive habits and ftyle of living as
before, and was conftantly becoming every day more deeply
involved in debt. When the time firft appointed for trial
arrived, the court had fcarcely organized, and the preliminary
proceedings finithed, when the movements of the enemy
rendered it neceffary to adjourn the court, in order to allow
its members to refume their duties in the field, nor did an
opportunity again occur for them to meet before winter.
For this new difappointment, there was no remedy, and the
accufed was forced to fubmit to the protraced fufpenfe and

irritation
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irritation of a long delay, which neceffarily implied ina&ion,
and gave his opponents the advantage of that obloquy,
which the publick ufually attached to an officer under
charges.

The a&ive duties of the campaign having ended, Gen.
Wathington addrefled the following letter to Prefident
Reed:

s Head-Quarters, Morriffown, Dec. 4th, 1779.
IR,

I have the honour to inform Your Excellency and the
Council, by the conveyance which now offers by exprefs,
that Monday the 20th inftant, is appointed for proceeding in
the trial of Major Genl. Arnold. The court martial will
fit at the camp in the vicinity of Morriftown. I have
written to Mr. Matlack and informed him of thefe circum-
ftances, and I requeft the favour of Your Excellency to
communicate notice of the fame to any witnefles there may
be befides. If there are any in the military line, and I am
informed of them, I will order their attendance, or if there
are any under this defcription at, or in the neighborhood of
Philidelphia, who might poffibly go from thence before
they could receive my order, Congrefs, I am perfuaded,
will, upon information of the fa&, dire& them to attend.

I have the honour to be, with great refpe&,
Your Excellency’s moft obedt. fervt.,
GO. WASHINGTON.

Among
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Among thofe who firft obferved the treacherous villainy
of General Arnold, was Col. John Brown of Pittsfield,
Mafs.

On a public occafion at Albany, two years before, Col.
Brown charged Arnold with treafonable intentions and con-
du&. He fubfequently fubmitted charges againft him to
congrefs, but for fome reafon that does not appear, they
were not a&ed upon by that body.

Learning of the difficulties in which Arnold had become
involved with the council of Pennfylvania, he fought to add
the weight of his own charges to thofe that might be drawn
up by the council, and enclofed them to Prefident Reed,.in
the following letter :

Pittsfield, 7th March, 1779.
Sr,

Inclofed I fend you a copy of an impeachment ag' Gen!.
Arnold, who found means in a very extraordinary manner,
and by the help of fome extraordinary minds, to evade a
trial. I wifth I could fay that congrefs had been lefs con-
cerned in this matter: perhaps at this day they may be of
my opinion, altho’ they, contrary and in dire& violation of
the laws military, and antecedently by them eftablithed for
the regulation of the army, gave Gen'. Arnold a tham trial
in congrefs, without giving me the leaft notice. But as I
have ftated this matter anew to congrefs, fhall give your
hon® no further claim than to fuggeft that the laft charge in
the impeachment, can now be fully fupported, which, tho’

trifling,
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trifling, conneed with Gen' Amdld’s charather, yet might
affe& that of a better man. The other charges might be
chiefly fupported, tho’ the evidence is now much diffipated.

I take the liberty to ufe this freedom, on the prefumption
of a probability of the charges having been fupprefled in
your ftate: Gen' Arnold, I am told, was in high repute at
that time in y* middle and fouthern ftates.

I am fir moft refpe&@fully,
Your hon® moft cbedient humble ferve.,
JNO© BROWN.

N. B. Since the writing this letter, have been hon
with a letter from the hon® T. Matlack Efq., with pamph-
lets and charges ag* G. Arnold inclofed, for which I take
this opportunity to return that gentleman my moft hearty
and fincere thanks. Can affure your hon’ that I am ex-
tremely happy to hear, that fo great a villian is at laft de-
te&ed, or the old proverb verified “give a Thief length of
Rope, and he will hang himfelf.”” Shall accept asa peculiar
favor that the hon® Mr. Matlack tranfinit me the remainder
of the trial and iffue of the impeachments exhibited by the
hon*® council. Expe& to be in Philadelphia foon, 2t which
time fhall do myfelf the honor of making fome acquaintance
with your hont", particularly on the fubje& of Gen' Arnold,

of which your fec’y has been pleafed to favor me with a
copy.
I am, &c.,
. B.
Hon"™ Jofeph Reed, Efq.
To
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To this letser Mr. Matlack replied :

o Philadelphia, March 29, 1779.
IR :

Having lately taken the liberty, under the fignature of
T. G. to ufe a publication figned by you, I now beg leave
to enclofe to you the proceedings of the council of Penn-
fylvania, in a cafe relating to the condu& of Major General
Arnold. Every day turns up fomething new relating to the
courfe of this Phenomenon : and I fhall fend you the further
proceedings in this cafe as foon as they are clofed, as it is
probable they will produce important confequences one way
or another. I am, altho’ a ftranger to your perfon, with
great refpe&, .

Your very humble fervant,

T. M., Sec.
Dire&ted :

To Lieut, Col. John Brown, at Pittsfield in Conne&icut
[Maflachufetts].

Colonel Brown may poffibly have never heard of the
confummation of Arnold’s treachery, which he fo confidently
believed him to be meditating. He fell in the defence of a
ftockaded fort at Stone Arabia, Tryon county (now Palatine,
Montgomery county), New York, on the 18th of O&ober,
1780, on his thirty-fixth birth day. Juft fifty-fix years
afterwards, a monument was ere&ed over his grave by his
fon, Henry Brqgvn of Berkfhire, Maffachufetts.

3 Having
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Having given the principal fa&s in the proceedings againft
Arnold, it may be proper to notice fome of the chara&ers
concerned in the trial, either as profecutors, or as members
of the court. Of thefe the moft prominent, was Mr.
Jofeph Reed, then prefident of the council of Pennfylvania.

Jofeph Reed was born in Trenton, N. J., Aug. 27,
1742 ; graduated at Princeton in 1757; ftudied law with
Richard Stockton, an eminent lawyer of New Jerfey, and
was admitted to praltice in 1763. He completed his legal
education in London, where he refided until 1765. While
abroad, he formed an acquaintance, which led to a corref-
pondence with Lord Dartmouth, fecretary of ftate for the
colonies, which was continued for fome time, with fome
profpe& of its leading to conceflions by the mother country
in favor of the colonies. But the period of negociation
ended with the beginning of hoftilities,and Mr. Reed threw
his influence without referve into the colonial caufe. He
had fettled in Philadelphia, upon his return from England,
and at an early period of the war, was made chairman of a
committee for the relief of the citizens of Bofton. He
alfo became lieutenant colonel of a battalion of Pennfylvania
militia. Upon the appointment of General Wafthington as
commander in chief, Mr. Reed was made his fecretary.
After four months’ fervice at head quarters, he returned
home to Philadelphia, where private duties prevented him
from again refuming the office.

A confli& with the proprietary form of government, had
been
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been going on for fome years in Pennfylvania, and men of
unqueftionable patriotifm were found who favored, and
others who oppofed a change in the exifting order of publick
affairs. The committee of fafety which was formed at this
crifis, and of which Mr. Reed became chairman, was there-
fore embarraffed by this difference of parties, and the duties
which devolved upon this body were often delicate and
refponfible. In 1776, Mr. Reed was ele@ed to the affem-
bly, in which he propofed to effe& certain reforms, but
the feflions of that body were not long continued, and a
new form of government was prepared and went into opera-
tion in the fall of that year.

On the sth of June, 1776, Mr. Reed was appointed
adjutant general to the army, and foon entered upon the
duties of this office at head quarters, then in New York
city. He participated in the battle of Long Ifland, and in
the military movements of the enfuing campaign. Towards
the clofe of the year, a letter from Gen. Charles Lee, ad-
drefled to Col. Reed, and received at head quarters during
his abfence, was opened by General Wathington, who fup-
pofed it related to publick bufinefs. It proved to be confi-
dential, and apparently in anfwer to one in ‘which Col.
Reed had cenfured the commander in chief for the lofs of
Fort Wafhington, and regretting the abfence of General
Lee, from the councils at head quarters. .

A moft cordial and confidential relation had hitherto
exifted between General Wathington and Colonel Reed,

which
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which this difcovery very natumlly checked. The matter
was fubfequently explained in 2 way to relieve it from fome
of its more objeQionable features, and the commander in
chief continued his official relations as formerly. From
what is Bow known of the charater and motives of General
Lee, it may be readily underftood, that he would gladly
feize upon any pretext for advancing himfelf in the efteem
of the army, or of promoting difcord among its officers, if
by fuch means he could gain a perfonal advantage, or attain
that eminence which his fordid ambition craved, and which
he fubfequently fought to purchafe by his own treafon.*

On the 1ft of December, 1776, Col. Reed enclofed his
refignation, from Burlington to Gen. Wathington, but a
fudden turn of events induced him to fend a fpecial meflenger
to recall the refignation, and he continued to difcharge the
duties of the office, until the events at Trenton and Prince-
ton, when he refigned the office, and was fucceeded by
Colonel Pickering. In May, 1777, he was cle@ed a
brigadier general, and was tendered the command of the
light horfe, but he declined the pofition, and fome months
later Count Pulafki was chofen to that command.

On the aoth of March, 1777, he was chofen chief
juftice of Pennfylvania, but he declined this office, and
fubfequently ferved with the army as a volunteer, without
Tank or pay, moft of the enfuing campaign. He was chofen

a

# This correfpondence is given in full in the fourth volome of the Life and
Writings of Gen. Wapbington by Mr, Sparks.
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a delegate in congrefs in September, 1777, but remained in
the field, and did not attend its feflions under this appoint-
ment. A new eleion took place on the 10th of December,
1777, when he was again chofen. During the winter he
was named one of a committee to examine into the condi-
tion of the army at Valley Forge, and he remained there
moft of the winter, and he did not refume his feat in con-
grefs till the 6th of April. He was foon after required to
return to camp, -

A commiffion charged with powers to negociate a fettle-
ment of the difficulties with Great Britain arrived at Phil-
adelphia on the 6th of June, and a few days after letters
were received from them by Mr. Reed, which were fub-
mitted to the commander in chief, and proper anfwers
prepared, but the evacuation of Philadelphia followed foon
after, and nothing was accomplithed, if indeed, the anfwer
to the overtures was cver received. Mr. Reed joined the
army on the 22d of June, 1778, participated in its move-
ments for harraffing or intercepting the Britith army on its
retreat to New York, and was aively engaged in the
battle of Monmouth, June 28th, where he had a horfe thot
under him. He then returned to Philadelphia, and refumed
his feat in congrefs.

The peace commiffioners with the Britith army, as they
were about leaving Philadelphia, had made an arrangement
by which a verbal offer by Mr. Johnftone of ten thoufand
pounds flerling, with any ofice in the colonies in his

majefty’s
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majefty’s gift, was to be made to Mr. Reed, if he would
lend his influence to promote the re-union of the colonies
with the mother country. This offer he rejeéted, and on
the 18th of July, laid the whole fubje& before congrefs.
Much indignation was felt at this attempt to bribe and cor-
rupt a member of congrefs, and on the rrth of Auguft,
refolutions were paffed denouncing the commiflioners, and
declaring that it is incompatible with the honor of congrefs,
to hold any manner of correfpondence or intercourfe with
George Johnftone, Efquire, efpecially to negotiate with him
upon affairs in which the caufe of liberty is interefted.

In the fummer of 1778, Mr. Reed was employed in
affifting the attorney general, Mr. Sergeant, in profecuting
publick offenders, and on the 5th of November of that year
he was chofen prefident of the executive council, having
been cleéted 2 member of the council by the people, during
the month previous. To this office he was annually re-
cle&ed, during the contftitutional term of three years. He
was fubfequently employed in condu&ing the Wyoming con-
troverfy on behalf of the ftate of Pennfylvania, againft the
ftate of Conne&icut. In 1784, he made a voyage to
England, chiefly for the reftoration of his health, but re-
turned in nine months but little benefitted. He was eleéted
to congrefs from Pennfylvania after his return, but was
unable to take his feat,and died on the §th of March, 1785,
at the age of forty-three years.

During his official conne&ion with the army, he became

involved
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involved in a controverfy with General John Cadwalader,
in which charges of difloyalty were made and denied with
much fpirit. The reader will find both fides of this con-
troverfy, reprinted in a volume by Mr. Munfell of Albany
in 1863. - It is not in our province to decide the merits of
the cafe, as it had no relation to the difficulty with General
Arnold.

Col. James Read, a member of the council, was a native
of the province of Delaware. He was defcended from an
ancient family, which had for centuries held a diftinguithed
pofition, both in England and Ireland. His grandfather
was a gentleman of rank and fortune, refiding in the city of
Dublin, where his father, John Read, Efquire, was born in
the laft year of the reign of King James the Second, A. D.
1688. Having received a manorial grant from his fellow
countryman, Lord Baltimore, John Read, in fpite of much
parental oppofition, when quite young removed to the
province of Maryland, and having eftablithed himfelf on a
large plantation in Cecil county, married Mifs Mary Howell,
an aunt of the late Governor Howell of New Jerfey. In
the year 1734, Mr. Read, ftill retaining his original feat in
Ma.ryland, removed to an eftate which he owned in New-
caftle county in the Delaware province. Here Col. James
Read was born, in the year 1743.

Early in life Col. Read removed to the city of Philadel-
phia, and took a prominent part in the Revolutionary war.
In 1775, he was appointed paymafter of the fleet. With-

ing
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ing more a&ive fervice, he applied to congrefs for a com~
mifion in the army, but was induced to withdraw his appli-
cation and accept the office of paymafter of the marine de-
partment, by the earneft folicitation of his friend Robert
Morris, the financier of the Revolution, whotwas well
acquainted with Colonel Read’s ability, and anxioufly
withed for his affiftance. In January, 1776, Mr. Read
was eleQed firft licutenant of a company in the 3d battalion
of Affociators. Sharpe Delaney was the captain, and Mofes
Levy, afterwards prefident judge of the diftri& court, was
the enfign. Lieut. Read was with General Wathington
when he croffed the Delaware on Chriftmas night, 1776,
and within a fhort time, participated with his company in
the laft bayonet charge at the battle of Princeton. In
1777, Prefident Wharton of Pennfylvania, fent him a com-
miffion, conftituting him  fub-licutenant of the city of
Philadelphiz, for the purpofe of muftering and claffing the
militia ” with the rank of licutenant colonel. This he de~
clined. In June, 1777, he accepted the majority of the 1ft
battalion of Philadelphia city militia, and was prefent at the
battle of Brandywine in September. Soon afterwards he
was appointed brigade major on the ftaff of Gen. Irwin,
and held that pofition at the battle of Germantown. In
1779, Major Read was made lieutenant colonel commandant
of a Philadelphia regiment, and refigned as paymafter of the
navy. In the fame year congrefs appointed Col. Read,
John Wharton, and William Winder, commiffioners of the

havy
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navy hoard. Meflrs. Wharton and Winder having dcclinedx
cangrefs authorized Col. Read to a& alone. Cooper, in
his Naval Hiftory, fays: ““In O&ober, 1779, * * * a
board of admiralty was eftablithed. * * * In January,
1781, James Read [miflpelled Reed] was appointed by
fpecial refolution to manage the affairs of the navy board
in the middle department.” Col. Read ferved again
as paymafter of the navy from July, 1783, to September,
1784, when the maring department was reorganized under
M:r. Morris, as agent of marine, Col. Read was appointed
fecretary, and ferved unti] the clofe of the war. Col. Read
was diretor of the city library company, direGor of the
bank of North America, and dire@or and prefident of the
Philadelphia mutual infurance company. He was for feveral
years a member of the fele& council of Philadelphia, and
during the war of 1812, was appointed by that body one of
the committee to provide for the defence of the river Dela-
ware. He was alfo for a long time, member of the fupreme
executive council of Pennfylvania. His eldeft brother, the
Hon. George Read, who had been, before the reyolution,
royal attorney general, and the leader of the praprietary party

in Delaware, filled a great variety of high publick ftations.

He was a member of congrefs during the whole revolu-
tionary war, and a figner of the declaration of independence ;
prefident of Delaware, and prefident of the convention which
framed the firft conflitution of that ftate; judge of the
court of appeals, by congreffional appointment ; member of

4 the
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the Annapolis convention ; member of the convention which
framed the conftitution of the United States ; United States
fenator; and chief juftice of Delaware. Commodore
Thomas Read, a younger brother of Col. James Read,
was eighth on the continental navy lift, and commanded
the guns which raked the Affanpink at the battle of Trenton.
He was a member of the Cincinnati fociety.

Col. Read died at Philadelphia, on the 31t of December,
1822, aged feventy-nine. His fon, Col. James Read, Jr.,
was a very cultivated and learned man; while at Stockholm,
juft after the war of 1812, in company with the celebrated
Englith traveler, Sir Robert Kerr Porter, he attraéted the
attention of the queen of Sweden, and received from her
majefty the decoration of the royal focial order of the
Amaranth.

Mrs. S. R. Eckard, the daughter of Col. James Read, Sr.,
and the wife of the Norwegian conful general, was a very
gifted woman. She is known as the author of the defcrip-
tion of Wathington’s Farewell Addrefs, firft printed in the
W afbington Intelligencer, and afterwards publithed by Mr.
Geo. Wathington Parke Cuftis in his Reminifcences; and
was alfo introduced as one of the charaters in a novel
entitled Fuffina, written many years fince by her friend,
Mrs.' De Witt, the wife of the Hon. Simeon De Witt,
former furveyor general of New York. Mrs. Eckard de-
ceafed at Philadelphia in December, 1861, aged eighty-ﬁve.

Of the other members of the council, feveral of whom
were from the interior counties of Pennfylvania, we have

been unable to obtain the data for particular notice.
Gen.
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Gen. John Laurence, the judge advocate of the trial,
was from Cornwall, England, where he was born in 1750.
He emigrated to America in 1767, was admitted to the bar
in 1772, entered the army in 1775, and ferved through the
war, in which he attained the grade of general. In 1783,
he refumed the pra&tice of law in New York. In March,
1785, he was chofen from New York, a delegate in
congrefs. He was eleQed a member of the firft and
fecond congrefles, under the conftitution; in 1794, he
became judge of the diftri& court of New York ; and in
1796, a fenator in congrefs, in place of Rufus King. He
ferved till 1800, and then retired to private life, and died at
No. 356 Broadway, N. Y., Nov., 1810, in the fixtieth
year of his age. He married a daughter of Gen. Alexander
McDougall, an ardent patriot, and his publick and private
life was a&ive, honourable and ufeful.

Gen. Howe, prefident of the court, was born in Bruns-
wick, N. C., became colonel of the 1ft N. C. regiment,
and went early into the confli&. In December, 1775, he
joined Woodford at Norfolk, in oppofition to Lord Dun-
more ; and in the following year, he ferved in Virginia ; and
in 1778, in Georgia and Florida. Here he was unfuccefsful,
and the cenfures which were thrown upon his condu&, led
to a duel with Mr. Gadfden, Aug. 13, 1778. "Major
Andre wrote a2 humorous account in rhyme upon this en-
counter.

Gen. Smallwood was born in Maryland. He ferved in

the
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the battles of Long Ifland in 1776,'of Brandywine and
‘Germantown, ind in the ‘expedition undér Gates in the
South. In,1785, he ‘was ‘chofen ‘a delegate in congrefs, 2nd
the fifHe year govérnor of Marylahd. He 'diedin February,
1492,

‘Gen. Kiriox, had in ‘chirge ‘the aftillery depattment of
the army, and his intimate conne@ion ‘with ‘the ‘revolution
is well known 'to every reader of Amiérican hiftdry. He
was aftérwards fecrétary of war, and held this'office eleven

_years. He died 4t Thorndftoh, Maine, O&. 25, 1866.

Gen. Woolford Wwas a native of ‘Carolihe county, Va.,
and ‘was diftinguiftied in ‘the French and ¥ndian wars. In
1775, he was appdinted cblonel of the 2d Virginia regiment.
He'ferved in-the battle of Great Bridge'in December, 1775
at Brandywine (where he was‘'wotinded)'; and-at Moninouth.
He was taken prifonér, at “Charléftsh, durihg the fiege of
1780, and ‘died in the'hands of the 'énéiny 4t New York,
‘Nbovember 13th of that year, aged forty-fix yeats.

‘Gen. Irvine'tvas born in Ireland, was educited sa phyfi-
"¢ian, and ferved as a'furgeon ‘on a Britith thip-of ‘war. In
1763, he fettled at Carlifle, Pa. ‘He éntered the fetvice on'the
breaking out of ‘the revolution, ferved in‘Canada, and was
taken prifoner 4t Three Rivérs, and 'détiined at "Quebec,
‘until exchanged in 1778. ‘In‘1781, 'Ne was' entrilfted with
the defence of the north-weéftern'frontiers, and promoted to
major general. He was a member of congrefs ‘from
'1793'to '1795; *Was ‘a-tommiflidher' in the Whifltey febellion

of
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of 1794 ; and foon after removed to Philadelphia, where he
was appointed a fuperintendent of military ftores. He died
July 30, 1804, aged fixty-three years.

Col. Van Cortlandt, entered the revolution at an early
period, and ferved through the war. In 1793, he entered
congrefs, and remained fixteen years. He died Nov. §,
1831, aged 82 years.

The proceedings of the court martial upon the cafe of
General Arnold, were confirmed by congrefs on the 12th
of February, 1780, and on the 15th, it was ordered that
fifty copies be printed. On the fame day the congreflional
committee charged with an examination of his accounts
were relieved, and the fubje& was referred to the board of
treafury.

In May, General Arnold appealed from the report of the
board of treafury to congrefs, and a few days after the affair
was referred to a committee of three; but his accounts
were never adjufted, and his treafon, developed in September
following, put an end to the inveftigation.

The prefent volume is from the original edition of 1780,
printed by Francis Bailey, in a folio tra& of fifty-five pages,
and is reproduced without change or addition, excepting by
way of Introduion and notes.
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PROCEEDINGS

OF A
GENERAL COURT MARTIAL, &c.

Major General Howe, Prefident.

Brigadiers General SmaLLwooD,
Knox,
WoobpForp,
IrvINE;

Colonels MovyLan,

Woob,
HARRISON,
Havri,
Gunsy,
BuTLER ;

Lieutenant colonels HARMAR,
SiMmMs,
PopkinNs, Members.
Joun LAURANCE, Fudge Advocate.

THE court having met, the judge advocate pro-
duced his excellency the commander in chief’s
order, dated May 29, 1779; which being read,
is as follows :

Head-
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Head-Quarters, Middletwn, May 29, 1779.

A general court martial of the line is to be held on
Tuefday next, the firft of June, at the ufual place, for the
trial of Major General* Arnold, as direéed by a refolution
of the honorable the congrefs, paffed the third of April,
1779-

Major General Howe, Prefident.  Brigadiers General Small-
wood, Knox, Woodford and Irvine; Colonels Wood,
Harrifon, Hall, Gunby, Moylan and Butler; Lieutenant
Colonels Popkins, Simms and Harmar, Members.(1)
Before the court was fworn, Major General Arnold

peremptorily obje&ed to Brigadier General Irvine, Colonel

Butler, and Lieutenant Colonel Harmar ; which obje&ion

was allowed by the court. The prefident and members

then adjourned the court until to-morrow ten o’clock.(2)

December 23, 1779.(3)

The court met at Morriftown, in the ftate of New-
Jerfey, compofed of the following officers :
Major General Howk, Prefident.
Brigadiers General MAxwELL,
Krox,
GrsT,
Colonels DayTon,
BrADLEY,
CoRrRTLANDT,
HaLr,
SHERBURNE,
Jackson,
SPENCER,
GunBY ;
Lieut. Col. Comm. WEISENFELDT, Members.
Joun LAuRANCE, Fudge Advocate.
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The judge advocate produced his excellency the com-
mander in chief’s orders refpeQing the court; which being
read, are as follows:

Head-Quarters, Middlebrook, Fune 2, 1779.
The meeting of the court for the trial of Major General
Arnold, is deferred until further orders, the exigency of the
public fervice not permitting it to fit at this time.

Head-Quarters, Morriffown, December 19, 1779.

The general court martial appointed the 29th of May,
for the trial of Major General Arnold, whereof Major
General Howe is prefident, is dire¢ted to meet at this town
the 20th inftant, to refume the trial. The court will con-
fift of Major General Howe, prefident ; Brigadiers General
Maxwell, vice Woodford, abfent; Smallwood, Knox, and
Stark, vice Irvine, challenged ; Colonel Bradley, vice Ward,
abfent ; Humpton, vice Harrifon, abfent; Hall, Gunby,
Cortlandt, vice Moylan, abfent; Hazen, vice R. Butler,
challenged ; Dayton, vice Popkins, abfent ; Sherburne, vice
Harmar, challenged.(4)

Head-Quarters, Morriftown, December 21, 1779.
The general court martial, whereof Major General Howe
is prefident, will affemble to-morrow, at Norris’s tavern, in
Morriftown. Brigadier General Gift is appointed a member
of the court, vice Brigadier General Smallwood, who is
obliged to be abfent. General Stark being indifpofed,
Colonel Spencer is added as a member.

Head-Quarters, Morrifiown, December 22, 1779.
AFTER ORDERS.
The general court martial, whereof Major General Howe
is prefident, to fit to-morrow morning ten o’clock, at Norris’s
tavern,
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tavern. Colonel Jackfon is appointed a member, vice
Colonel Hazen; and Lieutenant Colonel Commandant
Weifenfeldts, Vice Colonel Humpton, on command.(s)

The prefident, members and judge advocate being fworn,
agreeable to the rulesand articles of war, the judge advocate
produced the proceedings of the council of the ftate of
Pennfylvania, relative to Major Gerferal Arnold, dated
February 3, 1779, and a refolution of the honorable the
congrefs, dated April 3, 1779; which being read, are as
follows :(6)

IN COUNCIL.

Philadelphia, February 3, 1779.
PRESENT,
His Excellency Josern REEp, Efg., Prefident.
The Honorable GEORGE BrYAN,(7) Efq., Vice Prefident.
Colonel JosepH HARrT,
Joun Macky,
James M’LEeNE,
JaMmEes Reap,
Joun HamerIGHT, and
THomas ScotT, Efguires.

This board having maturely confidered the general tenor
and courfe of the military command exercifed by Major
General Arnold in this city and ftate, and divers tranfa&ions
which have appeared to this board during his command, 4
refolve unanimoufly.

Firfl. That the fame hath been in many refpeéts oppref~
five to the faithful fubje&s of the ftate, unworthy of his
rank and ftation, highly difcouraging to thofe who have
manifefted their attachment to the liberties and interefts of

America,
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America, and difrefpe@ful to the fupreme executive authority
of the ftate.

Wherefore, refolved unanimoufly,

Second, That nothing but the moft urgent and prefling
neceflity can juftify or induce this board to call forth any
waggons or militia, or otherwife fubje& the good people of
this ftate to the power and command of the faid General
Arnold within the ftate, thould he refume it upon his re-
turn. -

Third, Ordered, That the. attorney general do profecute
the faid General Arnold, for fuch illegal and oppreflive con-
dué as is cognizable in the courts of law.

And, that this board may not be fuppofed capable of
pafling the above refolves upon mere general grounds, and
more efpecially in the cafe of one who has formerly diftin-
guithed himfelf in public fervice, they think proper to declare,
that the confideration laft mentioned has hitherto reftrained
them from taking proper notice of General Arnold, hoping
that every unworthy tranfa&ion would be the laft, or that a
becoming fenfe of fuch improprieties would effeét an altera-
tion of condu@. But finding that tendernefs has only led
to infult and farther oppreflion, duty to the ftate, regard to
the intereft and happinefs of the good people thereof, who
muft be affe@ed by all abufes of power, oblige us thus to
take notice thereof ; and farther declare, that the faid refolves
are founded upon the following articles, in which they have
fufficient ground to efteem General Arnold culpable.

Firf. That while in the camp of General Wathington at
Valley Forge, laft fpring, he gave permiffion to a veflel
belonging to perfons then voluntarily refiding in this city
with the enemy, and of difaffeed charadter, to come into a
port of the United States, without the knowledge of the

° authority
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authority of the ftate, or of the commander in chief, though
then prefent. *

Second, In having fhut up the thops and ftores on his
arrival in the city, fo as even to prevent officers of the army
from purchafing, while he privately made confiderable pur-
chafes for his own benefit, as is alledged and believed.

Third, In impofing menial offices upon the fons of free-
men of this ftate, when called forth by the defire of con-
grefs to perform militia duty; and when remontftrated to
hereupon, juftifying himfelf in writing, upon the ground of
having power fo to do; for that, *when a citizen affumed
¢“the chara&er of a foldier, the former was intirely loft in
“the latter ; and that it was the duty of the militia to obey
¢ every order of his aids (not a breach of the laws and con-
¢ ftitution) as his (the general’s) without judging of the pro-
¢ priety of them.”

Fourth, For that, when a prize was brought into this port
by the Convention brig, of this ftate, whereupon a difpute
arofe refpeting the capture, which would otherwife in great
probability have been amicably adjufted between the claim-
ants, General Arnold interpofed by an illegal and unworthy
purchafe of the fuit, at a low and inadequate price, as has
been publicly charged by a reputable citizen ; to which may
in fome degree be afcribed the delay of juftice in the courts
of appeal, and the difpute in which the ftate may probably
be involved with congrefs hereupon.

Fifth, The appropriating the waggons of this ftate,
when called forth upon a fpecial emergency laft autumn, to
the tranfportation of private property, and that of perfons
who voluntarily remained with the enemy laft winter, and
were deemed difaffected to the interefts and independence

of America.
) Sixth,
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Sixth, In that, congrefs by a refolve of the twenty-firft
of Auguft laft, having given to the executive powers of
every ftate, an exclufive power to recommend perfons de-
firous of going within the enemy’s lines, to the officer there
commanding, General Arnold, in order, as may reafonably
be inferred, to elude the faid refolve, wrote a letter, as ap-
pears by comparifon of hands and the declaration of the
intended bearer, recommendatory for the above purpofe, and
caufed his aid de camp, Major Clarkfon, to fign the fame.
But the faid device not taking effe&, through the vigilance
of the officers at Elizabethtown, General Arnold, without
difclofing any of the above circumftances, applied to council
for their permiffion, which was inftantly refufed, the con-
ne&ion, charalter and fituation of the party being well
known and deemed utterly improper to be indulged with
fuch permiffion, thereby violating the refolve of congrefs,
and ufurping the authority of this board.

Seventh, ‘This board having, upon the complaint of feveral
inhabitants of Chefter county, through the late waggon

- mafter general, requefled of the faid General Arnold to ftate
the faid trantalion refpe&ing the waggons, in order that
they might fatisfy the complainants, or explain the fame
without farther trouble, received in return an indecent
and difrefpe&ful refufal of any fatisfation whatfoever.

Eighth, The difcouragement and negle& manifefted by
General Arnold, during his command, to civil, military and
other charalers, who have adhered to the caufe of their
country — with an entire different condué towards thofe of
another chara&er, are too notorious to need proof or illuftra-
tion. And if this command has been, asis generally be-
lieved, fupported at an expence of four or five thoufand

pounds
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pounds per annum to the United States, we freely declare
we fhall very unwillingly pay any fhare of expenfes thus
incurred.
Extra& from the minutes,
T. MATLACK, Secretary.

IN CONGRESS.(8)

3 April, 1779.
Refolved, That His Excellency Jofeph Reed’s letter to
congrefs of the 25th January, 1779, and General Arnold’s
letter of 8th and 12th February, and the refolves therein
contained of the executive council of Pennfylvania, be, with
the evidence which hath been colleéted and reported by the
committee on thofe letters, tranfmitted to the commander
in chief; and that he be direted to appoint a court martial
on the firft, fecond, third, and fifth articles contained in the
faid refolves of the faid executive council, the faid articles
only being cognizable by a court martial; and that the
reference be notified to the fupreme executive council, and
they be. requefted to furnith the evidence to the court

martial.
Extra& from the minutes,
CHARLES THOMSON, Secretary.

Major General Arnold requefted that the proceedings of
the council of the ftate of Pennfylvania, dated January 18 and
21, 1779, and His Excellency Prefident Reed’s letter to the
honorable the congrefs, dated January 25, 1779, might be
produced. The judge advocate, at the defire of the court,

produced them ; which being read, are as follow :
In
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IN COUNCIL.
Philadelphia, Fanuary 18, 1779.

A reprefentation having been made by Colonel Andrew
Boyd, waggon mafter of the county of Chefter, through
James Young, Efq., waggon mafter general, to this board,
That Jefle Jordan, a deputy waggon mafter, was fent by
Colonel Boyd, with a brigade of twelve waggons, to Phila-
delphia, under the waggon law of this ftate, to convey pro-
vifions from thence to New Windfor, in confequence of
orders from him (the waggon mafter general) of the 27th
September laft; and that, when the faid Jordan returned
home, he informed Colonel Boyd, that when he arrived in
Philadelphia with his brigade, he applied to John Mitchell,
Efg., deputy quarter mafter general, for loading, who fent
him with his brigade to Eggharbour without loading, with
orders to load merchandife there of private property, and
return with it to Philadelphia, which he did; that the load-
ing was delivered there into private ftores. On confidera-
tion,

Ordered, That Mr. Mitchell be requefted to ftate to
council, in writing, the tranfa&ion relating to Jordan’s
brigade of waggons, fent by him to Eggharbour, afcertaining
the property, or to whom the fame was delivered.

Extra& from the minutes,
T. MATLACK, Secretary.

Quarter mafler general’s office,
Philadelphia, Fanuary 19, 1779. }
Sir,
I this day received an order, figned by the fecretary of
the honorable council of this ftate, requefting I would give
B them
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them information refpe&ing a brigade of waggons under the
condu&@ of Jefle Jordan, a waggon mafter from Chefter
county, the council having been informed that I fent them
to Eggharbour, to convey private property to this city. I
thall at all times be ready to give your excellency and the
honorable council every information you think neceffary for
the good of the public, or this ftate in particular, which re-
lates to my office, or the bufinefs of the department, as I
have no defire to conceal any part of my condu& as a public
officer, having conduéted the bufinefs under my dire&ion
with integrity, and juftice to the public. The following
are the ftate of the fa&ts required, viz :

In the month of O&ober laft, at the time the enemy had
landed fome troops at Eggharbour, General Arnold defired
I would furnith him with a brigade of teams, which he
wanted to fend to the Jerfies, and, that he would pay the
hire of them, they being wanted to remove property which
was in imminent danger of falling into the hands of the
enemy. I informed him, he fhould have the waggon
mafter of the firft brigade which could be fpared from
public fervice, fent to him, when he would give fuch orders
as he pleafed. Accordingly, about the 22d of O&ober,
Mr. Jordan was fent to the general, to receive his dire&tions,
having at that time fent forward a large fupply for the army,
&c. When Jordan returned, he was defired to make out
his account to General Arnold, to be paid. I do not know
where the loading was ftored, nor whofe property it was,
further than what is before mentioned. A greater number
of continental teams coming in than I expe&ed, enabled me
to comply with General Arnold’s requeft, without any in-

convenience to the fervice. If there is anything further, in
which
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which I can fatisfy your excellency and the council, I will
wait on you at any time with pleafure.
I have the honor to be, with great refpe&
Your excellency’s moft obedient

And moft humble fervant,
JOHN MITCHELL, D. 3. M. G.

His Excellency Jofeph Reed, Efq., Prefident of the flate of

Pennfylvania.

Copy.

T. MATLACK, Secretary.
. IN COUNCIL.
Philadelphia, Fanuary 21, 1779.

Council having received from John Mitchell, Efg., de-
puty quarter mafter general, a- ftate of the tranfa&ion, in
purfuance of the refolve of council of the 18th inftant, by
which it appears he ated therein in confequence of orders
from Major General Arnold.(9)

Ordered, That the fecretary make out a copy of faid
minute, with Mr. Mitchell’s ftate, and tranfmit them to
Major General Arnold, requefting him to inform this board,
whether the property for which the faid waggons were
ordered, was public or private: If the latter, to whom the
fame belonged ; and farther to inform this board, by virtue
of what refolve of congrefs, or other authority, public
waggons of this ftate were fent into another ftate, to do
bufinefs merely of a private nature.

Ordered, Alfo, That the quartermafter general be defired
to order Jefle Jordan, a waggon mafter in his employ, to
-attend this board, to fatisfy them with refpe& to the employ
of the public waggons of this ftate, in September laft.

Extra& from the minutes,
T. MATLACK, Secretary.

Philadelpbia,
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Philadelphia, Fanuary 25, 1779.
GENTLEMEN,

I received a letter from Mr. Timothy Matlack, your
fecretary, of the 22d inftant, inclofing an order of council
of the 18th, Colonel Mitchell’s anfwer of the 1gth, and a
fubfequent order of council of the 21ft inftant.

I think it very extraordinary, that after Colonel Mitchell
had, by his letter of the 1gth, fo fully and clearly anfwered
the requifition of council in their order of the 18th, they
fhould have pafled the order of the 21ft. In anfwer I fhall
only fay, that I am at all times ready to anfwer my public

condué to congrefs or General Wathington, to whom alone

I am accountable.
I am, Gentlemen,
Your moft humble fervant,
B. ARNOLD.
To the Prefident and Council of the ftate of Pennfylvania.
Copy.
T. MATLACK, Secretary.

IN COUNCIL.
s Philadelphia, Fanuary 25, 1779.
IR,

This board, which by its duty and ftation is bound to
prote& the rights and interefts of the good people of this
ftate, having received.a complaint from Mr. Andrew Boyd,
in behalf of himfelf and others, that the public waggons of
the ftate, when called forth under the waggon law, have
been employed in the tranfportation of private property, re-
quefted of John Mitchell, Efq., D. Q. M. G., the reafons
of fuch condu&. Mr. Mitchell, admitting the fa&, alledged
in juftification, that the waggons had been fo employed by
the direQion of General Arnold, then the military com-

manding
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manding officer of this ftate. This board having thereupon
tranfmitted to General Arnold a copy of their proceedings,
with Mr. Mitchell’s anfwer, and requefted General Arnold
to give us a ftate of the tranfa&ion, he this day returned for
anfwer, ‘ That he was at all times ready to anfwer for his
¢ public condu& to congrefs or General Wathington, to
¢ whom alone he was accountable.”

The indignity offered to us upon this occafion, as well as
a due regard to the violated rights of the freemen of this
ftate, calls upon us to refent fuch treatment, and in their
names we fhall call upon the delegates of the United States
for juftice, and reparation of our authority, thus wounded
by one of their officers: But as we learn that Gen.
Arnold is about to depart this city for fome time, and may
thereby elude enquiry into this tranfa&ion, as well as fome
others under our confideration, we requeft he may be de-
tained till the whole proceedings can be laid before you in
form, and that he forbear exercifing any further command
in this city, until the charges againft him are examined.

I am, Sir,
Your obedient humble fervant,
JOS. REED, Prefident.

Honorable John Jay, Efq., Prefident of Congrefs.

After thefe papers were read, the judge advocate exhibited
as charges againft Major General Arnold, the firft, fecond,
third, and fifth articles contained in the proceedings of the
council of the ftate of Pennfylvania, to which the general
pleaded Not Guilty.

In fupport of the firft charge, the judge advocate produced
a proteQion given by Major General Arnold, to Captain
Robert Shewell, Junior, and others, for the fchooner Charm-

ing
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ing Nancy, dated, camp, Valley Forge, June 4, 1778,
which being read, is as follows:

Whereas, Capt. Robert Shewell, Junior, merchant of the
city of Philadelphia, in behalf of himfelf and company, has
this day made information to me, that himfelf and company
have a certain fchooner called the Charming Nancy, New
England built, about feventy-five tons burthen, now lying
before the city of Philadelphia, which fchooner William
Moore is mafter, loaded with falt, linens, woollens, glafs,
loaf fugar, and bohea tea, nails, &c., configned to William
Shirtliff, fupercargo on board ; which property, they were of

" opinion, was not fafe at Philadelphia, and as friends to their
country, withed to have a prote&ion for faid veffel and
cargo, that the fame might be brought into fome port in the
United States of America.

In full confidence of their upright intentions, I do hereby
grant faid Robert Shewell, Junior, and company, proteé&ion
for faid veflel and cargo. And faid fchooner is hereby per-
mitted to fail into any of the ports of the United States of
America, and all officers and foldiers of the continental
army, and other perfons, are hereby forbid to give any um-
brage or moleftation to the faid Captain Moore, or the faid
veflel and cargo.

Given under my hand, camp, Valley Forge, 4 June,
1778.

B. ARNOLD, M. Gen.
To whom concerned.

Major General Arnold admitted that he gave the pro-
te&ion while in the camp of His Excellency General
Wathington at Valley Forge, without the knowledge or the

authority
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authority .of the ftate of Pennfylvania, or the commander in
chief, though then prefent.

To prove the chara&er and refidence of the perfons to-
whom the proteion was given, the judge advocate pro-
duced Timothy Matlack, Efq., who, on his affirmation,
fays:

Q. Do you know the chara&er of the perfon to whom
General Arnold gave permiffion?

A. Generally, I do.

Q. What was his chara&er at the time ?

A. Captain Robert Shewell, Junior, was, at the time of
that pafs being given, generally reputed not to be well
affeted to the United States of America, as I underftand.
Captain Robert Shewell, Junior., informed me, that he was
ordered to leave Gen. Wathington’s camp, in confequence
of the chara&ter that had been given of him; and upon his
appearing on parade afterwards, he was ordered to leave
General Wathington’s camp on pain of imprifonment.

Q. Did Captain Robert Shewell, Junior, refide in Phila-
delphia at that time ?

A. He informed me he did voluntarily refide there at the
time,

Q. Court. Do you know whether General Arnold knew
Captain Robert Shewell, Junior’s, general chara&er at the
time he gave the permiffion ?

A. I do not.

Q. Court. Do you know whether General Arnold knew
of Captain Shewell’s being ordered to leave the camp of
General Wathington, previous to his having given him the
permit ? i

A. I had no opportunity of being acquainted with the
circumftances of the cafe.

Q

ot . ool
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Q. Do you know the perfons who were concerned in
the veflel with Captain Shewell at that time ?

A. It was fuppofed Mr. Shirtlif was concerned, and
feveral others, whofe chara&ers I know nothing of and can
not give ; and it was fuppofed that General Arnold was con-
cerned in the veffel or cargo.

Q. Do you know Mr. Shirtliff’s charaéter ?

A. So little as not to be able to give his chara&er
generally.

General Arnold’s queftion. What converfation intro-
duced Captain Shewell’s mentioning to you, his being
ordered from the camp of General Wathington? and did
he tell you the reafon of it ?

A. I believe the converfation took its rife from Mr.
Shewell’s mentioning to me, that he was likely to be treated
ill, upon a charge of his having ill treated Mr. Paul Fooks
at the coffee houfe in Philadelphia, while the enemy had
poffeflion of the city. The reafon he affigned to me, for
his being ordered to leave General Wathington’s camp, was,
he fuppofed he had been reprefented to General Wathington
as being unfriendly to America.

General Arnold’s queftion. Have you underftood, that
upon feveral alarms Captain Shewell turned out.with the
militia, and did duty with them?

A. I know nothing of that matter.

Q. Did you confider Captain Robert Shewell, Junior, at
the time the protedtion was given, to be unfriendly to the
United States of America ?

A. Idid.

The court adjourned until to-morrow eleven o’clock.

December,
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December 24.

The court met, according to adjournment.

Timothy Matlack, Efq., on his affirmation, fays, That
fome time during the enemy’s having pofleffion of the city
of Philadelphia, information was given to the board of war,
that property belonging to Captain Robert Shewell, Junior,
was arrived in Virginia, part of a veflel and cargo in which
the Wykoffs, one or more of that family, was concerned.
Upon the reprefentation being made, an order was iflued for
their being feized, as belonging to Captain Robert Shewell,
Junior, who was deemed unfriendly to the United States of
America. They were feized on that order, and were de-
tained : the length of time he can not afcertain; neither
does he know of their being delivered up to this day. This
information he received from Mr. Shewell and from Mr.
Ifaac Wykoff.

Q. Court. Was this order iffued by the board of war
before Captain Robert Shewell, Junior, obtained the permif-
fion of General Arnold.

A. Moft probably feveral months.

Q. Do you know whether General Arnold knew of the
board of war having iffued the order refpeing the feizure
of Captain Shewell’s property ?

A. I know of no circumftance that fthould afford me an
opportunity to judge concerning that.

Q. Court. Where did the board of war fit at the time ?

A. I fuppofe at Yorktown.

Q. Court. Do you know where General Arnold was at
that time ?

A. I do not, further than it was a general knowledge
that he was with the army at the northward.

In fupport of the fecond charge, the judge advocate pro-

C duced

Ll
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duced His Excellency General Wathington’s inftru&ions to
Major General Arnold, dated June 18, 1778, a refolution
of the honorable the congrefs, dated June 5, 1778; and a
copy of a proclamation iffued by Major General Arnold, dated
June 19, 1778 ; which being read, are as follows:

To Major GENERAL ARNOLD.
SIR,

You are immediately to proceed to Philadelphia, and take
the command of the troops there. You will find the obje&s
of your command fpecified in the enclofed copy of a refolu-
tion of congrefs of the sth inftant. The means of execut-
ing the powers vefted in you, I leave to your own judgment,
not doubting that you will exercife them in the manner
which fhall be found moft effe€ual, and, at the fame time,
moft confiftent with the rights of the citizens.

I have dire¢ted the quarter mafter general, commiffary
general and clothier general to fend proper perfons in their
refpeive departments into the city, to take pofleflion, for
the ufe of the army, of all public ftores left in the city by
the enemy, which may not properly fall under the defcrip-
tion of the enclofed refolve. In the execution of this duty,
they will a& under your dire&ions and with your afliftance.

Given at head quarter, this 18th day of June, 1778.

G. WASHINGTON.

IN CONGRESS.
Fune 5, 1778.
Refolved, That, thould the city of Philadelphia be evacu-

ated by the enemy, it will be expedient and proper for the
commander in chief to take effe@ual care that no infult,
plunder or injury of kind may be offered to the inhabitants
of the faid city. That, in order to prevent public or private

- injury,
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injury, from the operations of ill difpofed perfons, the general
be dire€ted to take early and proper care to prevent the re-
moval, transfer or fale of any goods, wares or merchandize
in pofleflion of the inhabitants of the faid city, until the pro-
perty of the fame fhall be afcertained by a joint committee,
confifting of perfons appointed by congrefs, and of perfons
appointed by the fupreme executive council of the ftate of
Pennfylvania; to wit: fo far as to determine whether any
or what part thereof, may belong to the king of Great
Britain, or to any of his fubjeéts.
Extra& from the minutes,
CHARLES THOMSON,(10) Secretary.

By the Honorable MajJorR GENERAL ARNOLD, Commander in
chief of the forces of the United States of America, in the
city of Philadelphia, &c,

A PROCLAMATION.

In order to proteé the perfons and property of the inhabit-
ants of this city from infu'¢ and injury, to fecure the public
and private ftores which the enemy may have left in the
city, and to prevent the diforder and confufion naturally
arifing from want of government,

His Excellency General Wathington, in compliance
with the following refolution of congrefs, has thought proper
to eftablith military law in this city and fuburbs, until the
civil authority of the ftate can refume the government
thereof.

. IN CONGRESS.
Fune 5, 1778.
[Here the above refolution was recited. ]
In order the more effeually to carry into execution the
above refolve, all perfons having European, Eaft or Weft
India
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India goods, iron, leather, thoes, wines and provifions of
every kind, beyond the neceflary ufe of a private family, are
ordered to make return of the fame to the town major, by
twelve o’clock to-morrow, fpecifying the quantity, and, as
nearly as they can judge, the amount of the fame, in order
that the quartermafter, commiffary and clothier generals may
contra& for fuch goods as are wanted for the ufe of the
army, and until permiffion is given by the general, there be
no removal, transfer or fale of any goods, as it will be
deemed a breach of the above refolution of congrefs, and
fuch goods will be feized and confifcated for the public ufe.

All perfons having in their hands public ftores or effeéts
the property of the fubjeéts of the king of Great Britain or
their adherents, who have departed with them, are to make
a like report by Monday noon next, under penalty of the
confifcation of their own effets, and any perfons difcovering
fuch concealed ftores or effeéts will be fuitably rewarded.

Any perfons harbouring or concealing any officer, foldier
or other perfon belonging to the enemy, or any deferter from
the continental army, will be feverely punifhed, unlefs they
make immediate difcovery to fome officer of the faid army.

Given at head quarters, in the city of Philadelphia, June
19, 1778.

B. ARNOLD, Major Gen.

By his honor’s command.

DaAvip S. FrRANKS,(11) Secretary.

lajor General Arnold admitted, that on his arrival in
adelphia, the fhops were fhut by his orders, and the
ers of the army in confequence of them, prevented from
hafing. .
e judge advocate then produced the depofition of
Colonel
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Colonel John Fitzgerald, dated May 7, 1779, which being
read, is as follows:

On the feventh day of May, a. p. 1779, before me,
Plunket Fleefon, Efg., one of the juftices, &c., for the city
of Philadelphia, comes Colonel John Fitzgerald, late aid de
camp to His Excellency General Wafljington, and being
duly fworn according to law, depofeth and faith: That on
the evening of the day on which the Britith forces left
Philadelphia, he and Major David S. Franks, aid de camp
to Major General Arnold, went to the houfe of Mifs
Brackenberry, and lodged there that night ; that the next
morning, Major Franks having gone down ftairs, the depo-
nent going into the front room of the faid houfe, to view
Colonel Jackfon’s regiment then marching into the city,
faw lying in the window two open papers ; that on cafting
his eye on one of them, he was furprized to find it contained
inftru&ions to the faid Major Franks to purchafe European
and Eaft India goods in the city of Philadelphia, to any
amount, for the payment of which the writer would furnifh
Major Franks with the money, and the fame paper contained
alfo a ftri& charge to the faid Franks not to make known to
his moft intimate acquaintance, that the writer was con-
. cerned in the propofed purchafe; that .thefe inftruions
were not figned, but appeared to the deponent to be in the
hand writing of Major General Arnold, whether or not
there was a date to it the deponent doth not recolle& ; that
thé other paper contained inftru&ions figned by Major
General Arnold, direting ' Major Franks to purchafe for the
faid General Arnold, fome neceflaries for the ufe of his
table ; that the deponent compared the writing of the two
papers, and verily believes they were both written by Major

General
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General Arnold’s own hand ; that foon afterward Major
Franks came into the room and took the papers away, as
the deponent fuppofes. And further the deponent faith not.
JOHN FITZGERALD.
Sworn before me the date aforefaid.
PrLun. FLEEsON.

Queftion by General Arnold to Timothy Matlack, Ef.
Is the depofition of Colonel Fitzgerald, in your hand writing ?

A. Yes; it was ditated to me by Colonel John Fitz-
gerald, and while in the rough by him altered and amended,
and afterwards copied fair. The next day he called at my
houfe, and informed me he had feen you, in confequence of
your requeft; that there was one or two alterations he
withed to make, in confequence of the converfation with
you, which alterations are interlined, and written precifely in
the words he di&ated, having I believe written them on a
piece of paper, beforeme. Colonel Fitzgerald was a perfe&®
ftranger to me, having to the beft of my knowledge never
feen him before to know him.

The judge advocate produced Major Franks, aid de camp
to Major General Arnold, who was fworn.

Q. On General Arnold’s arrival in Philadelphia, do you
know whether himfelf or any perfon on his account, made
any confiderable purchafes of goods ?

A. I do not.

Q. At or before General Arnold’s arrival in Philadelphia,
did you receive orders from General Arnold to purchafe
goods, or do you know of General Arnold’s having given
orders to any other perfon to make purchafes of goods ?

A. 1 did receive from General Arnold, that paper which
Colonel Fitzgerald has mentioned in his depofition. There

are
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are circumftances leading to it which I muft explain. I
had, by being in the army, injured my private affairs very
confiderably, and meant to leave it, if a proper opportunity of
entering into bufinefs thould happen. I had feveral conver-
fations on the fubje& with General Arnold, who promifed
me all the affiftance in his power; he was to participate in
the profits of the bufinefs I was to enter into. At that time,
previous to our going into Philadelphia, I had feveral parti-
cular converfations with him, and thought that the period,
in which I might leave the army with honour, and enter
into bufinefs. I received at that time, or about that time, I
think feveral days before the enemy evacuated the city, the
paper mentioned in Colonel Fitzgerald’s depofition that was -
not figned, as well as the other. Upon our coming into
town we had a variety of military bufinefs to do. I did not
purchafe any goods, neither did I leave the army. The
paper was entirely negleGed, neither did I think any thing
concerning it, until I heard of Colonel Fitzgerald’s depofi-
tion. General Arnold has told me fince, which is fince I
came from Carolina fometime in Auguft laft, on .fpeaking
about the paper, that the reafon for his not fupporting me
in bufinefs was, fuppofing that I had left the army, it was
incompatible with his excellency’s inftrutions and the refo-
lution of congrefs.

Q. Court. Did General Arnold afk you upon his com-
ing into Philadelphia, or at any time after, why you had not
executed the contents of the paper?

A. He did not.

Q. Court. What day did you arrive in Philadelphia ?

A. The 18th day of June, in the evening, the day the
enemy left Philadelphia.

Q. Court. Are you certain that the order for purchafing

the
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the goods was given to you feveral days before you went
into Philadelphia ?

A. T can not be particular as to the time; it might have
been three, four, five or twenty days; but it was fome time
before.

Q. Previous to the enemy evacuating the city of Phila-
delphia, did you underftand from General Arnold that he
was to have the command in the city, on the evacuation
taking place ?

A. I did; but it was a fhort time before, I believe a day
or two. The general, on his return from head quarters,
mentioned it was hinted to him at General Wathington’s,
that he fhould, when the enemy evacuated Philadelphia,
have the command, and defired me not to mention it.

Q. Were the inftru&ions to purchafe goods given to you
before the general mentioned this matter to you?

A. I believe they were, though I am not certain.

General Arnold’s queftion. Were not my minute and
invoice books always open to your infpection ?

A. They were.

Q. By do. Had you any reafon to fuppofe that any
purchafes were made dire&ly or indire@ly by my orders or
on my account, previous to the opening of the ftores ?

A. No.

Q. By do. Did you not fuppofe my fhowing you the in-
ftru@ions from General Wathington to me, previous to
your going into the city, a fufficient countermand of the
order I had given you to purchafe goods ?

A, 1 did not form any fuppofition on the fubje&.

Q. By do. For what purpofe were you fent into the city
before me ?

A.

L]
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A. To procure quarters, and to provide neceflaries for
the family.

In fupport of the third charge the judge advocate produced
Timothy Matlack, Efquire’s letter to Major General
Arnold, dated O&ober 5; the general’s anfwer, dated
O&ober 6 ; Mr. Matlack’s letter dated O&ober 10 ; and
the general’s anfwer of the 12th of O&ober, 1778 ; which
were read, and are as follows:

. Philadelphia, October 5, 1778.
Sir,

The militia ferjeant who attended at your quarters on
Sunday, complains that Major Franks, one of your aids,
had given him orders to call his barber, which order was
obeyed ; that on the barber not appearing the order was re-
peated, and the ferjeant, though hurt both by the order
itfelf, and the manner of it, again obeyed ; he alfo informs
me, that he has, this morning, made you acquainted with
this complaint, and that you had been pleafed to fay, that
every order given by you or your aids, is to be obeyed.
This, I fuppofe, muft intend every proper order.

The militia of the feveral ftates have, occafionally,
rendered the great caufe in which we are engaged fuch
fervices, as muft convince every man that it is of very
great importance to treat thofe who are neceffarily called
out, in fuch manner as to make the duty as agreeable to
them as is confiftent with the fervice to which they are
called: For it is upon their will, more than upon the force
of any law, that we are to depend for their affiftance in the
time of need. The feverity of military difcipline in fuch a
cafe as that above mentioned, where no important end is to be
anfwered by it, muft make every freeman feel. At a time

when



[ 26 ]

when you were one of the militia of the ftate of which you
are a citizen, what would have been your feelings, had an
aid of your commanding officer ordered you to call his
barber? From your feelings in fuch a cafe, it will be eafy
to judge of that of other men. Freemen will be hardly
brought to fubmit to fuch indignities ; and if it is intended
to have any of the refpe&able citizens of a ftate, in fervice
in the militia, military difcipline in fuch inftances muft be
relaxed; but if it is an obje& to render the militia in the
feveral ftates contemptible and ufelefs, the continuance of
fuch treatment will probably effe it. Military duty of
every kind is rather difagreeable ; and perhaps, to freemen,
garrifon duty more difagreeable than any other. The
ferjeant above mentioned entered the fervice to difcharge
his duty, and as an example to other young men of the city,
and not from neceflity, in any fenfe of the word.

It appears to me a duty which I owe to the public, to
reprefent this matter to you in a refpe&ful manner, in ex-
pectation that, from attachment to the public intereft, you
will give fuch orders as will prevent any farther complaints
of this kind, which is all the fatisfaltion fought after, either
by the ferjeant, who is my fon, or,

’ Sir, your moft obedient humble fervant,
T. MATLACK.
Major General Arnold.

Philadelphia, 0. 6, 1778.
SIr,

I am to acknowledge the receipt of your letter of yefter-
day, refpe@ing the militia ferjeant who complains of being
ill treated. No man has a higher fenfe of the rights of a
citizen and freeman than myfelf: they are dear to me, as I

have




[ 27]

have fought and bled for them, and as jt is my higheft am-
bition and moft ardent with to refume the chara&er of a free
citizen, whenever the fervice of my country will permit.
At the fame time I beg leave to obferve, that whenever
neceflity obliges the citizen to afflume the chara&er of a
foldier, the former is intirely loft in the latter, and the re-
fpe& due to a citizen is by no means to be paid to the
foldier, any farther than his rank intitles him to it. This
is evident from the neceffity of military difcipline, the bafis
of which is implicit obedience, and however the feelings of
a citizen may be hurt, he has this confolation, that it is a
facrifice he pays to the fafety of his country.

You are pleafed to afk, ¢ What my feelings would have
been on a fimilar occafion.” They have been tried ; I have
ferved a whole campaign under the command of a gentle-
man who was not known as a foldier until after I had been
fome time a brigadier: My feelings were hurt not only as a
citizen, but more fo as a foldier ; they were however facrificed
to the intereft of my country. The event proved unfortun-
ate to me; but I have the fatisfa&tion to think I rendered
fome fervice to my country.

I wifh to make the duty as agreeable to the militia as is
confiftent with the good of the fervice, for which purpofe
military difcipline has been greatly relaxed ; was it executed
with ftriGnefs, moft of the militia, from their inattention,
would feel the effe&s of it.

I can not think (as you feem to imagine) any indignity is
offered to the citizen, when he is called upon to do the
duty of a foldier in the ftation he is in, which was the cafe
of the ferjeant; who though he may be a more refpe&able
chara&er as a citizen, yet, as an orderly ferjeant, it is his

duty to obey every order of my aids, not a breach of the
: laws
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laws or principles of the conftitution, as mine, without
judging of the propriety of them; neither can I have any
idea from the militia’s being put on the fame footing as the
ftanding army, they will refufe their afliftance, as felf pre-
fervation is the firft principle of human nature, theirs will
ever induce them to turn out and defend their property.

Thefe, Sir, are the fentiments of a foldier, a citizen, and
of, Sir,

Your obedient humble fervant,
B. ARNOLD.

Sir,

" 1 received your letter of the 6th inftant ; and it gives me
real and great pleafure to be informed of your patriotic be-
haviour in the cafe you mention. Such condu& is the
effe& of genuine fpirit and true greatnefs of mind; but it is
very different from the cafe I ftated. You obeyed, be-
caufe the effential intereft of your country was concerned,
and a regard to your own fame required it; but the fame
principles, which induced this condu&, would have induced
you to fpurn at commands diftated by pride and infolence.

I can not bring myfelf to believe, that the refpet due to
the citizen is entirely loft when he takes upon himfelf the
chara&er of a foldier: I entertain a higher fenfe of the
rights of citizens and freemen.

If, on the one hand, foldiers are bound implicitly to obey
military orders, fo, on the other hand, are officers account-
able for the orders which they give; and their propriety or
impropriety often depend entirely on time and circum-
ftance. Occafions may occur in which an officer may
juftify commands which expofe a citizen to certain death;
but I know of none which would juftify a command
to a citizen ferving in the militia to clean his officers

thoes
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thoes. The neceflity of implicit obedience on the part of
the citizen, when in military fervice, is fo far from being
ground, on which to juftify every command which may
" be given, that it is the ftrongeft poffible reafon, why
an officer thould be very cautious and circumfpe& in his
orders; and it alfo lays the citizen under a neceflity of
calling officers to a ftri& account for the orders which they
give. I will venture to fay, that, in a free government,
implicit obedience will not be fubmitted to much longer
than commanders ufe their authority with great prudence
and difcretion ; and, if it be really neceflary, commanders,
who deftroy it, by degrading and unneceffary orders, they
will be accountable for the confequences. You fay it is the
duty of an orderly ferjeant “to obey every order of your aids
¢ (not a breach of the laws or principles of the conftitution)
“as yours, without judging of the propriety of them.”
This fentiment muft have dropt from your pen in a moment
of hafte; as it appears to me to be a fentiment improper to
be entertained either by the citizen or foldier: For even
common foldiers retain fome right to judge of the propriety
of the orders which they have obeyed; and to demand
fatisfa&ion in cafes where improper or unneceflary orders
have been given: And freemen will judge for themfelves
and fpeak for themfelves with decency and firmnefs when
the occafion requires it. The calling of Major Frank’s
barber to drefs his hair, was the office of a menial fervant,
not the duty of a foldier ; and I ftill think it an indignity to
a free citizen to be ordered to go on fuch an errand. Such
commands cannot be miftaken for and obeyed as the orders

of a wife and prudent general.
My letter to you was written for the fingle purpofe of
preventing orders being inadvertently given, which would
offend
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offend a militia who have fuffered greatly many ways; and
I had a hope, that you would have thought it proper to
have given fome aflurance that attention would have been
paid to this, as it appears to me, neceflary precaution ; but I
am not a little mortified to find the order, of which I com-
plained, fo fully juftified and fupported by you. If it is
your intention, as commanding officer, to countenance
orders of this kind, it is my duty, as a father, to withdraw
my fon from a fervice in which commands are to be given
him which to obey would leflen him in the efteem of the
world; and I fhall confider it as a duty which I owe to
myfelf to acquaint my fellow citizens of my reafon for fo
doing.
I am, with fentiments of great refpe&, Sir,
Your moft obedient and very humble fervant,
T. MATLACK.
Philadelphia, Ottober 10, 1778.
Major General Arnold.

SIR,

By your letter of the 1oth, I perceive that my fentiments
are not clearly underftood ; but it is needlefs to difcufs a
fubje& which will perhaps be determined more by the feel-
ings than the reafon of men. If the declaration, that you
will withdraw your fon from the fervice, and publith the
reafons, is intended as a threat, you have miftaken your
obje&. Iam not to be intimidated by a newfpaper. To
vindicate the rights of citizens, I became a foldier, and bear
the marks upon me. I hope your candour will acquit me
of the inconfiftency of invading what I have fought and
bled to defend. As I am earneftly defirous of clofing
this correfpondence, I fhall confine myfelf to what occa-

fioned
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fioned it. ¢ An improper order,” as you conceive, *given
by Major Franks, my aid de camp, to the orderly ferjeant,
“your fon.” Without examining into the propriety or im-
propriety of the order, about which we may differ, I per-
feétly agree with you, that the delivering of it in a haughty,
imperious or infolent manner, is blameable; and if the
ferjeant had fo reprefented it to me at the time, he would
have had juftice. The affair is now out of my hands, and
lies between the ferjeant and the major. If the latter hath
behaved amifs, it is his duty to make reparation. I truft I
never fhall countenance pride or infolence to inferiors in
him, or any other officer under my command. Let me add,
that difputes, as to the rights of citizens and foldiers, in con-
jun&ures like the prefent, may be fatal to both.
I am, Sir,
Your moft obedient humble fervant,
B. ARNOLD.
Philadelphia, October 12, 1779.
Timothy Matlack, Efq.

After the reading of thefe letters, the judge advocate pro-
duced Mr. William Matlack, who, having affirmed, fays,

Q. Did you attend at General Arnold’s quarters in
Philadelphia as an orderly ferjeant from the militia ?

A. Tdid.

Q. Did you receive an order from Major Franks, aid de
camp to Major General Arnold, while you attended in that
ftation, to fetch a barber ?

A. I received my firft order from a fervant girl, who
came and afked me if I was an orderly ferjeant ? I told her
I was. She faid Major Franks’ orders were, that I fhould
fetch his barber ; which order I obeyed, as fuppofing it to

. come
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come from him. Soon after my return, Major Franks
came to where I was ftationed, and afked me if I had been
for his barber? I told him I had, but he was not at home,
and that I had left the orders that were neceffary for his
coming up, as foon as he thould come home. Major Franks
then faid, he did not believe he would come, and then went
away. Some confiderable time after, he came again, and
faid he did not believe he would come, and he believed I
had better go again ; to which I made no reply, but walking
back in the entry, after a few minutes, I afked a negro
man if it was cuftomary to give fuch orders to the orderly
ferjeants? He faid it was. I then replied, that Major
Franks ought to confider, that the militia could not be ex-
pe&ed to do fuch duty, or words to that purport. Major
Franks then came out of a back room, and faid, ferjeant, I
thought I had ordered you to go for my barber. I told him
I had received no fuch order. He then afked me why I
did not go? I told him I waited his orders. He then told
me to go, and I told him, with his orders I would go, and
did go. Major Franks, on my return, afked me if I had
been? I told him I had, and left the fame orders as before.
In the morning I made a complaint to the general, nearly
in them words ; and he informed me it was cuftomary for
ferjeants to do fuch duty; and gave me to underftand, not
in an abrupt manner, that if I did not like fuch duty, I
fhould not have come there. The general faid, at the time,
that if Major Franks had infulted me at the time he gave
me the order, it was wrong, and he did not approve of that.
General Arnold’s queftion. Was' any menial office im-
pofed upon you, or upon any orderly ferjeant, to your know-

ledge ?
A. I conceived the office that was impofed on me as
menial ;
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menial ; and the orderly ferjeant who ftood at the fame time
with me, belonging to the continental troops, complained
of Major Franks giving him a fmall bundle of paper in his
hand, bidding him follow him, which he did ; and upon his
coming to a houfe a fmall diftance off, bid him give him the
bundle of papers and return ; which the man complained of
to me, when he returned, as an infult.
The court adjourned till Monday, eleven o’clock.

December 27.
The court met, according to adjournment, and adjourned
till to-morrow eleven o’clock.

December 28.

The court met, according to adjournment.

In fupport of the laft charge, the judge advocate produced
letters from Meflrs. Chaloner and White, and John Mitchell,
Efg., to the waggon mafter of the ftate of Pennfylvania,
dated September 25, 26, and O&ober 1ft, 1778; which
being read, are as follow :

(COPY.)
Philadelphia, September 25, 1779.
SIR,

We have received orders from head quarters, to lay in at
New-Windfor,(11) a Magazine of 10,000 barrels of flour. It
is of the utmoft importance to the fupport of our army and
the French fleet, that this order be immediately executed.
We have requefted of the quartef mafter general to call on
you for 200 waggons. For this purpofe, permit us to fug-
geft to you the propriety of their being called from the
counties adjacent to York, as they are all to be loaded by
Mr. John M’Callifter, at Yorktown, to whom we beg you
would dire& your deputies to order the waggon mafter to

E apply
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apply. We with not to urge more on your department
than it can comply with ; but the many difficulties that will
occur by delay in executing this order, oblige us to requeft
of you to inform us how foon you can anfwer our drafts for
the neceflary waggons to complete it, and what number at a
draft will be moft convenient.
We are, with refpe&,
Your humble fervants,
CHALONER and WHITE, A. C. of P.
To James Young(12) Efq., waggon mafier general of the flate
of Pennfylvania.
Copy examined,
T. MATLACK, Secretary.

(COPY)
Philadelphia, Sept. 25, 1778.
SIR,

We are called on by his excellency and alfo by the com-
miffary general for two hundred waggons immediately, to
tranfport flour from York town and Carlifle to New Wind-
for—muft therefore requeft and defire you will order two
hundred good waggons to be furnithed by the weftern
counties, to tranfport the flour, &c., crofs the country. As
it is of the utmoft confequence to have this requifition com-
plied without delay, hope you will exert your influence and
authority to procure the above number. A confiderable
number will alfo be wanted to forward provifions from
Lancafter county and 'this city to the North river, at leaft
four hundred.

I am, Sir,
Your moft humble fervant,
JOHN MITCHELL, D. Q.M. G.
To James Young, Efq., waggon mafier general, Philadelphia.
Copy examined,
T. MATLACK, Secretary,

(Copy)
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{COPY)
s Philadelphia, 26 September, 1778.
IR,

Your favour of this day I have duly received, and have
fent your letters to Lancafter, York and Carlifle by exprefs.
I am doubtful all the teams in York and Carlifle will be
wanted to go to Pittfburg ; therefore Lancafter muft fend the
number to thofe places. Two hundred teams will be im-
mediately wanted to convey the provifions from Lancafter,
Lebanon and Rhemes-town, and four hundred to convey
the provifions from this city to New Windfor. It is abfo-
lutely neceflary they fhould be furnithed without the leaft
delay, as the confequences may be of the worft kind ; the
fleet. and army depend on it, as the provifions provided for
the army have been fent to the fleet.

If you cannot procure the teams immediately, pleafe to
inform us, that other fteps may be taken.

I am, Sir,
Your moft humble fervant,

JOHN MITCHELL, D. Q. M. G.

To James Young, Efq., waggon mafler general, Philadelphia.
Copy examined,
T. MATLACK, Secretary.

(CoPY.)
Philadelphia, Oftober 1, 1778.
SIr,

There is the moft prefing neceffity for flour at camp.
We affert, and from undoubted authority, that there is
plenty at Trenton and Morriftown. We therefore call on
you for teams to tranfport the fame. One hundred and
fifty teams may be immediately loaded at each place, and as

many
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many may be conftantly kept in employ from thofe places
to camp, loading per week.

We are, Sir,

Your humble fervants,
CHALONER and WHITE, A. C. of P.
N. B. Apply at Morriftown, to Jofeph Lewis; at

Trenton, to Alexander Fleeb.

(COPY.)
Sir,

The above is a copy of a letter received this day; We
are therefore obliged to call on you for a further fupply of
teams. The number required will be 300, exclufive of
thofe already ordered. Muft requeft you will furnith them
as quick as poflible. You will pleafe to let us have your
anfwer in writing.

I am, Sir,
Your humble fervant,
JOHN MITCHELL, D. Q. M.G.
To James Young, Efg., #. M. G. P., prefent.
Copy examined,
T. MATLACK, Secretary.

The Judge advocate alfo produced a remonftrance from
the ftate of Pennfylvania, againft the enormous waggon
fervice, dated O&ober 1, 1778 ; which being read, is as
follows :

IN COUNCIL.
Philadelphia, October 1, 1778.
The council refumed the confideration of the demand
made by the quarter mafter general of eight hundred wag-
gons, befides what are now employed for the united ftates,
and
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and obferved with aftonithment, thatis but a few weeks
fince a like demand was made for eight hundred waggons,
which were imprefled with great feverity and irregularity, and
the whole waggon fervice to the weftward falls on this
ftate, at a time when the country is drained of horfes, and
our waggons very generally difabled, deftroyed, or carried
off by the enemy, and confidering alfo, that the waggons of
this ftate are taken into other ftates at a great diftance;
thereupon,

Ordered, That the delegates of Pennfylvania be inftruéted
to remonftrate to congrefs againft the drawing out fo great
a number of our waggons and horfes, and thereby throwing
fo great an over-proportion of this heavy and diftrefling fer-
vice on Pennfylvania.

Extra& from the minutes,
T. MATLACK, Secretary.

“The judge produced an order from David S. Franks, aid
de camp to Major General Arnold, to Jefle Jordan, waggon
mafter; depofitions of Jefle Jordan, David Cochran, John
Boyd and Stephen Collins; which being read, are as
follow :

*(COPY.)

You will proceed immediately with your teams to Egg-
harbour or the Forks, take the orders and dire&ions of
Captain Moore, whom you will obey in every particular.

By order of General Arnold,
DAVID S. FRANKS, Aid de Camp.
To Jefle Jordan, waggen mafter.
Copy.
T. MATLACK, Secretary.
(Copy)
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(COPY.)
City of Philadelphia, [.

Before Plunkett Fleefon, Efquu'e, one of the juftices of
the peace in and for the fame city, comes Jefle Jordan;
who being duly fworn, depofeth and faith, That he, the de-
ponent, on the fixteenth of Oé&ober laft, and for fome time
before and after, was one of the waggon mafters for Chefter
county in this ftate ; that upon that day he received orders
from Andrew Boyd, waggon mafter general for Chefter
county, to proceed to Philadelphia with a brigade of wag-
gons, twelve in number, and there take orders from the
quarter mafter in Philadelphia, and proceed in purfuance of
fuch orders as he fhould further direé, on the public fervice ;
that the brigade was called out to perform their tour of
duty, under the waggon law of this ftate ;(13) that he accord-
ingly proceeded with the brigade to Philadelphia, drawing
forage and rations on the way, on the written order of An-
drew Boyd for that purpofe ; that in Philadelphia, this de-
ponent applied to Colonel John Mitchell, deputy quarter
mafter general, for orders; that Colonel John Mitchell
ordered him to proceed to Mr. Reefburgh’s office in Market-
ftreet, for orders to get a loading ; that Mr. Reefburgh’s
orders were to go down to one Coleman’s to get a load of
flour and bread, and proceed towards camp ; that deponent
proceeded to Coleman’s, and bad him prepare the loading,
and deponent returned to his brigade and got it in readinefs to
receive the loading ; that foon after one Mr. Rufk or Lufk
told the brigade they muft go to Eggharbour, and deponent
came down Chefnut-ftreet, and ftopt the waggons before
Colonel Mitchell’s door, and deponent enquired of him
where they muft go, whether towards camp or to Egghar-
~ bour. Colonel Mltchell told them they might go to Egg-
harbour,
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harbour, and to go to General Arnold and receive orders
from him ; that he went accordingly to General Arnold,
and foon after received the orders from his aid de camp in
writing, figned David S. Franks, aid de camp; that in
obedience to thofe orders, he proceeded with the brigade of
waggons empty to the forks of Eggharbour ; that until they
arrived within about twenty or twenty five miles of the forks,
the deponent was confident they were employed in the pub-
lic fervice of the eontinent, and expe&ted they were to take
in a loading of public ftores, and the firft caufe of his
doubting it was, that they were denied provifions by the
commiffary of iffues there, who took copies of General
Arnold’s and Mr. Boyd’s orders, and faid he was fure it was
private property they were going for ; that if deponent had
known they were going for private property, he would not
willingly have gone, for that he was offered £4, a day, and
to be found, or £6:5, and find himfelf, before he left
home, to go to Indian river, but chofe rather to go his tour
of duty in the public employ ; that he proceeded with the
brigade to the forks of Eggharbour, drawing provifions and
forage as before, after copies had been taken of the two or-
ders before mentioned ; that they loaded there with fugar,
tea, coffee, fix fwivel guns, cafks of nails, broad cloths,
linens, chefts, fail cloth, and fome other articles, and brought
them upto Philadelphia ; that they croffed theriverloaded,and
delivered part of their loading on this fide the ferry, and the
remainder at Stephen Collins’s in Second-ftreet, by order of
Captain Moore, at the forks, to whom he was referred by
the written orders of General Arnold, and who accompanied
them up ; that deponent gave no receipt for goods, nor took
any on their delivery, Captain Moore fuperintending the
delivery in perfon ; for that he refufed a receipt becaufe he
was not informed of any public ftore at which to deliver

them,
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them, and becaufe the goods were fo mixed and jumbled to-
gether ; that he has received no pay, but that on Saturday
laft he applied to Colonel Mitchell with his pay roll, in the
ufual form figned by Mr. Boyd, who gave him the order ;
that Colonel Mitchell told him he would have nothing to do
with it, deponent muft apply to General Arnold, that he ac-
cordingly went to General Arnold, and gave him his pay
roll, in which was charged 55/. a day, being the ufual charge
in public fervice ; that General Arnold looked at it, and
told him to call again in the evening, and then either he
would pay it, or Colonel Mitchell would ; that deponent
returned to Colonel Mitchell and informed him of this ;
Colonel Mitchell afked him how much forage he had drawn,
that he (Mitchell) had got an account of his drawing one
days forage from Mr. Smith the forage mafter, deponent
told him to the beft of his knowledge he had drawn from
Smith for eight days; that Colonel Mitchell fent up and
got the account of eight days forage, and then bad deponent
go and get his pay roll again from General Arnold and
alter it ; that deponent told him he had drawn forage for the
whole fourteen days he was out from home ; that Colonel
Mitchell told him then, there muft be a new pay roll made
out ; that deponent thereupon went to General Arnold’s,
and brought back the firft pay roll, and made out a new pay
roll, and was ordered by Colonel Mitchell to charge 75/."a
day, and go to General Arnold and receive it, and then go
to the forage mafter Colonel Biddle, (he would fhew him
where when he returned) and pay him 20/ a day for the
forage ; that deponent carried the new pay roll to General
Arnold’s, but he was gone out; that deponent returned to
Colonel Mitchell’s, who was alfo gone out, and told his
clerk of this; that in making out his pay roll at Colonel
Mitchell’s before he went this time to General Arnold’s,

Colonel
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Colonel Mitchell faid he fhould not charge or have pay for
more than twelve days, (omitting two days of the fourteen)
for that they were too flow coming from Chefter, although
in fa& deponents brigade were in town the day before others,
who fet off a day before them ; that hereupon deponent took
up his papers and was going away, and faid he would not
fettle then ; Colonel Mitchell faid he thould make it out
and fettle it before he went away, or he (Colonel Mitchell)
would make a prifoner of him, whereupon deponent ¢om-
plied through terror ; that fince the notice above mentioned
to Colonel Mitchell’s clerk, deponent has made no farther
application for his money ; that when deponent returned the
fecond time from General Arnold’s, he brought back the
firft pay roll to Colonel Mitchell, with a note wrapped
round it, importing that General Arnold thought he ought
only to pay from the day that the waggons left Philadel-
phia, till they returned thither, and that Colonel Mitchell
might pay the remainder, and Colonel Mitchell wrote
a note which he fent by his boy to General Arnold
(as he faid) informing him that he (General Arnold) muft
pay the whole ; that the teams of deponents brigade were
appraifed before they left home, and fome of the horfes got
lamed in the journey; that deponent came to town this
time, not being fent for, in order to fettle his account,
expe&ing to be paid, as ufual, by the public, for that he
never heard from any perfon, before laft Saturday, that he
was to be paid any other way ; that fome time fince he re-
ceived a letter from Mr. Boyd that Juftice Young, the
waggon mafter general wanted to fee him about this affair,
and defiring him to come to Philadelphia ; but that when he
left home he fet off for the head of Elk, not intending or
thinking to come to Philadelphia, and after he was at the
head of Elk, determined to come here for the fake of getting

F his
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his money ; that Colonel Mitchell told him the executive
council wanted to fee him ; that he had no other reafon to
think the public were to pay him, but that he was ordered
out in his tour of duty by Mr. Boyd.
’ JESSE JORDAN.
Sworn 1ft Feb. 1779, before me,
Prun. FLEEsoN.
Copy examined.
T. MATLACK, Secretary.

Philadelphia, [.

David Cochran, being duly fworn, maketh oath, That
his team was one of thofe belonging to Jefle Jordan’s bri-
gade, above mentioned ; that he drove it himfelf ; that there
were twelve teams in number ; that they came out in con-
fequence of orders from Colonel Andrew Boyd, under the
waggon law of this ftate, to perform their tour of duty;
that the deponent ever thought they were in the public em-
ploy, until they were near Egg-harbour, when the circum-
ftance of their being denied provifions was told to them by
Jefle Jordan ; that deponent would not have come out will-
ingly, if he had known that he was to be employed about
private bufinefs ; that deponent’s waggon was loaded with
fails and furniture of a veffel, and chefls, at the forks of
Eggharbour, by order of Captain Moore, and that he un-
loaded by order alfo of Captain Moor at Stephen Collins’s
in Second-ftreet ; that after returning home, his team was
ordered out again in about eight days, to finith his tour of
duty, and proceeded as far as Pompton plains, towards the
North river ; that he has hitherto received no pay for his
journey to Egg-harbour, or for any part of the time he was
firft out ; that he was prefent and heard Colonel Mitchell

tell
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tell Jeffe Jordan to go to General Arnold ; and he would
get his orders, the day they fet off for Egg-harbour ; that he
_was ordered out the fecond time to finith his tour of duty,
having been from home the time they went to Egg-harbour
only fourteen days, and was out to Pompton twenty-nine
days, or thereabouts, being upon a journey ; that he has ap-
plied to nobody for pay, excepting to their waggon mafter
Jefle Jordan ; that deponent drew forage and provifions all
the time from leaving home, till he returned the firft time
of his being out under Jefle Jordan, when they went to
Egg-harbour.
DAVID COCHRAN.
Sworn the firft February, 1779, before me,
PrLun. FLEESON.
Copy examined.
T.MATLACK, Secretary.

Philadelphia, [.

John Boyd, being fworn, faith, That he was out with his
team, in the brigade of Jefle Jordan above mentioned, in
confequence of orders from Colonel Thomas Boyd, to per-
form his tour of duty ; that he thought they were in public
employ till the time of taking in his load at one Saltar’s near
Egg-harbour, when Jefle Jordan told him, he apprehended
they were bringing private property ; that he would not willing-
ly have gone if he had known this in time ; that he wasloaded
with loaf fugar and tea, by order of one Clark (he thinks his
name was) who accompanied them along with Captain
Moore from Philadelphia, and unloaded by the orders of the
fame in Second-ftreet, where the reft did ; has feen the houfe
this morning, and they call it Stephen Collins’s ; that depo-
nent was prefent, and heard Colonel Mitchell order Jefle

Jordan to go to General Arnold for orders, the day they fet
off
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off for Egg-harbour ; that he drew provifions and forage
from the time he left home till he returned ; that he has re-
ceived no pay, nor has applied for any, depending on the
waggon-mafter to do that bufinefs ; that one of the depo-
nent’s horfes was lamed in the journey, ‘which he thinks
prevented his going again to finith his tour when David
Cochran did, and that otherwife he thould havefgone ; that
he was not ordered out by Colonel Boyd this fecond time,
he having been with Jefle Jordan at Colonel Boyd’s, and
informed the colonel of his horfe’s being lame, and the bri-
gade was filled without him.
JOHN BOYD.
Sworn the 1t February, 1779, before me,
Prun. FLEEsON.
Copy examined.
T. MATLACK, Secretary.

Philadelphia, [J.

This 2gth May, 1779, before Plunkett Fleefon, Efg.,
perfonally appeared Stephen Collins, of the city aforefaid,
and being duly affirmed according to law, doth fay and de-
clare, That fome time about the latter end of Oé&ober,
during the time of the enemy’s being at Eggharbour, or
thereabouts, feveral waggons came to this affirmant’s houfe
in Second-ftreet, under the charge and care of a man of the
name of Clark, he thinks his chriftian name was Thomas ;
that the waggons contained feveral cafks, (he thinks five or
fix) with loaf fugar, three chefts, and three others fomewhat

_ broken, of tea, feventeen pieces of coarfe woollens, fifty or
fixty pieces of coarfe linen, five or fix boxes of glafs, four or
five cafks of nails, the fails of a fchooner, about half a dozen
fwivel guns; that thefe are all the articles he at prefent
recolle&s; that this affirmant fold all thefe articles upop

commiffion,
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commiffion, at the requeft of [James] Seagrove ; that he
was fpoken to at different times about the goods by Robert
Shewell, [William] Conftable, and that after the fales, he
paid the money agreeable to the dire&tions of the three laft
mentioned perfons, about one half to General Arnold, and

the remainder among the fame three perfons ; that this af-

firmant underftood, that the above goods were the property
of General Arnold, and the others above mentioned, from
the above circumftances, and alfo, for that General Arnold
fpoke to this affirmant about paying him, (General Arnold)
his part of the money.
STEPH. COLLINS.
Affirmed before me,
Prun. FLEEsoN.

The judge advocate produced Colonel John Mitchell’s
minute-book, to fhew that the original entry, the 22d of
O _ober, 1778, of Jefle Jordan’s waggons, was altered, and
ae entry of their return from Eggharbour, the 3oth of
OQ&ober, 1778, was totally obliterated, and called on Ti-
mothy Matlack, Efq., to give evidence refpe&ing thefe
matters.

Q. To Mr. Matlack. Do you know anything refpe&ing
the erazures and obliteration made in Colonel Mitchell’s
minute book ?

A. Having had fome bufinefs with Mr. Mitchell, which
remained unfinifhed, he called to me when I paffed by his
door, while this matter was in altercation, informed me, that
the bufinefs that was depending between us, was now fettled
in fuch a manner, that he could pay the money, and that his
clerk would pay it; and requefted me to ftep into a back

_room, as he wanted to fay fomething to me upon the fub-
je&

o
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je& of the certificate of the entry of the waggons, faid to be
employed by General Arnold, for tranfporting private goods ;
he endeavoured to induce me to believe, that the council of
Pennfylvania had, without a foundation, fufpected that he had
detained fome certificates they had requefted of him refpe&-
ing thefe waggons : he declared, that there was no entry of
the difcharge of Jefle Jordan contained in his books, nor no
other entry, but the entry that he had furnithed them with.
The only entry that he had furnithed to the council was in
thefe words : ¢ 1778, O&. 22, Jefle Jordan w. m. 12 teams,
Chefter county, went to Egg-harbour, by the dire&ion of
General Arnold.” This declaration furprifed me, as I knew
it otherwife, by fuch kind of evidence as I could not doubt.
The evidence that I mean to allude to, is a converfation
with Jefle Jordan, who could have no knowledge of any ufe
that could be made of it at that time, who declared, that he
faw and read in Mr. Mitchell’s memorandum-book, an entry
of his difcharge from the public fervice, which was after he
returned from Eggharbour ; and as Jordan was a man of
reputation, I could not doubt the fa&. I told Mr. Mitchell
that I had fome reafon to fufpe&, that the copy he fent to
the council was not a genuine one. He declared it was.
The acqaintance I had with the fa&, induced fome furprife
at the declaration, and I hefitated fome time before I made
him any reply. I told him, I thould take it as a favour, if
he would thew me the book, in order that it might remove
the fufpicions that were in my mind with refpe& to the faét.
He exprefled fome difficulty, on account of his not being
able to lay his hand on the book at that time, and fome
reafons of that kind, which appeared to me to be trifling;
and I fo told him. He ordered his clerk upon that to bring
that book, and looked over the book in fuch a manner, as if

he
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he found fome difficulty in recurring to the entry. I men-
tioned, it was made the twenty-fecond of O&ober, and he
would find it if he turned to that date. He opened the book
at the date, and read the entry. We were fitting clofe to-
gether at the time, face to face, when he read the entry. 1
knew it contained the words of the certificate he had given ;
and he then laid the book upon the further end of the table,
about four feet from us. Upon his laying down the book,
I obferved the alteration, and afked him to hand me the
book, that I might look at it. With fome hefitation he
handed it. Upon looking at it, I told him, the alteration
had been made precifely in the manner I was informed it
was made. He then declared that the alteration was
nothing material, and it was made by his order. As the
book lay open, the obliteration ftruck my eye; and fuch a
one as I had never feen in a book before, according to my
recolle&ion : It ftruck me, that that obliteration was on the
thirtieth of O&ober, the laft entry made that day, the day
the waggons arrived from Eggharbour, which had croffed
after funfet. After confidering the matter fome time, I de-
termined to mention what I had feen to the council of
Pennfylvania, and mentioned it accordingly. Mr. Mitchell
was fent for, and requefted to bring the book of entries. He
appeared and produced the book, and after he was examined,
and much having been faid on the fubje&, he acknowledged,
that the entry on the twenty-fecond of O&ober had been
altered by his diretion ; that the note on the margin origin-
ally ftood, Gone to Egg-harbour, by order. The word
gone being altered to the word went, and the word order, to
the word direction, abbreviated. Whether he acknowledged,
that the words, of General Arnold, were added or not, I can-
not afcertain. And he acknowledged, that the obliteration

of
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of the thirtieth of O&ober, in his book, was ordered to be
made by him, and intended to conceal and deftroy an entry
of the difcharge of Jefle Jordan, and his brigade, from public
fervice,

Q. Did Mr. Mitchell acknowledge, that the words, of
General Arnold, ftood in the entry, previous to the altertion
being made ? ’

A. I cannot recolle@, At that day there appeared to be
fome difference in the ink, and I thought the words, of Gen-
eral Arnold, appeared to be added.

Q. Court. Did Mr. Mitchell fay or intimate, that the
alteration of the entry of the twenty-fecond of O&ober,
or the obliteration of the thirtieth of O&ober, was made
by the knowledge or advice of General Arnold?

A. 1 know of no circumftance that fhould induce a fuf~
picion, that he had made the alteration either with the ad-
vice or knowledge of General Arnold.

Q. Court. Did you enquire of Mr. Mitchell what his
motives were for making the alterations and obliteration ?

A. Much was faid upon the fubje&, and he put it off in
this manner, that he withed not to have it known that fuch
an entry had been made, as he thought the entry was an
improper one.

Q. Did he affign any reafon why he thought the entry an
improper one?

A. I do not recolle& that he ever affigned any clear, ex-
plicit reafon on that fubje&. It appeared to me, that he
was fearful, that if the waggons fhould be confidered as being
in public fervice, he thould be blamed for_ the manner they
were employed.

Q. By General Arnold. What were the reafons Mr.
Mitchell afligned to council for his making the alterations

and obliteration in the book ?
A, After
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A. After the acknowledgment of the alterations and
obliteration, I believe there were not many queftions put to
him on that head ; to thofe that were, he anfwered evafively.
The anfwers, precifely, I cannot recolleét.

Q. By ditto. Did Mr. Mitchell inform the prefident and
council, that the reafon of the alterations belng made, was,
that the firft entry was an improper one, and made by one
of his clerks without his knowledge ?

A. I am uncertain, whether he gave that as a reafon to
the council, but I am certain he gave that to me as a reafon,
and added, that it was a memorandum-book that lay in his
office, and the entries were made in it by his clerk, without
his knowledge, bufinefs being done in his office, as in
other offices, by his clerks.

Q. Court. Who were to pay for thefe waggons, and at
what price ?

A. The pay-rolls were made out at the common pay
allowed for waggons in the public fervice, and the pay-rolls
were fent to General Arnold, by order of Mr. Mitchell, as
I underftood.

Q. By General Arnold. Did the prefident and council
fend for Mr. Jordan, with refpe& to the pay of the waggons ?

A. Not that I know of or recolleét. I believe the fa&
was, they defired Mr. John Mitchell to fend for him to
give evidence before the committee of congrefs.

Q. By do. Did Jefle Jordan complain to the prefident
and council that he was refufed payment, previous to their
defiring Colonel Mitchell to fend for him, to give evidence
before the committee of congrefs ?

A. The general complaint refpe&ing the employment of
the waggons was made to council by Andrew Boyd waggon
mafter of Chefter county, through James Young waggon

mafter
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mafter of the ftate. The council expe&ed that Jefle
Jordan would be in the city in confequence of their requeft
to John Mitchell to fend for him, and did not fend for him
that I know of or recolle&. When Mr. Jordan came to
the city, information was given to the council of his being
in the city, and a reference being had to the depofition of
Jordan, it will appear the manner of his coming to the city.
After the depofition was taken, application was made by
him to council, to know how he was to receive his money ?
and he complained of the ill treatment he had received by a
threat from Mr. Mitchell of being confined. The council
conceiving themfelves bound to take care that the waggoners
had their money, advanced to Jefle Jordan a fum to pay
thofe who were in the greateft neceflity, conceiving that
General Arnold was bound to pay, and that a price would
be received of him equal to the price of private hire, and
the money fo advanced ftands charged accordingly.(14)

Q. By General Arnold. Did Jefle Jordan at any time
complain to the prefident and council that I had refufed him
payment of his account which he had prefented to me for
the hire of his waggons ?

A. No otherwife that I knew of, but by his depofition
which is before the court, and his application, which I have
mentioned already, how he fhould get it ?

Q. By do. Was not the complaint refpeting the wag-
gons inftituted by the defire of the prefident and council, or
fome one of them.

A. It was not, to the beft of my knowledge.

Q. By do. Do you know nearly the amount which Jefle
Jordan charged at firft for the hire of his brigade of waggons ?

A. No otherwife than what appears by the original pay
rolls, which were lodged in my office by Andrew Boyd,
and which I now deliver to the court.

A Pay-
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A Pay-Roll of my Brigade of Waggons in the fervice, ordered
from Philadelphia to Eggharbour by General Armoldy
October 16, 1778.

John Boyd entered O&. 18, and were 12 daysin

fervice, with his waggon and four horfes 75/. £45
David Cochranentered O&. 18,and were 12 days

in fervice, with his waggon and four horfes,do. 45
Thomas Gibfon entered 18 O&. and were 12 days

in fervice, with his waggon and four horfes, do. 45
Andrew Gibfon entered O&. and were 12 days

in fervice, with his waggon and four horfes, do. 45
Samuel Gibfon entered O&. and were 12 days

in fervice, with his waggon and four horfes,do. 45
Jofeph Boogs entered O&. and were 12 days

in fervice, with his waggon and four horfes, do. 45
Jacob Weldon entered O&. and ‘were 12 days

in fervice, with his waggon and four horfes, do. 45
Jofeph Kile entered O&. and were twelve days

in fervice, with his waggon and four horfes, do. 45
Samuel Parke entered O&. and were 12 days in

fervice, with his waggon and four horfes,do. 45
Eleazer Hamet entered O&. and were 12 days

in fervice, with his waggon and four horfes, do. 45
James Steen entered O&ober, and were 12 days

in fervice, with his waggon and four horfes, do. 45
Jefle Jordan entered O&. 18, and were 12 days

in fervice, with his waggon and four horfes, do. 45

Jefle Jordan, a waggon matfter, at 12/5 per day, 7 10

To the hire of my horfe, §/. per day, and 3

Forage for my horfe at 5/. per day, 3
£553 10°

The
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The above is copy of an original delivered into my office

by Jefle Jordan.

T. MATLACK, Secretary.

A Pay-Roll of my Brigade of Waggons in the Continental fervice,
the United States, Oftober 16, 1778, ending the 29th of

the fame, both days included.

Dr.

D. 14 at £2 15 per day.

John Boyd entered Nov. 16,and were fourteen days

in the fervice, with his waggon and four horfes, £38 1o

David Cochran entered November 16, and were
fourteen days in the fervice, with his waggon
and four horfes, .
Thomas Gibfon entered Nov. 16, and were fourteen
days in the fervice, with his waggon and four
horfes, . . .
Andrew Gibfon entered Nov 16, and were fourteen
days in the fervice, with his waggon and four
horfes,. . . .
Samuel Gibfon entered Nov. 16, and were fourteen
days in the fervice, with his waggon and four
horfes, . . .
Jofeph Boogs, entered Nov. 16 and were fourteen
days in the fervice, with his waggon and four
horfes, . . . .
Jacob Wildon entered Nov. 16, and were fourteen
days in the fervice, with his waggon and four
horfes, . .
Jofeph Kite entered Nov. 16 and were fourteen days
in the fervice, with his waggon and four horfes,
Samuel Parke entered Nov. 16, and were fourteen

. 3810

. 3810

. 3810

. 3810

. 3810

. 3810

38 10

days



[ 53]

days in the fervice, with his waggon and four
horfes, . . . . . . . 3810
Eliezer Hamet entered Nov. 16, and were fourteen
days in the fervice, with his waggon and four
horfes, .. . . . . . 3810
James Steen entered Nov. 16, and were fourteen days
in the fervice, with his waggon and four horfes, 38 10
Jefle Jordanentered Nov. 16, and were fourteen days
in the fervice, with his waggon and four horfes, 38 10
Jefle Jordan attending and feds waggon, fourteen days,
and finding my one horfe, at £1:0:0 per day, 14
17th November, 1778. The above account is juft and
right,
& ANDREW BOYD, #. M. G. C. C.

The above is copy of an original pay-roll delivered into
my office by Jefle Jordan; the word ¢ Oftober” having
been written in the third line over an erafure, which appears
to have been the word November.

T. MATLACK,(15) Secretary.

* Q. By ditto. Did not the prefident and council advife
Mr. Jordan to charge eighty pounds for the hire of each
waggon, and fend the account to the attorney general to
profecute ?

A. To anfwer the queftion generally, I fay, not that I
know ; but, in particular, I believe they advifed him to
commence an alion for the recovery of the pay, which
was allowed for waggons in private fervice, and I myfelf
told him, that ten pounds a day was the price paid in New
Jerfey for that kind of fervice.

Q. By ditto. Did the prefident and council write an
official letter to Mr. Jefle Jordan, with thefe words: #e
make no doubt but you will be allwed cighty pounds for the

hire



[ 54 ]
hire of each waggen; and ordering, or advifing him to fend
the account to the attorney general to profecute ?

A. As I had no expe@ation of being queftioned concern-
ing a matter of that nature, and having none of the papers
prefent, it is impoffible I fhould give a precife anfier with
refpe& to the words of a letter written fo long ago ; but it
was very probable fomething of that kind was written, as I'
recolle& to have heard fentiments of that kind exprefled by
members of the council of Pennfylvania.

The court adjourned until to-morrow, eleven o’clock.

December 29.

The court met according to adjournment.

Major General Arnold acknowledged, that Captain
Moore, to whom Jefle Jordan was ordered to apply for
orders at Eggharbour, is the fame Captain Moore, who is
named in the prote&ion, as commanding the fchooner
Charming Nancy.

The judge advocate having produced his evidence with
refpe@ to the feveral charges exhibited againft General
Arnold, the general was defired to proceed in his defence ;
who called on Timothy Matlack, Efg., and afked the three
following queftions :

Q. Did not Captain Shewell take the oath of allegiance
to the ftate of Pennfylvania, agreeable to law, by the firft
day of June, 17781

A. I do not know.

Q. Did he not inform you that he had ?

A. Not that I recolle&t.

Q. Did Captain Shewell produce to the prefident and
council of the ftate of Pennfylvania, a certificate of his
having taken the oath of allegiance to the ftate, as required
by law? :

A. Not
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A. Not that I know of or recolle&.

Major General Arnold produced the depofitions of Colonel
Thomas Pro&or, David Beveridge, and Mr. Stephen Col-
lins, which were read, and are as follows :

Col. Thomas Pro&or, maketh oath, That in January
. laft, Colonel North(16) received a letter from Mr. Robert
Shewell, in which he requefted Colonel North and Colonel
Pro&or would procure him a pafs to go to Virginia to fettle
‘with Stacey Hepburn ; that in March, after Mr. Shewell had
returned from Virginia, where he had gone by permiffion of
General Scott,(17) he informed deponent of his intentions of
coming with his family from the city to live, and that he had
taken a houfe in Maryland to live in ; that the reafon of Mr.
Shewell’s not leaving the city fooner, was, becaufe of the
indifpofition of Mrs. Shewell, that in May he received a
letter from Mr. Shewell, informing him, that he was loading
a veffel for the ufe of the American army, and defiring him
to procure a paffport for that purpofe, and for himfelf and
family, for which Colonel Pro&or did not apply for. On
the 3d of June, Mr. Shewell came to head-quarters, and
informed deponent, he had come for a prote&ion for his
veflel, that the had loaded her with a cargo fuitable the
army, and procured a captain to ferve him, and afterwards
procured a pafs from General Arnold, as he underftood ;
that he doth not know of any application being made to
General Wathington for a pafs ; that the major general of the
day, and not the commander in chief, is the proper officer

to make application to for paffports.

THOMAS PROCTOR,(18) Gol. Artillery.
Sworn to, Auguft 6th, 1778, coram,
Joun Imray.

SamuEeL
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SamukL INGERsoLL, Commander of the
private fchooner of war, Xantippe,
againft
The fchooner Charming Nancy.

David Beveridge, of the city of Philadelphia, merchant,
doth folemnly affirm in the above caufe, that Mr. Robert
Shewell applied to the affirmant, on the fuppofition of the
Britith army being about to leave Philadelphia, and fome
fhort time before they left that city, and afked him if he
would be concerned in a voyage, to fend a quantity of falt
into fome American port ; that he this deponent faid, he had
no objeion, and a&ually agreed to be concerned in the
faid fchooner, and to pay two hundred pounds towards pur-
chafing a third of the veffel to load with falt, fugar, and rum,
and that he this deponent propofed to clear her out for
Newfoundland, for fuch a cargo, as the moft unfufpe&ed
port ; that William Shirtliff, one of the partners, fome time
after told deponent, that he could procure a clearance for
New-York, for the faid fchooner, and no where elfe, upon
which affirmant told him, it would do very well ; that this
deponent fome time after (having heard in the interim, that
Mr. Shirtliff had divulged the fcheme of the voyage to
feveral perfons, and fpoken too publicly of it), told him he
could not be concerned in the matter, and abfolutely de-
clined it, having juft before this got out of jail, where he
had been kept for fome time, by order of General Howe ;
that deponent, when he engaged to be part owner of faid
fchooner, called on Governor M’Kinley, who was lately
from Wilmington, then a prifoner in Philadelphia, and afked
him, what he thought of fending into Wilmington a cargo
of falt, and that the governor faid, it would be very accept-

able
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able, but in his fituation, being a prifoner, on parole, he did
not choofe to fay anything on the fubje&; that deponent
afked the governor, if he could not give them fomething
like a paflport, certifying the intention of the voyage, in
cafe of accident, which the governor, for the aforefaid
- reafon, declined ; that affirmant advifed the faid company to
load her fo deep with falt, as to prevent her taking in goods
on freight, the refufal of which might caufe a fufpicion of
their intention, in cafe of her not being fully loaded ; that
the company accordingly purchafed a large quantity of falt,
and put it on board ; that affirmant underftood falt was of
fo little value at New York, that no body would carry it
there for nothing ; that at the time of the enemy’s leaving
faid city, very high prices were given for carrying of goods
upon freight, and great numbers of veflels, or the owners
thereof, were very defirous of having their veflels employed
in that way ; that he is perfeétly fatisfied, it would have
been much to the advantage of the faid company, if they
had intended going to New York, to have thrown the faid
falt overboard, and carried goods upon freight, as he has no
doubt at all, but the money they might have received for
freight, would have been of much greater value than the
falt when arrived at New York, and he thinks of equal
value with the faid veflel ; that Robert Shewell and William
Shirtliff, of the ftate of Pennfylvania, were the perfons who
confulted him on the above mentioned fcheme ; that they
appeared to be owners of the faid fchooner, as they ated
upon all occafions as fuch, both as to planning the voyage,
loading her with their goods, and fitting her out ; that at
the time of purchafing the faid falt, it fold for about three
thillings and nine-pence per bufhel, but at New York it
was of no value, and ftore-room would not be given for it,
H and
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and much had been given away there as he underftood, and
that no veflels at all carried falt to New York when the
fleet went ; that he has no reafon at all to fuppofe it was
their intention to go into any port in poffeflion of the enemy ;
that he went on board the faid veflel and viewed her, but
faw no guns on board her.
DAVID BEVERIDGE.
Affirmed, Auguft 6th, 1778, corum,
Joun Imrav.

SAMUEL INGERsoLL, Commander of the
privateer Xantippe,

againft
Schooner Charming Nancy.

In the Court of Admiralty for the flate of New Ferfey.

Stephen Collins of the city of Philadelphia, merchant, a
witnefs produced and examined in this caufe on the part of
the claimants, on his folemn affirmation faith, that he well
knows the fchooner Charming Nancy libelled in this caufe ;
that the now is, or lately belonged to, and was the property
of William Shirtliff and Co., of the ftate of Pennfylvania ;
that fome time in laft fpring the faid Shirtliffand Co., applied
to this deponent for advice and affiftance refpe&ing a plan
they were forming at the time the intentions of the enemy
became generally known of evacuating the city of Philadel-
phia, to efcape with their property from the enemy ; that it
was at firft propofed to watch a favorable opportunity with
a flood tide to efcape with the faid fchooner from the enemy
up the river Delaware, but this being thought too hazardous,
it was finally concluded upon by the advice of this deponent,

as
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as the fafeft and moft eligible mode of effe@ing the defigns
of the faid company, as well as to ferve their country, to
load the faid veflel with their property, confifting of fuch
articles as were moft neceflary for their country, and which
could not immediately occafion a fufpicion of their defigns,
to clear out for the port of New York, to fail in company
with the Britith fleet from the city of Philadelphia, under
pretence of going to New York, and to watch a favour-
able opportunity of efcaping into fome of the creeks
emptying into the river Delaware, or into fuch other
port or inlet in the poffefion of the United States, as
they might be able; that in order to prevent fufpicion
taking place with the enemy, this deponent advifed the
faid company to entruft the knowledge of their defigns
with but few perfons, and to contrive matters {o as to have
their veflel fully loaded with their own effeits, leaft they
might be applied to by other perfons to carry goods upon
freight to New York, and if they fhould decline fo to do,
they would encreafe the fufpicion which had already taken
place with the enemy, of their intentions to efcape to fome
port of the United States; that upon the recommendation
of this deponent, faid fchooner was laden accordingly ; that
a large quantity of falt was purchafed by the faid company,
and laden on board the faid veflel, for the purpofe aforefaid,
that he cannot precifely afcertain the number of buthels
thereof, but believes it to have been about 1500 ; that from
the knowledge this deponent had of the price of falt at
Philadelphia, and all accounts public and private of the price
of falt at New York, at the time of purchafing the faid falt
by the faid company, he is fatisfied the faid falt, if it had fafe
arrived at New York, would not have fold for more than
one-half the fum it coft at Philadelphia ; that about the time

of
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of the enemy’s evacuating the faid city, it was a very com-
mon pra&tice to unload falt out of veflels, for the purpofe of
taking other articles upon freight, that being much more profit-
able; that this deponent is fully fatisfied, that had it been the
intention of the faid Shirtliff and Co. to go to New York, it
would, after they had bought the falt, and put it on board,
been really to their advantage to have thrown the faid falt
into the river, and carried goods upon freight for the people,
inafmuch as the faid falt would not have fold for near fo
much money there, as the freight of a cargo of merchandife
for other people would have come to; that this deponent
well knows that the faid Shirtliff and Co. loaded and fitted
out another veffel nearly about the time above mentioned,
and upon the like plan; that fhe failed as he thinks with
the firft divifion of the fleet, and it afterwards became a
matter of public notoriety in the faid city, that the faid other
veflel made her efcape from the enemy into Wilmington
creek ; that the fufpicion of the enemy had been very ftrong
againft the faid Shirtliff and Co. by reafon of fuch large
quantities of falt being taken on board, which fufpicion
encreafed to fuch a degree after it was known in the city of
the faid other veflel’s making her efcape, that it was ftrongly
talked of by the enemy of confining in irons the faid Shirtliff
who was on board the faid fchooner; that this deponent
verily believes that the real and abfolute owners of the faid
two veflels with their cargoes are William Shirtliff, William
Conftable, Robert Shewell, James Seagrove, and David
Shoemaker, he having been confulted by feveral of them
upon the above mentioned plan, having generally underftood
that they were the owners, and having feen them exercife
every a& of ownerfhip therein; that the faid veflel could
not have failed before the fleet, if it had been the defire of

the
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the owners, unlefs in company with other Britith veffels;
that he is totally clear, and has no kind of doubt, but that
from the whole tenor of the faid company’s condu&, it was
their intention to run into fome port in the United States
not in the pofleflion of the enemy ; that he advifed them to
let fome of their goods pafs under the name of other perfons,
to prevent fufpicions in cafe they appeared to be the fole
owners ; that Mr. Shewell left the city of Philadelphia about
three or four weeks before the evacuation, with the view of
mentioning his plan to fome perfon in authority, and to re-
ceive their countenance and afliftance, and did not return
till after the enemy left it; that the Charming Nancy came
into Philadelphia in the month of December, and was then
the property of Coffin and Anderfon ; that the had no guns
on board of her to his knowledge ; that faid Coffin and
Anderfon were followers of the Britith army.
STEPHEN COLLINS.

Affirmed, 6 Augutft, 1778, coram.
Joun Imray.

Stephen Collins, a witnefs produced in the caufe, upon
his folemn affirmation faith, that he well knows Robert
Shewell, William Conftable, James Seagrove, and William
Shirtliff, the claimants in this caufe; that the faid Robert
Shewell now is, and for many years was, an inhabitant of
Pennfylvania ; that William Shirtliff now is, and for feven
years paft and upwards was, an inhabitant of Pennfylvania ;
that James Seagrove was formerly an inhabitant of New
York, and for about eight months paft hath refided in
Philadelphia ; that William Conftable lived in the city of
Philadelphia for eight or ten months paft ; that one or two

weeks
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weeks before the evacuation of the city by the enemy, the faid
Contftable left the city and went into the country, and did
not return till after the enemy left it ; that to the beft of his
knowledge the faid Shewell was in the faid city at the time
the enemy entered it.

STEPH. COLLINS.

Affirmed before me, 6 Auguft, 1778.
Joun Imray.

Pennfylvania, [J.

I Andrew Robefon, regifter of the aéts, matters, caufes,
and bufinefs done and tranfa&ed in the honourable the court
of commiflioners of appeal for the United States of America,
do hereby certify the aforegoing to be true and exa& copies
of the depofitions of Colonel Thomas Pro&or, David
Beveridge, and Stephen Collins taken in the court of
admiralty in the ftate of New Jerfey, in the fame caufe,
Samuel Ingerfoll, gu: tam, &c., libellers againft the fchooner
or veflel called the Charming Nancy, her cargo, &c., I
having carefully compared the fame -with the refpe&ive
originals thereof, contained in and tranfmitted with the pro-
ceedings of the faid court of admiralty, to the faid court of
appeal, and now remaining in my office at Philadelphia.

In teftimony whereof, I have hereto fet my hand and feal

: at Philadelphia aforefaid, the twenty-fixth day of

[L.s.] September, Anno Domini 1779.

ANDREW ROBESON, Cur. 4p. Reg.

Major General Arnold not having all his evidence with
refpe&t to the firft charge, moved the court that he might
go into his proofs relative to the fecond charge, and be at

liberty
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liberty to revert to the firft charge when his evidence
arrived, which was granted.

With refpe& to the fecond charge againft him, the General
produced Major Franks’ and Major Clarkfon’s depofition,
which was read, and is as follows:

We do certify, That when the fhops in this city were
fhut in June laft, by order of Major General Arnold, in
confequence of a refolution of congrefs of the 4th June.
We do not know of General Arnold’s making any purchafes
of goods of any kind, dire@ly or indireétly; and we have
every reafon to believe that no fuch purchafes were made
either by General Arnold or his agents, except a few trifling
articles to furnith his table, and for his family’s ufe, moft of
which were fupplied him by the quarter mafter or commiffary.
General Arnold’s invoices, minute and account books being
always open to our infpe&ion, confirms us in oug belief as
mentioned above.

M. CLARKSON, Aid de Camp.
DAVID S. FRANKS, Aid de Camp.

On the third of March, 1779, perfonally appeared before
me, the fubfcriber, one of the juftices of the peace of the
city and county of Philadelphia, M. Clarkfon and David S.
Franks ; and being both duly fworn, do declare the above
to be true, to the beft of their knowledge.

BENJAMIN PASCHALL.

Q. To Major Franks. Were you prefent at Juftice
Pafchall’s when Major Clarkfon made oath to the contents
of the paper you have heard read ?

A. T was; and that is the paper which Major Clarkfon
figned, it having been written by him.

Q. By
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Q. By General Arnold to Major Franks. What do you
know about the fhutting up the fhops and ftores in Phila-
delphia ?

A. The day after I came into town, which was the day
General Arnold came, General Jofeph Reed, who is now
prefident of the ftate of Pennfylvania, and myfelf met. He
told me that they were felling goods in town, and advifed
me to fend a crier round to prohibit the fale of goods. I at
firft agreed to it, but afterwards thought it was doing more
than T had a right to. I met him again, and told him that
I would put it off until General Arnold came. When
General Arnold came to town, General Reed came to his
quarters, and upon confulting with him, wrote a proclama-
tion, which I think was the fame that was publifhed, with
fome alterations.

Q. Court. Were the alterations made in it, material ?

A. T believe not.

Q. Are you pofitive that General Reed drew up the
proclamation ?

A. I faw General Reed at the table drawing it up;
General Arnold and Mr. Boudinott were in the room at
the time. .

Q. By General Arnold. Do you know of my having
given licences to purchafe goods, though applications were
made by my intimate friends for them ?

A. I do not know of your intimate friends having afked
for licences to purchafe goods ; but I know that many appli-
cations were refufed, and I know of no licences being
granted to any perfon to purchafe goods.

Q. By do. Do you know at what time the fhops and
ftores were opened, and every body permitted to purchafe ?

A. I do not know the particular time ?

Q. By
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Q. By do. Do you know whether General Arnold, or
any perfon by his orders, direted any goods to be laid by
for his ufe?

A. No; except fome trifling articles from the commiffary
and quarter mafter.

Q. By General Arnold. Do you know of any articles
being laid by, except fome trifling articles for my own ufe,
the ufe of my family, for General Wathington, and for one
or two other officers?

A. No; except two pipes of wine, which were after-
wards drank in the family ?

Q. By General Arnold. Do you know whether the
two pipes of wine were purchafed or laid by previous to the
fhops being opened ?

A. I don’t recolle& that they were purchafed before the
fthops were opened.

Q. Court. Do you know whether any of the articles
that were laid by, were taken from the fhops previous to
the legal opening of them ?

A. I do not.

Q. By General Arnold. Were not all the articles of
clothing of confequence that were fupplied me, which are
mentioned to have been for General Wathington and fev-
eral other officers, as well as myfelf, fupplied by the clothier
general or his agent ?

A. 1 believe they were.

Q. By do. Do you know what time Congrefs arrived
in Philadelphia ?

A. I donot. They were there the fourth of July.

Q. By do. Were not the fhops open at that time ?

A. They were.

Q. By the Court. Do you know whether General
I Arnold
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what he did. At an early period of the war he entered into
an independent company, but the company afterwards came
to nothing,.

Q. By do. Has not the political conduét of Mr. Sea-
grove fince confirmed the favourable impreffions you had
before of him ?

A. It has, fo far as it has come to my knowledge.

Q. By ditto to Major Franks. Do you know Mr. Sea-
grove’s general political chara&er ?

A. I knew nothing of his political general chara&er of
" my own knowledge, previous to your giving the prote&ion
for the Charming Nancy ; but I have underftood that he was
confidered as a whig. Since that period I have been in
adtual fervice with him.

Q. By do. Do you know the political general charaéter
of the perfons who were owners of the Charming Nancy,
previous to my giving the prote&ion for her?

A. I never knew either Mr. Shirtliff or Mr. Conftable
before I went to Philadelphia, or faw them in my life before,
that I remember. I knew Mr. Shewell before the protec-
tion was granted, and always fuppofed him to be well
affeed to America. He was in one of the militia com-
panies in Philadelphia, fome time before the enemy got
pofleffion of it.

Q. Court. Did he tell you his reafons for ftaying in
Philadelphia ?

A. He did.

Q. Court. What were they ?

A. The impra&icability of removing at the time; his
wife having been brought to bed and dangeroufly ill. He
told me frequently that his intentions were to remove out of
town..

Q. By General Arnold. Did Captain Shewell inform

. you
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you that he had taken the oath of allegiance to the
ftate of Pennfylvania, previous to my granting him the
pafs ?

A. 1 think he] did, and faid previous to the time dire&ted
by the ftate of Pennfylvania; and I underftood from him
that he had taken it out of town, and had a certificate of it.

Q. By the court. Did he inform you at what place
and before whom he took the oath of allegiance ?

A. He did not that I remember.

Q. By General Arnold. Did you underftand at the
time Captain Shewell applied to me for the protection, that
he produced to me a certificate of his having taken the
oath of allegiance to the ftate of Pennfylvania, agreeable to
law ?

A. I don’t know what paffed at the time, but I under-
ftood from him at that time, that he had a certificate of that
nature.

Q. Court. Did you underftand how long Mr. Shewell
had been out of Philadelphia before he obtained the pro-
tetion from General Arnold ?

A. He was time enough out to take the oath of allegiance
to the ftate of Pennfylvania, as I underftood from him,

which was ordered to be taken, I think, by the firft of June.
I know that Mr. Shewell gave his vote at an ele&ion

Philadelphia, which he would not have been permitt to
give, had he not produced a certificate of his having taken
the oath of allegiance by the firft of June.

Wiith refpeét to the fifth charge, Major Franks produced
in behalf of the General fays, That he went to Colonel
Mitchell’s by defire of General Arnold, to know whether he
could fpare him fome waggons to tranfport fome goods that
were in danger of falling into the enemy’s hands at Egg-
harbour. He was told, either by Colonel Mitchell or his

clerk,
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clerk, that waggons could not be fpared at that time, but
that foon it might happen, as they expe&ed a number of
waggons in town ; he brought that anfwer to General Ar-
nold, and fome days after General Arnold told him to go
to the quarter mafter’s, to enquire and fee if poflible the
waggon mafter who was to condué a brigade of waggons
for him, and to order them to go to Eggharbour or the
forks, and there to take a Captain Moore’s dire&ions,
refpe€ting what he was to do. When he got to the office
he wrote a letter ordering the waggon mafter fo to do, and
figned it officially ; after which the waggon mafter went.

Q. By General Arnold. Were not frequent applica-
tions made for the waggons before I procured them ?

A. I went once myfelf, as I have faid before, and I be-
lieve Major Clarkfon went once or twice, and I believe you
went yourfelf. It appeared to me feveral applications had
had been made for them.

Q. By do. Did you not view the requeft made for the
waggons of a private nature, and not officially ?

A. I underftood you were to pay for the waggons for the
tranfportation of the goods, and that it was a matter of fa-
vour in Colonel Mitchell to let you have them.

Q. Do. How happened it that you figned the order to
Jefle Jordan officially ?

A. T had no particular directions from you fo to do ; that
from cuftom I always figned aid de camp at the end of my
name ; I myfelf might have probably thought at that time,
that it might have been the means of his executing the or-
der with more alacrity, as difpatch was neceffary.

Q. By General Arnold. Do you know of my fending
to Colonel Mitchell for the account of the hire of the
waggons, previous to any charge or publication made
againft me ?

A1
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A. I do; I went once or twice myfelf, and I believe you
fent Major Clarkfon.

Q. By do. When I went to camp in February 1779,
was not money left with Major Clarkfon for the purpofe of
paying for the waggons, and orders given to him accord-
ingly ?

A. T think, before we fet out to go to camp, the waggon
mafter brought an account againft you for the hire of the
waggons. You told the man to get it certified by Colonel
Mitchell, to come in the afternoon with the certificate, and
you would pay him. Whether he came in the afternoon or
not, I cannot fay ; but we fet out for camp, and you in-
formed me that you had left money with Major Clarkfon to
difcharge that account. Clarkfon told you when you re-
turned, that he had not paid the money, as the man had not
called, or that he could not find him.

Q. Court. How long was the account prefented for the
hire of the waggons, before you fet out for camp ?

A. T believe two or three days.

Q. By court. Was that the firft time the account had
been prefented to General Arnold ?

A. I think it was, as there had been frequent applications
made for the account, and it could not be procured.

Q. By ditto. Did you at any time, through the courfe
of the tranfaétion, underftand that General Arnold officially
employed thefe waggons ?

A. T underftood that General Arnold was to pay for the
waggons ; that he got them as a favour, and that they were
not to tranfport public ftores, but private property for him-
felf and friends, and that he did not order them officially.

Q. By ditto. When you went to Colonel Mitchell for

the
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the waggons, did you inform him that they were wanted to
tranfport private property ?

A. Idid. I told him that the goods were in imminent
danger, and told him, that the lofs of fo many goods would
be a lofs to the continent, as we wanted goods.

With refpe to the laft charge againft the General, Mr.
John Hall was produced, who was fworn.

Q. Did you make the alterations in Colonel Mitchell’s
minute book, of the twenty-fecond of O&ober, and the ob-
literation in the fame book, of the thirtieth of O&ober,
refpe&ing Jefle Jordan’s waggon ?

A. Tdid.

Q. Did you make the original entry yourfelf with or
without orders ?

A. I made it myfelf without orders.

Q. Did you make the entry in the margin refpeéting
the waggon ?

A. 1 did.

Q. With or without orders ?

A. Without any orders.

Q. What was the original entry ?

A. As faras I can recolle&, it was, Gone to Egghar-
bour by order ; or went, I am not certain which.

Q. Were the words, of General Arnold mentioned in the
firft entry in the margin ?

A. They were not.

Q. When was the addition of the words, of General Ar-
nold, made, and what was the reafon of it ?

A. It was made in the courfe of one day, or two days,
and it was made to affift my memory.

Q. Did you make the alteration with or without orders ?

A. T made it without orders.

Q. What was the reafon of your making the alteration ?

A. The
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A. The firft reafon was, I thought it was not good
Englith, and when I came to refle& on it, I made the alter-
ation, thinking I worded the entry improper.

Q. What was the reafon of your changing the word order
to dire&ion ?

A. I can give no reafon for it.

Q. To whom did General Arnold make application for
waggons to go to Eggharbour ?

A. Major Franks or Major Clarkfon came to Colonel
Mitchell’s office, where I was, and made the application to
me, in Colonel Mitchell’s abfence.

Q. In what manner was the application made ?

A. The application was, that he, General Arnold, wanted
a brigade of waggons, and to fend the waggon mafter to him
for direGions : It was not made in writing.

Q. Did either Major Franks or Major Clarkfon mention
for what purpofe the waggons were wanted ?

A. Not that I remember.

Q. Court. Did Colonel Mitchell fpeak to you re-
fpe@ing the waggons, previous to the application ?

A. He did not.

Q. Court. Did he converfe with you on the fubje&t
afterwards ?

A. Not till fome time in January.

Q. Court. What paffed between you then?

A. When Jordan came to town, fometime in January,
and had his pay roll made out, Colonel Mitchell told him,
he muft go to General Arnold and get his pay. I then
turned to the book, and faw he had been from the twenty-
fecond to the thirtieth of O&ober. Colonel Mitchell told
me, that it fhould not be there at all, and had no bufinefs in
the book, as General Arnold was to pay the hire of the
waggons, and he was angry with me on account of it, upon

K which
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which I took up my pen and obliterated the entry of the
thirtieth of O&ober, determining in my own mind, that
Colonel Mitchell fhould never give me a frown for it again,
and that it thould not appear in the book.

Q. Court. Did you underftand why the hire of the
waggons fhould become a private charge to General
Arnold ?

A. I then underftood by Colonel Mitchell’s mentioning
what I have faid to me, that they had been fent to tranfport
property that was not the public’s.

Q. Had you at any time any converfation with Jefle Jor-
dan, or any of the waggoners employed in that affair, on
the fubjeét ?

A. Not until after Jordan returned from Eggharbour:
When he returned, I went and made a mark of his re-
turn, and told him to make his pay roll out: He faid, he
had not time to do it then, but would when he came to
_town again.

Q. Court. What converfation pafled between you and
Jordan when he returned again ?

A. Colonel Mitchell was in the office when he produced
his pay roll; he handed the pay roll to Colonel Mitchell,
who looked at it. Colonel Mitchell turned to me, and
afked, whether Jordan had received any forage? I an-
fwered, No; and he afked Jordan himfelf whether he
had received any forage? He faid, he had got an order
for forage, and on being afked by Colone] Mitchell
from whom, he faid, from Colonel Hilzeimer at the fta-
bles. The colonel fent up to Mr. Hilzeimer, to know
what number of days he had got. I don’t recolle& the
number of days that he got an order for from Mr.
Hilzeimer, but Colonel Mitchell mentioned, that he muft
make out his pay roll at the price, as if he had got no

forage,
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forage, and was angry at his having got forage, and that
General Arnold was to pay him, and defired him to go and
repay Mr. Hilzeimer the amount of what forage he had re-
ceived from him, Jordan, as far as I recolle&, made out
another pay roll.

Q. Court. Had you ever any converfation with Gen-
eral Arnold, about the waggons ?

A. No.

Q. Did General Arnold know of any of thefe entries
being made, or the alteration of them, previous to yoar
doing it ?

A. Not to my knowledge.

Q. Court. Did General Arnold ever fee the book to
your knowledge ?

A. Not to my knowledge ; it was a book that lay on the
defk in common, to' make memorandums.

Q. Court. Did Jefle Jordan, or any of the waggoners
employed at that time, tell you whether they confidered
themfelves in public or private employ ?

A. I don’t recolle& that he or any of them did.

Q. Court.- Was the original entry in the margin the
ufual mode of entry ? :

A. I do not recolle&.

Q. By General Arnold. Did I not make feveral appli-
cations for the waggons before they were fent ?

A. I do not recolle& that you did.

Q. When was the obliteration made ?

A. About the latter end of January.

Q. Do you know of the council of Pennfylvania making
application for a tranfcript of the entries ?

A. I did hear Colonel Mitchell fay fomething about it,
but not previous to the obliteration being made.

Q. Did
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Q. Did Colonel Mitchell or any other perfon dire& you
to make the alterations or obliterations ?
A. He did not, nor any other perfon.
The court, for want of evidence, adjourned until Tuef-
day next eleven o’clock.

Fanuary 4, 1780.
The court met according to adjournment, and adjourned
for want of evidence until Friday next, eleven o’clock.

Fanuary 19.
The court did not meet agreeable to the laft adjourn-
ment, but met this day agreeable to his excellency the
commander in chief’s order, which is as follows :

Head Quarters, Fan. 18, 1780.
The court martial, whereof Major General Howe is
prefident, is to meet to morrow morning, eleven o’clock.

Major General Arnold proceeded in his defence, and
with refpe& to the firft charge againft him, produced an
exemplification of the decree of the court of admiralty, for
the State of New Jerfey, refpe&ing the fchooner Charming
Nancy, which being read, is as follows :

SAMUEL INGERSOLL, qui tam, &¢.
. v.
Schooner Charming Nancy, &',

In the Court of Admiralty of New Ferfey.

It appearing unto me, from the verdi& of the jury im-
pannelled, fworn and affirmed in this caufe, upon the evi-
dence produced to them, That the fa&s fet forth in the

claim
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claim of Robert Shewell, William Shirtliff, James Seagrove
and William Conftable, are true; I do thereupon adjudge
and decree, That the fchooner Charming Nancy, with her
tackle, apparel, furniture and cargo, be acquitted, releafed
and difcharged from the capture made by the faid Samuel
Ingerfoll and Jofeph Cooke.

JOHN IMLAY.

September 22, 1779. .

Pennfylvania, [J.

I Andrew Robefon, regifter of the a&ts, matters, caufes
and bufinefs done and tranfa&ed in the court of commif-
fioners of appeal for the United States of America, do
hereby certify the above ‘to be a true copy of the decree
pafled and publifhed in the above caufe, by the Honorable
John Imlay, Efquire, judge of the admiralty of New-]Jerfey,
and tranfmitted by the faid court, in the record of the faid
caufe, to the faid court of appeal, and now remaining in my
office at Philadelphia,

In teftimony whereof I have hereto fet my hand and feal,
at Philadelphia, the thirty-firft day of December, Anno
Domini 1779. Kl

ANDREW ROBESON, Reg. R.

The general, with refpe& to the fecond charge, produced
a depofition of Elias Boudinot, (19) which being read, is as
follows : .

Mr. Boudinot’s ftate of fa&s, relative to General Ar-
nold’s fhutting up the fhops in Philadelphia, in 1778, as far
as he can recolle&, given at General Arnold’s requett.

It will be neceflary to premife, that the tranfaions re-
ferred to happened eighteen months ago; fince which I
have been aflited with a fevere indifpofition for ten months :

therefore
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therefore cannot but fpeak with great diffidence as to parti-
cular circumftances.

Being at Philadelphia when General Arnold took poffef
fion of the city, I called on him feveral times, and found
him in a ftate of health, which I thought rendered him un-
equal to the fatigue of his then ftation. He was much
crouded with bufinefs, and I ventured to warn him of the
ill confequences of - fo much attention to it, and advifed to
feveral regulations I thought neceflary. He fhewed me
certain refolutions of congrefs relative to the goods that
fhould be found in the city, until the arrival of joint com-
mittees of congrefs and the executive council, and the public
officers who were to purchafe for the army, or fomething to
this effe&. :

I advifed the general to the iffuing of public orders, to
prevent the felling of goods until the arrival of the commit-
tees aforefaid, and alfo to nominate a number of the citizens
of eftablithed chara&er, to fuperintend and regulate the little
affairs of the citizens in the mean while, fo as to prevent his
being perplexed with the civil as well as military depart-
ment ; and I mentioned feveral gentlemen, whofe political
chara&ers I thought he might depend on. While we were
talking, Mr. Jofeph Reed, (now his excellency the prefi-
dent of the ftate) then alfo a2 member of congrefs, came in,
and told the general he had been making a few memoran-
dums of fome little matters which he (Mr. Reed) thought
neceflary for his attention, and which otherwife might efcape
the general’s notice. Mr. Reed then read them from a
paper he produced, and I immediately told him they were very
fimilar to what I had juft been recommending to the gene-
ral, and repeated to him what I had been faying. He replied,
that he had the fubftance of it down, except one or two

hints,
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hints, which one of us immediately added to the paper he
had. The general then begged, that we would draw up
what we thought neceffary, and he would have it printed.
Mr. Reed then fat down and drew up a draught of what he
thought proper, and I believe I correéted it, but am not
certain. I cannot with certainty afcertain the particulars
of this draught, but am clear in my own mind, that it con-
tained the amount of what we both advifed the general to,
and particularly to the prevention of the fale of goods, until
the orders of congrefs were complied with. And my reafon
for this is, that I well remember to have advifed feveral
friends to be careful not to fell the next day, as fuch a pub-
lic prohibition had gone to the prefs.
Bajkenridge, Fanuary 3, 1780.
. ELIAS BOUDINOT.
Sworn in the prefence of General Arnold, and at his re-
queft, the 8th day of January, 1780. Before
JOHN LAWRENCE, Fudge Advocate.

With refpe& to the laft charge, the general produced
Colonel Mitchell, D. Q. M. G. who being fworn, fays,
About the middle of Oé&ober laft, General Arnold fent for
me; on waiting on him, he informed me he wanted ten or
twelve waggons to go to Eggharbour to bring fome goods,
which were in danger of falling into the enemy’s hands, and
that he would pay the expence. I informed him, I had
none at that time could be fpared from public fervice ; but
when there was, I would fend the waggon mafter to him.
He afked me, if there was not waggons fent to Eggharbour
with forage and provifions, and if they could not bring a
load back for him. I anfwered, yes, there were feveral fent,
but I believed they were now returning ; that if I had occa-

fion



[ 8o ]
fion to fend any more with either provifion or forage, and
there was no public ftores to bring up, they might load for
him, and it would fave the public half the expence, as he
muft pay the hire back ; this he feemed pleafed with, but
not having occafion to fend any of the articles above-men-
tioned, the general fent to me feveral times to know, if 1
could let him have the waggons ; my anfwer was, he fthould
have the firft could be fpared without injury to the public
fervice. On the 22d of O&ober, Jefle Jordan, a waggon
mafter from Chefter county, came to town with twelve
teams; a memorandum of which was put in the memo-
randum book. A confiderable quantity of ftores being for-
warded to North river, and fome continental teams coming
in, which were not expeéted, and the general being defirous
to have the waggons fent, to fave the property at Egghar-
bour from falling into the hands of the enemy, I defired
Mr. Jordan to go to General Arnold, who wanted him to
go to Eggharbour, and that he would pay him, and give him
his direftions. Mr. Jordan accordingly went from me,
and, I believe, called on the general. From that time I
heard nothing farther on the fubje&, till Mr. Jordan had
returned, when he was told to call on General Arnold for
his pay ; in anfwer to which he faid he would not ftay at
that time to make out a pay roll, but would return and get
his pay, or words to that effe®. And after he was gone
home fome time, I afked one of the clerks if he heard
whether Jordan was paid by General Arnold. I think he
faid he did not know. I afterwards faw the general, who
told me the waggon mafter had not called on him for his
pay, and defired when I faw him I would let him know, or
words to that purpofe. I defired my clerk to be careful
that Mr. Jordan’s hire was not paid in my office, and to

pay

~
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pay no rolls without my approbation. From this time,
about the beginning of November, I heard nothing of the
matter that I can recolle&, till the fecretary of the execu-
tive council wrote me for what information I could give
them refpe&ting the waggons fent by General Arnold to
Eggharbour, to which requeft I gave the following anfwer,
dated the 1gth January.

Philadelphia, 19th Fanuary, 1779.

SIr, i
I this day received an order figned by the fecretary of the
honourable council of this ftate, requefting I would give
them information refpe@ing a brigade of waggons under the
condu@& of Jefle Jordan, waggon mafter from Chefter
county ; the council having been informed that I fent them
to Eggharbour to convey private property to this city. I
fhall at all times be ready to give your excellency and the
honourable council every information you think neceffary
for the good of the public, or this ftate in particular, which
relates. to my office, or the bufinefs of the department ; as
I have no defire to conceal any part of my condu& as a
public officer, having conduéted the bufinefs under my
dire&ion with integrity and juftice to the public. The fol-
lowing are the ftate of the fa&ls required, viz. In the
month of O&ober laft, at the time the enemy had landed
fome troops at Eggharbour, General Arnold defired I would
furnith him with a brigade of teams which he wanted to
fend to the Jerfeys, and that he would pay the hire of them,
they being wanted to remove property, which was in im-
minent danger of falling into the enemy’s hands. I informed
him he fhould have the waggon mafter of the firft brigade,
L which
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which could be fpared from the public fervice, fent to him,
when he would give him fuch orders as he pleafed. Ac-
cordingly, about the 22d of O&ober Mr. Jordan was fent
to the general to receive his direions, having at that time
fent forward a large fupply for the army, &c. When Jor-
dan returned, he was defired to make out his account to
General Arnold to be paid. I do not know where the
loading was ftored, nor whofe property it was, further than
what is before mentioned. A greater number of continental
teams coming in than I expeted, enabled me to comply
with General Arnold’s requeft without any inconvenience
to the fervice. If there is any thing further in which I can
fatisfy your excellency and the council, I will wait on you
at any time with pleafure.
I have the honour to be, &c.
J. M.

His Excellency Jofeph Reed, Efg.

Which I afterwards learned they fent a copy of to Gene-
ral Arnold. His excellency the prefident and council
requefted General Greene to dire& that Mr. Jordan, a
waggon mafter in his fervice might be fent for; on which
I fent two exprefles to enquire if he was in the quarter
mafter’s department, and if fo, to fend him up to wait on
the prefident and council ; but they returned with informa-
tion that he was not in the fervice. This I informed his
excellency of, who, if I can recolle&, and to the beft of
my memory and recolleétion, faid the council had laid the
matter before congrefs, and therefore it was not neceffary to
fend again for him. I offered tofend any orders of his by
exprefs or otherwife, as he thought proper. The next I

heard of this affair was on the 3oth of January, when Mr.
Jordan
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Jordan came to town, and called at my office. I told him
to go to General Arnold for his pay, that I had nothing to
do with it, and afked him why he did not call for it long
before that time. He anfwered he had been fick, and could
not come to town, and I think faid he was fick when he
returned from Eggharbour. I told him he muft wait on
the prefident and council before he left town; that they
had fent for him, and it was neceffary he fhould call on
them. I alfo atked him if he had made any complaints to
Colonel Boyd, and for what reafon he did make fuch
complaints. He faid, he had made none, nor had he feen
Colonel Boyd fince his return from Eggharbour ; but he
believed fome of the waggoners had made fome complaints
which he had never feen. On this he went from me, as I
believe, to General Arnold, and returned with a note from
him to me, as follows, viz.

The waggons were fent to me the 22d, and difcharged
the 2gth, and were employed eight days each, is g6 days, at
N. B. If Colonel Mitchell will make out the account,
I will pay it, as the waggons were not fent in on purpofe
for me, I think it will be right to pay only for the time
they were employed.
(Signed) B. ARNOLD.

Saturday.
To which I anfwered immediately,

SIr,

Mr. Jordan is entitled to pay from the day he left home,
‘and as he was not employed in public fervice, but fent to
you on his arrival, it is but juft he fhould be paid by the

perfon who employed him ; but if you order I fhould pay
: him
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him any part of the time due him for hire of his teams I
will obey your order.
I have the honour to be, with refpe&,
Sir, your moft obedient, humble fervant,
J. MITCHELL.

Fanuary 30, 1779.
Hon. Major General Arnold.

This anfwer was fent direitly to the general. Whether
Mr. Jordan went to him then or not, I do not recolle& ;
but on producing his pay roll, I found he had charged as if
he received forage, which furprized me much, not having
been informed or known he had drawn any forage for more
than one day; on which I fent to the forage mafter to
know the truth of it, who returned me an account that he
had drawn ‘forage. I then defired he would make out his
pay roll as if he had not forage, and to pay the amount of
the forage to Owen Biddle, Efq; agent for the com. gen.
of forage. Mr. Jordan had made an account out for two
days more than he was entitled to. I told him of it, and
the mode eftablithed for payment of teams, and that it was
agreeable to the waggon law, and the opinion of the late
waggon mafter general, James Young, Efq. He feemed
not contented with this deduction of two days at firft, but
on my affuring him it was the ufual and cuftomary time,
and offering to fhew him feveral pay rolls fettled agreeable
to the law, and what I then faid, and that I infifted on the
matter being fettled before he left town, as I wifhed to be
clear of any further trouble with it, and defiring him not to
negle& to call on the prefident of this ftate, and informing
him where he lived, he afked for paper, pen, and ink, and
liberty to make out his pay roll in the office, all which were
granted him, he feemed to me perfe@ly fatisfied, contented,

and



[ 85]

and in good humour. I affifted him in bringing out the
amount, and I believe the clerk caft it up for him. He left
me in this difpofition, and went to General Arnold to re-
ceive his money, but foon returned and faid, the general
was out. I told him to call on him again, and let me know
if he refufed to pay him. From that time I never faw Mr.
Jordan, but once at fome diftance. General Arnold called
on me on the Monday, Tuefday, or Wednefday following,
I cannot recolle&t which, and afked me if I heard any thing
of Mr. Jordan; that he wanted to pay him ; that he was
going out of town; that he would leave the money with
Major Clarkfon, and requefted I would fend Mr. Jordan to
him to receive his money ; but if he would not come, begged
I would fend for Major Clarkfon, who would bring the
money. I have omitted to mention in the proper place,
that on Mr. Jordan’s return, he was told <o call on General
Arnold for his pay; in anfwer to which he faid, he would
not ftay at that time to make out his pay roll, but would
return and get his pay, or words to that purpofe. On look-
ing at 2 memorandum book in the office, kept to affift my
memory and my clerk’s only, I faw the words, ¢ Gone to
Eggharbour, by order of General Arnold,” oppofite to the
word Jefle Jordan, W. M. 12 teams, Chefter county, as
here put down. I told the clerk, General Arnold did not
give me orders to fend him, and therefore it fhould be,
“Went to Eggharbour by dire¢tions of General Arnold,”
which he immediately altered; and on obferving on the
other fide, 3oth, Jefle Jordan returned from Eggharbour, I
told the clerk, as I did not think I had any concern with
the waggons after they had been fent to General Arnold,
that thofe words were unneceffary, and defired he would
ftrike it out, which hgy did immediately. This happened

the
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the week after Jordan was at my office laft. On General
Arnold’s return, he fent to let me know, he wanted a certi-
ficate of what pafled refpeting the waggons and the pay-
ment. As I withed to avoid any further concern in this
matter, I did not go to wait on him, till he fent feveral
times. When I waited on him, he was in his chamber;
he told me what he fent for me was, to give him a certifi-
cate of what I knew refpeing the waggons he fent to Egg-

harbour, and what I knew refpe&ing his defire to pay them,

as the council had charged him with refufing to pay them.
I anfwered, I was very defirous to have no further concern
in the affair ; that I had informed the prefident and council
what I knew of it, a copy of which I believed he had, and
that I had alfo given a committee of congrefs what informa-
tion I Jcould; that I would freely go before any authority
that had a right to enquire into it, and give my teftimony,
but I could not give any certificate, or have my name in
the public papers, which might fubje me to difagreeable
anfwers, as the papers were full of vinditive and abufe on
many refpeGable charadters. He faid, it was very cruel
and hard to be refufed a true ftate of the matter, and
fhewed me a paper he had wrote, I believe read it, I alfo
read it, when he afked me, if it was a true ftate of the mat-
ter. I anfwered, it might be near it, but if I figned any I
would write it myfelf; that the words were not exprefled
as I would do, if I gave any, but ftill requefted he would
not infift on it, and withed he would excufe me; and lfo
faid, I would relate the matter, if he would not publifh it ;
but his anfwer was, that would not do, as he wanted the
fa&ts to publith. I endeavoured to excufe myfelf, but he
earneftly requefted, as a gentleman, I would give him a
ftate of the matter, and requefted®I would take the paper

home,




[ 87]

home, and fend him a certificate. I told him, I would
confider of it, and let him know. On full confideration, I
was ftill defirous of avoiding any thing that was to be pub-
lithed with my name; but on his fending to me feveral
times for a certificate, I wrote one, which, on confulting a
friend, whofe opinion I efteemed, he thought an improper
one, on which I was determined to give a copy of my letter
to his excellency, of the 19th January, which is before
recited ; but from the words, on Saturday, the 3oth Janu-
ary, as recited in the former part of this narrative, was
added as what paffed refpeéting the payment. This I fent
to the general, who returned it the next morning, defiring
I would' fend him a certificate. I told the gentleman who
brought it, I could give no other than that. He faid he
believed it would not do. I anfwered I would do no more.
Afterwards the paper he gave me, was fent for, (as I kept
no copy, do not recolle® the contents) which I returned.
The general afterwards called on me, and requefted I
would give him a certificate. I affured him I could give
no other, and wifhed he would excufe me. He feemed
difpleafed at my anfwer, and faid another gentleman’s influ-
ence, naming him, was greater than his. I aflured him I
was not influenced by any one, and only wanted to avoid
any publication, but that he might have the letter I wrote
him. He took it, and left me, as I thought difpleafed.
And thus this matter ended, having had no converfation
with the general on the fubje& fince.

On the 18th of February, I received a letter from
Colonel Pettit, A. Q. M. Gen., enclofing a letter from
the fecretary of council, defiring a certificate of the entry

of the waggons fent to Eggharbour, of the ferries they
crofled
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croffed, and of their return; to which gave the following
anfwer:

Philadelphia, 18th February, 1779.
DEAR Sir,

In anfwer to your’s of this morning, I have to inform
you, that I have no other entry of Jeffe Jordan, W. M. than
a memorandum of his coming to my office, on the 22d
O&ober laft, when he was defired to call on General
Arnold, who wanted him to go to Eggharbour, that he
would pay him, and give him directions. From that time
I conceived Mr. Jordan’s waggons to be totaHy difcharged
from being under my dire&ions. I therefore neither gave
him orders to go to any ferry, or any kind of inftruions,
but what is mentioned above. I do not know at what ferry
he paffed, either going or returning. I fhall at all times
moft cheerfully give the prefident and council every informa-
tion and fatisfattion, on this or any other tranfaion in my
department, which they may require. All that I know of
the matter, I have communicated to them.

I am with fincere efteem,
Dear fir, your’s, &c.
J. M.

On the 23d or 24th of February, Colonel Pettit called
on me for a certificate of the entry; as it was efteemed by
the council to be one, I gave him one immediately. The
22d I received another letter from Colonel Pettit, requeft-
ing I would give a certificate of an entry of difcharge of the
waggons, or that there was none. To this I gave the
following anfwer, viz :

DEar
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Dzar S,

I received your note of this morning. Am forry to find
the honourable prefident and council thould think any in-
formation was with-held from them by me, or any gentle-
man in the department. I am confcious, I have never re-
fufed or delayed giving them any information that was
required. My letter to you of the 18th, was as full, and
conveyed every intelligence I could give you. There is no
entry of difcharge, or of Mr. Jordan’s teams, or any other
entry whatever, fave the one I gave you the 20th inftant,
which was fully contained in mine of the 18th. The
reafon was there fully explained.

I am, dear fir, your’s, &c.

. Jo M.
Colonel Charles Pettit, 4. Q. M. Gen.

On the 23d of February, Colonel Pettit called on me to
afk me for the memorandum book, to fhew to the council.
I told, he fhould have any book I had, with pleafure, from
this time to the 25th, when I was dire&ed to appear before
council, by their order of the 24th. '

Q. By General ‘Arnold. After the waggons had been
employed, and previous to any charge made againft me for
the fame, did I not feveral times fend to you for the account,
or to dire& the waggon mafter to call on me, that I might
pay him ?

A. You did.

Q. By ditto. Did Mr. Jordan ever inform you that I
had refufed payment ?

A. Jordan did not tell me that you had refufed to pay
him, but had refufed to pay the pay roll, as it was made

' M out,
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out, and I underftood from you, that you wanted to know
what you had to pay him.

Q. By ditto. Do you know whether Jefle Jordan faw
* me, after his pay roll was properly made out ?

A. I do not; but he told me he called, and you were not
at home.

Q. By ditto. Do you know the reafon why he did not
fee me after his pay-roll was made out, to get his money ?

A. I do not know, having no converfation with him after
the anfwer before given.

Q. By ditto. When you gave Jefle Jordan orders to call
on me for inftrutions, did you think he underftood that he
was difcharged from the public fervice ?

A. Tam not certain that he underftood it fo, but that
was my meaning, as I was bufy at the time, and did not
explain myfelf more particularly. I had ufually given
written inftructions, but did not give Jordan any, and for
this reafon I thought he underftood he was difcharged from
the public fervice.

Q. Were thefe waggons drawn from the ftate of Penn-
fylvania for the public fervice?

A. Yes.

- Q. Was not a great demand made on the ftate of Penn-
fylvania by you, about that time, or a fhort time previous to
it, for waggons for the public fervice ?

A. Yes, for a confiderable number, but the number I do
not recolle&, in confequence of applications made from the
different departments to me for that purpofe.

Q. Were thefe waggons part of the number that were
demanded ?

A. T believe they were.

Q. Did General Arnold know of there having been a

great
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great demand made on the ftate for waggons, when he
applied to you for a number of them ?

A. I believe he did.

Q. Did you confider General Arnold’s application to
you for waggons as a requeft, or an official order?

A. General Arnold being commanding officer in the
ftate, he made that requeft to me, and I conceived it as my
duty to oblige him as my fuperior officer in every thing in
my power, which I would not have done to any other officer
in the United States, who was then prefent. General
Arnold having made that requeft to me, and telling me the
reafon, that it was to remove property that was likely to fall
into the hands of the enemy, I complied with it, thinking it
was my duty to do fo, he paying all the expence.

Q. Were not General Arnold’s orders during his com-
mand in Philadelphia generally couched in terms of requeft
or defire ?

A. They were generally polite,and fuch as one gentleman
would write to another.

Q. Did you conceive that you would have been account-
able officially to General Arnold for your condu&, had you
refufed a compliance with his requeft for the waggons ?

A. I did not confider that matter at the time the requeft
was made. :

Q. Did you conceive yourfelf at liberty either to comply
with the requeft or refufe it ?

A. From the requeft being frequently repeated, I con-
ceived that I could not refufe it without incurring his dif-
pleafure, as commanding officer.

Q. Had you thought the requeft official, would you not

have complied with it without a repetition ?
A. Had
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- A, Had it been communicated to me in writing, I fhould
have complied with it immediately.

Q. Court. Did you think the refufal of the requeft
would or could have been treated as a difobedience of
orders ?

A. I did «ot think of it in that point of view at all.
General Arnold having requefted of me waggons to bring
off property then in danger of falling into the hands of the
enemy, I conceived it my duty to let him have them, as
fobn as it could be done without injury to the public fervice,
he paying the whole expence.

Q. Did you put thefe waggons into General Arnold’s
hands in the ufual courfe of your official bufinefs ?

A. General Arnold having requefted of me waggons to
bring off property then in danger of falling into the hands
of the enemy, I conceived it my duty to let him have them,
as foon as it could be done, without injury to the public
fervice, he paying the whole expence.

Q. Did not the waggon mafter of the ftate of Penn-
fylvania, in his letters, tell you, the waggons could-not go
out of the ftate, and remontftrate againft the great call ?

A. There was a hundred and fifty waggons called for
from the quarter mafter of the ftate of Jerfey ; the time I do
not recolle&, but believe it to be fome weeks before Jordan’s
waggons were fent to Eggharbour. Upon that requeft
being made to furnith them the waggon mafter general of
the ftate of Pennfylvania remonftrated againft the great call
for waggons, and gave as a reafon that no waggons were to
be fent to the ftate of ‘Jerfey, to carry ftores from thence ta
the army, in confequence of which, none were fent to my

knowledge. .
Q. Do
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Q. Do you know whether General Arnold knew of this_
remonttrance ?

A. I believe he did, but cannot be certain of it.

Q. What reafons had you to fuppofe the general knew
of the remonftrance ?

A. No ather than that the gé.neral was ufually acquainted
with every tranfaltion I was, in the department, of that
nature, and this matter was much talked of, not in his pre-
fence that I recolle& ; and I believe fome of the delegates
of the ftate of Pennfylvania had a meeting with the waggen
mafter general on that fubje&.

Q. By General Arnold. Don’t you recolle& when I
applied for the waggons, that I requefted the favour of you,
if they could not be fpared from the public fervice, to let
your people hire me private waggons !

A. At one time when you fpoke to me upon the fubje&,
you mentioned the words that you have now mentioned,
and I told you it was impoflible it could be done, or I would
do it with pleafure, You then faid, as foon as they could
be fparef from public fervice, you would be glad to have
them.

Q. When you fent the waggon mafter Jordan to General
Arnold, did you inform General Arnold that he was in
public fervice with the waggons?

A. I fent no notice to General Arnold at all; only told
the waggon mafter to call on him for his inftrucions, and
that he would fend him to the Jerfeys and pay him.

Q. Had Jordan refufed a compliance with your orders to
go ta General Arnold, would you have efteeted him ac~
countable to you for his refufal }

A. I would not.

{ Q. Coust, Did you on reading General Arnold’s not;
o
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of the 3oth of January, conceive that it was General
Arnold’s intention that the public fhould pay. any part of
the hire of Jordan’s waggons ?

A. I conceived from General Arnold’s note, that he
thonght he only ought to pay for the time the waggoners
were fent to him until the day they returhed; but my
opinion was, that he thould pay from the time the waggons
were called out into public fervice until they returned home.
But I did not conceive that General Arnold meant by that,
that the public fhould pay any part, but that it was a miftake
in the manner of calculating the pay.

Q. If you conceived that General Arnold did not expect
that the public thould pay for any part of the hire of Jordan’s
teams, what was the reafon of your mentioning in your’s of
the 3oth of January, 1779, that if he ordered you fhould
pay any part of the time due Jordan for the hire of his
teams, you would obey his order ?

A. Becaufe, as commander in chief, I fhould have con-
fidered his written order for that purpofe, as a ‘uﬁcnent
voucher to produce to the public.

Q. Court. Did General Arnold know any thing of the
entries made in your memorandum book, or of the altera-
tions or obliteration made afterwards ?

A. Not to my knowledge.

Q. Court. Were thefe alterations or obliterations made
in the book previous to an inquiry being made into the
general’s condu&, or fubfequent ?

A. The alteration was made immediately after the entry ;
the obliteration within a few days after the 30th of January,
but the particular day I cannot recollect.

Q. Do you know the political general chara&ers of Mr.
James Seagrove, or Captain Robert Shewell, Junior 7

: A 1
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A. T know very little of either of them, but I have heard
and thought before we got into Philadelphia that they were
difaffected perfons. Captain Robert Shewell; Junior, was
always thought to be a difaffeGed perfon. Mr. Seagrove, at
New York, paid particular refpe& to General Wathington,
and I confidered him at that time as a good whig, but his
coming into Philadelphia, while the enemy were there, in-
duced me to alter my opinion of him.

The court adjourned until to morrow eleven o’clock.

Fanuary 20.
The court met agreeable to adjournment,

Q. To Colonel Mitchell. What time was Jordan’s
brigade of waggons to continue in the public fervice, when
they were ordered out ?

A. Ithink the law of the ftate, to the beft of my re-
menbrance,.fays thirty days.

Q. Did Jordan’s brigade of waggons or any part of them
continue in the public fervice, after their return from Egg-
harbour ?

A. Not one of them, to my knowledge. I was after-
wards told, fome of them came out in another brigade, but
I did not know them as fuch.

Q. Was the time they were employed by General
Arnold confidered by you, or the waggon mafter of the
ftate, as part of their tour of duty ?

A. It was not confidered by me, otherwife I thould have
detained them until it was over ; but as they were fent to
General Arnold, I did not confider I had any charge of
them, not confidering them to be in public fervice. I do
not know how the waggon mafter confidered the time they

* were
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were employed, having had no converfation with him upon
the fubje&, to the beft of my recolle&ion.

Q. In what manner were waggons ufually difcharged
from the public fervice, after they had completed their tour
of duty?

A. By paying them for the time they ferved, and letting
them go home. No written difcharge being given.

Q. How long had Mr. Jordan been in town with the
waggons under his care,. before he was ordered by you to
go to General Arnold for inftru&ions ?

A. To the beft of my recolle&ion, he was ordered to go
to General Arnold for inftru@ions the morning I knew of
his arrival, but the hour of the day I do not recollect.

Q. Did you not order Jordan to proceed with his wag-
gons to one of the public ftores, on his arrival in town, to
take a load of ftores for camp ?

A. To the beft of my recolle&ion or knowledge, I did
not. .
Q. By General Arnold. When I applied for the waggons,
did not you tell me, that there were frequently public
waggons lying idle in town, when provifions did not arrive
to load them, as expe&ed, in which cafe, they could be
fpared and it would be a faving . to the public, as they were
obliged to pay for the hire of the waggons when called out,
whether they were employed or not ?

A. 1 do not recolle& my telling you fo, but the circum-
ftances have happened. At that time there were no more
waggons called for from the ftate, but what could be em-
ployed ; but a number of continental teams coming in, which
I did not expe&, enabled me to let you have the waggons
at that time.

With refpe& to the laft charge, Dr. Gardiner was pro-

' duced
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duced by the judge advocate, and fworn, upon his being de-
fired to give the court.what information he was poffefled of
concerning it : he faid as follows :

That upon the return of Jordan’s brigade of waggons
from Eggharbour to Philadelphia, he then being in the city,
upon public bufinefs, was called upon by fome perfons be-
longing to the brigade, to vifit a fick waggoner; he went
with them to the continental yard, where the waggons were
ftanding, and finding_the man very ill, in the firft ftage of a
nervous fever, he propofed giving him fome medicines, and
at the fame time advifed them to fend him home, as he, the
deponent, fuppofed his diforder would be tedious. Some
difficulties arifing with refpe& to the method of fending him,
they at length agreed to try, if the whole brigade could
obtain a temporary difcharge, upon their promifing to return
again in a fhort time, and perform the remainder of their tour.
They told him, they did apply, and were accordingly dif-
charged or permitted to return, upon the aforefaid condition.
Sometime afterwards, a complaint was made by Col. Young,
waggon mafter general of the ftate of Pennfylvania, to fome
members of the general aflembly, then fitting, with refpe&
to fome abufes of the waggons, called out under the law for
public fervice, being employed in private fervice, and parti-
cularly with refpe& to the mifapplication of Jordan’s brigade,
in removing private property from Eggharbour, and at the
fame time drawing forage and rations from the public
magazines. 'The members feemed difpofed to have taken
up the matter, but being about to rife in a fhort time, and
thinking that the matter might be taken up in another
channel, fome of the members advifed Colonel Young to
lay the cafe before the executive authority of the ftate,
which he, the deponent, afterwards heard he did. He then

N heard
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heard but little more of the matter, ’till, he thinks, in the
latter end of January, or the beginning of February, when
Jordan called at his houfe in Philadelphia, and told him,
that he had confiderable delays in receiving pay for the
fervice of his brigade laft fall, and requefting his advice as a
friend, what fteps would be moft advifable for him to take,
to have the matter fettled. He, the deponent, afked him
for his papers ; he fhewed him two pay-rolls, or one altered
pay-roll ; one charged to the United States, and the other
charged to General Arnold. The latter, or the alteration,
Jordan told him he made in confequence of Colonel
Mitchell’s dire&tions. He likewife fhewed him (the de-
ponent), his orders from General Arnold, figned by a Mr.
Franks as one of his aids. He afked Jordan what reafon
General Arnold gave for not difcharging the debt. He
anfwered, that General Arnold was not willing to pay for
more than fix or feven days fervice, which was the time he
was performing his journey from Philadelphia to Egghar-
bour and back again. He advifed Jordan to apply to the
executive authority of the ftate, and accordingly went with
him to Mr. Bryan’s, who was then vice prefident of the
ftate. He likewife accompanied the vice prefident, and
Mr. Clingan, one of the delegates of the ftate of Pennfyl-
vania, and Jordan, to the prefident’s.

Q. Had you any other information that Jordan’s brigade
of waggons was difcharged from the public fervice, or per-
mitted to return, upon their promifing to return again in a
thort time and perform their tour of duty, but what you had
from the waggoners ?

A. None.

Q. Court. Do you know to whom they applied for per-
mifion to return home ?

A. I
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A. Ido not; but I was prefent when they made the
agreement to apply, and they agreed to apply to Colonel
Mitchell.

Q. Court. Do you know whether Jordan’s brigade re-
turned to complete their tour of duty ?

A. Not as Jordan’s brigade. One of the waggoners
being fick, and Jordan’s quitting the fervice at that time,
feveral of the waggoners came out under another waggon
mafter : but I cannot fay whether they came out to complete
their former tour of duty or not.

Q. By General Arnold. Did Jeffe Jordan inform you
that I had refufed him payment for the hire of his waggons ?

A. Jefle Jordan informed me that he went to Colonel
Mitchell to get his pay, having his pay roll drawn in its
ufual form ; that Colonel Mitchell informed him that the
pay roll was wrong, that the United States were charged,
but you ought only to be charged; that agreeable to Col-
onel Mitchell’s orders he altered the pay roll or drew a
new one, I cannot tell which, in which he charged you
inftead of the United States; that after the pay roll was
made out in that manner, Colonel Mitchell gave him a note
to you, and defired him to call on you, which he faid he
delivered to you, and when he called, you refufed paying
him for the number of days charged in the pay roll, which
were twelve or thirteen, and made fome difficulties as to
paying him for fix or feven days; that he then returned to
Colonel Mitchell with a note or meffage from you, with
refpe& to the number of days he was in fervice ; that when
he came to Colonel Mitchell he again fent him back to
you; not finding you at home, he returned to Colonel
Mitchell’s, and after telling him of it, Jordan faid he would
give over any attempts to get the money in that manner ;

that
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that he was employed by Mr. Boyd, and would apply to
him about it ; upon which Colonel Mitchell told him he
muft not attempt to go away without fettling it, or he
would put him in the guard houfe ; he further told me, he
put his papers quietly in his pocket and flipped off, being
fearful that he fhould be put in the guard houfe, and he told
me he did not make any other attempt to get payment at
that time,

Q. By General Arnold. Did you not underftand that
there was fome intimation given by fome of the council to
Colonel Boyd, Colonel Young or Jordan, or fome other
perfon, to make a complaint refpe&ing the waggons; or
was the complaint made without the knowledge or defire
of the council or fome member of it?

A. No member of the council, to my knowledge, in-
fluenced any perfon to make the complaint.

Q. By do. Do you know whether Jefle Jordan called
on the prefident and council voluntarily, or was fent for
when he was paid a fum of money for the hire of his wag-
gons ?

A. I believe he came voluntarily.

Q. By do. Do you know whether the prefident or any
member of the council advifed or wrote a letter to Jordan
defiring him to make out his account, and charge eighty
pounds for each waggon, and to apply to the attorney gene-
ral to commence an a&ion for the money ?

A. I do not.

The judge advocate, in addition to the other evidence
before the court, defired permiffion to produce a certificate
of the fpeaker of the houfe of affembly, of the ftate of
Pennfylvania, to fhew how the complaint by the executive
council of the ftate of Pennfylvania againft Major General

Arnold, -
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Arnold, for employing Jefle Jordan’s brigade of waggons,
originated, which was granted. The certificate was pro-
duced, and authenticated by Dr. Gardner. On being read,
it is as follows:

This is to certify, that fome time in the fall of the year
1778, during the fitting of the houfe of affembly, and near
the clofe thereof, James Young, Efq. waggon mafter
general of the ftate, applied to me as fpeaker of the houfe,
informing, that he had proof of a brigade of waggons, called
out under the law of the ftate, being employed for private
purpofes; at the fame time requefting that a fupplement
might be made to the law, to prevent like abufes in future.
But as the houfe was greatly hurried with other important
bufinefs, and were anxious to rife. I mentioned the matter
to his excellency the prefident, and fome other members
of the council, who thought it would be beft for the wag-
gon mafter to lay the affair before council in writing ;
in confequence of which, fome weeks after, information
was given to council.

JOHN BAYARD.

Philadelphia, Fan. 11, 1780.

The court adjourned until to morrow eleven o’clock.

Fansary 21.

The court met agreeable to adjournment.

Mr. Nicholfon was produced by the judge advocate re-
lative to the fecond charge againft the general and fworn.
After he was examined, the judge advocate moved that the
matters he mentioned be not inferted in the proceedings
of the court, as not applying to the charge againft the gene-
ral. The court having confidered them were of opinion,

that
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that they did not apply to the charge againft the general,
and fhould not be inferted in the proceedings.

The evidence being clofed, Major General Arnold ad-
drefled the court, as follows :

My, Prefident, and gentlemen of this honourable court :

I appear before you, to anfwer charges brought againft
me by the late fupreme executive council of the common-
wealth of Pennfylvania. It is difagreeable to be accufed ;
but when an accufation is made, I feel it a great fource of
confolation, to have an opportunity of being tried by gen-
tlemen, whofe delicate and refined fenfations of honour,
will lead them to entertain fimilar fentiments concerning
thofe who accufe unjuftly, and thofe who are juftly accufed.
In the former cafe, your feelings revolt againft the conduét
of the profecutors; in the latter, againft thofe who are de-
ferved obfe&s of a profecution. Whether thofe feelings
will be dire&ted againft me, or againft thofe, whofe charges
have brought me before you, will be known by your juft
and impartial determination of this caufe.

When the prefent neceffary war againft Great Britain
commenced, I was in eafy circumftances, and enjoyed a fair
profpe& of improving them. I was happy in domeftic
conne&ions, and blefled with a rifing family, who claimed
my care and attention. The liberties of my country were
in danger. The voice of my country called upon all her
faithful fons to join in her defence. With cheerfulnefs I
obeyed the call. I facrificed domeftic eafe and happinefs to
the fervice of my country, and in her fervice have I facrificed
a great part of a handfome fortune. I was one of the firft

that appeared in the field, and from that time, to the prefent

hour, have not abandoned her fervice.
When one is charged with pra&ices, which his foul
abhors,
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abhors, and which confcious innocence tells him, he has
never committed, an honeft indignation will draw from him
expreflions in his own favour, which, on other occafions,
might be afcribed to an oftentatious turn of mind. The
part which I have afted in the American caufe, has been
acknowledged by our friends, and by our enemies, to have
been far from an indifferent one. My time, my fortune,
and my perfon have been devoted to my country, in this
war ; and, if the fentiments of thofe who are fupreme in
the United States, in civil and military affairs, are allowed
to have any weight, my time, my fortune, and my perfon
have not been devoted in vain. You will indulge me, gen-
tlemen, while I lay before you fome honourable teftimonies,
which congrefs, and the commander in chief of the armies
of the United States, have been pleafed to give of my con-
"du&. The place where I now ftand juftifies me in pro-
ducing them.

Valley Forge, 7th May, 1778.
DEAR SIr,

A gentleman of France having very obligingly fent me
three fets of epaulets and fword knots, two of which, pro-
fefledly, to be difpofed of to any friend I fhould choofe; I
take the liberty of prefenting them to you and General
Lincoln, as ateftimony of my fincere regard and approba-
tion of your condu&t.

I have been informed by a brigade major of General
Huntington, of your intention of repairing to camp thortly ;
but notwithftanding my with to fee you, I muft beg that
you will run no hazard by coming out too foon.

I am fincerely and affeQionately,
Your obedient,
G. WASHINGTON.
Head
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Head Quarters, Morris Town, May 8th, 1777.

DEeAr Srr,

I am happy to find, that a late refolve of congrefs, of the
2d inftant, has reftored you to the continental army.

The importance of the poft at Peek’s Kill, and its apen-
dages, has become fo great, that it is now neceffary to have
a major general appointed to the command of it.

You will therefore immediately repair to that poft, and
take charge of it, till a general arrangement of the army can
be affetted, and the proper province of every officer af-

figned.
I am, fir,

Your moft obedient fervant,
G. WASHINGTON.

IN CONGRESS,

11th Fuly, 1777.
Ordered, That an extra& of General Wathington’s letter
of the 10th, fo far as it relates to General Arnold, be fent
to him; and that he be directed to repair immediately to
head quarters, and follow the orders of General Wathington.
Extra& from the minutes,
CHARLES THOMSON, Secretary.

Extract of a letter from GENERAL W ASHINGTON fo Congrefs,
dated Morris Town, Fuly 10th, 1777.

¢« If the event mentioned by General Schuyler fhould not
have happened, we cannot doubt, but General ‘Burgoyne

has come up the lake, determined, if poffible, to carry his’

point, I mean, to poflefs himfelf of our pofts in that quarter,
and to puth his arms further. Suppofing this not to have
happened,
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happened, as our continental levies are fo deficient in their
number, our fecurity and fafety will require, that aids from
the militia fhould be called forth, in cafes of emergency.
If it has, there is now an abfolute neceflity for their turning
out to check General Burgoyne’s progrefs, or the moft dif-
agreeable confequences may be apprehended. Upon this
occafion, I would take the liberty to fuggeft to congrefs,
the propriety of fending an ative, fpirited officer to conduct
and lead them on. If General Arnold has fettled his affairs,
and can be fpared from Philadelphia, I would recommend
him for this bufinefs, and that he fhould immediately fet out
for the northern department. He is a&ive, judicious and
brave, and an officer in whom the militia will repofe great
confidence. Befides this, he is well acquainted with that
country, and with the routs and moft important pafles and
defiles in it. I do not think he can render more fignal
fervices, or be more ufefully employed at this time, than in
this way. I am perfuaded his prefence and a&ivity will
animate the militia greatly, and fpur them on to a becoming
condu&. I could with him to be engaged in a more agree-
able fervice, to be with better troops; but circumftances
call for his exertions in this way, and I have no doubt of
his adding much to the honour he has already acquired.”
Examined with the original.
GEO. BOND, Dep. Sec. of Congrefs.

IN CONGRESS.

. May 20, 1777.
Refolved, That the quarter mafter general, be direéted
to procure a horfe, and prefent the fame properly capari-
foned, to Major General Arnold, in the name of this con-
grefs, as a token of their approbation of his gallant conduét,
o in
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in the a&ion againft the enemy, in their late enterprize to
Danbury, in which General Arnold had one horfe killed
under him, and another wounded. (20)

IN CONGRESS.

November 4th, 1777.

Refolved, That the thanks of congrefs, in their own
name, and in behalf of the inhabitants of the thirteen United
States be prefented to Major General Gates, commander in
chief of the northern department, and to Majors General
Lincoln and Arnold, and the reft of the officers and troops
under his command, for their brave and fuccefsful efforts,
in fupport of the independence of their country, whereby an
army of the enemy of ten thoufand men, have been totally
defeated ; one large detachment of it, ftrongly pofted and -
entrenched, having been conquered at Bennington ; another
repulfed with lofs and difgrace from fort Schuyler ; and the
main army of fix thoufand men, under Licutenant General
Burgoyne, after being beaten in different a&tions, and driven
from a formidable poft and ftrong entrenchments, reduced
to the neceflity of furrendering themfelves upon terms hon-
orable and advantageous to thefe ftates, on the 17th day of
O&ober laft, to Major General Gates.

If thefe teftimonies have any foundation in truth (and I
believe the authority of thofe who gave them will be thought
at leaft equal to that of thofe who have fpoke, and wrote,
and publithed concerning me in a very different manner)
is it probable that after having acquired fome little reputa-
tion, and after having gained the favourable opinion of thofe,
whofe favourable opinion it is an honour to gain, I fhould
all at once fink into a courfe of condu& equally unworthy

of
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of the patriot and foldier? No pains have been fpared, no
artifice has been left untried to perfuade the public that this
has been the cafe. Uncommon affiduity has been employed
in propagating fufpicions, inve&ives, and flanders to the
prejudice of my charadter. The prefles of Philadelphia
have groaned under libels againft me, charges have been
publifhed, and officially tranfmitted to the different ftates,
(and to many parts of Europe, as I am informed) before
they were regularly exhibited, and long before I could have
an opportunity of refuting them ; and indeed every method
that men ingenioufly wicked could invent, has been prac-
ticed to blaft and deftroy my chara&er. Such a vile pro-
ftitution of power, and fuch inftances of glaring tyranny and
injuftice, I believe are unprecedented in the annals of any
free people. I have long and impatiently withed for an
opportunity of vindicating my reputation, and have frequently .
applied for it; but the fituation of affairs at the beginning
and during the continuance of the campaign, neceffarily, and
againft the general’s inclination, prevented it, until now.
But now it is happily arrived, and I have the moft fanguine
hopes of being able to avail myfelf of it, by fatisfying you,
and, through your fentence, by fatisfying the world, that
my condué& and chara&er have been moft unwarrantably
traduced, and that the charges brought againft me are, falf,
malicious, and fcandalous. A

The firft charge is, Granting a prote&ion, &¢c. &e.

In anfwer, The permifion was given on the fourth day
of June 1778, when, though I had no formal inftructions
from the general to take the command in Philadelphia, I had
intimations given me that I fhould be fixed upon for that
appointment. The gentleman who applied for the protec-
tion in behalf of himfelf and company, was not then refiding

in
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in the city with the enemy ; he had taken the oath of alle-
giance to the ftate of Pennfylvania, required by its laws, as
appeared by a certificate which he produced to me. What
his political chara&er, and thofe of the others, in whofe be-
half he applied to me, were, I pretend not to afcertain;
nor do I mean to become their advocate, any further than
the juftice due to an injured chara&er requires. I think it
has been clearly proved by the teftimony of feveral gentle-
men (not parties in this matter) that the general chara&er
of thofe gentlemen was unexceptionable, fome of them had
taken an a&ive part in favour of thefe ftates ; and the tenor
of their condu& fince, will I prefume juftify a favourable
opinion of them. It is enough for me to fhew that their
intentions with regard to this veflel and cargo feemed to be
upright, and that the defign of faving them for the ufe of
the citizens of the United States, appeared to be laudable,
inftead of being reprehenfible. This appears evident from
the depofitions of Mr. Collins, Mr. Beveridge, and Colonel
Pro&or.

Why the protefion is viewed as an indignity to the
authority of the ftate of Pennfylvania, I own I cannot dif-
cover. The prefident and council of that ftate were then
in Lancafter ; the pafs to the veflel was to * fail into any of
the ports of the United States of America.” To fail into
the port of Philadelphia was not the obje& ; the veffel was
there already. If there was an encroachment upon the
authority of any ftate, it muft have been fome other than
the ftate of Pennfylvania. The veflel failed into one of the
ports of New Jerfey ; the government of that ftate, theugh
far from being infenfible to its honour, has never complained
of the indignity offered to it by my prote&ion; a jury of
that ftate acquitted the veffel by their verdi& ; and the judge

' of
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of admiralty of that ftate confirmed the verdi& by his de-
cree, which is in evidence before this honourable court.

It is part of this charge that the permiffion was granted
without the knowledge of the commander in chief, though
then prefent. I think it peculiarly unfortunate that the
armies of the United States have a gentleman at their head,
who knows fo little about his own honour, or regards it fo
little, as to lay the prefident and council .of Pennfylvania
under the neceffity of ftepping forth in its defence, perhaps
it may be of ufe to hint,

Non tali auxilio eget, nec defenforibus iftis.

The general is invefted with power, and he poflefles
fpirit to check and to punifth every inftance of difrefpe&
“fhewn to his authority ; but he will not proftitute his power
by exerting it upon a trifling occafion; far lefs will he per-
vert it when no occafion is given at all.

His excellency knew, and you, gentlemen, well know, it
has been cuftomary for general officers of the army to grant
pafles, prote&ions for perfons and property, to the inhabit-
ants of the United States, who appeared friendly to thg fame.
The utility of the meafure, which was evident in the pre-
fent cafe, without any precedent, I conceived to be a fuffi-
cient juftification. The prote&ion was defigned only to
prevent the foldiery from plundering the veflel and cargo,
coming from the enemy, that proper authority might take
cognizance of the matter. I muft beg leave to mention a
refolution of congrefs in point. I do not recolle& the date.
It was, however, previous to the pafs. That honourable
body therein promife, to all perfons in the enemy’s fervice,
for their encouragement and reward, all veflels and cargoes

that
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that they fhall feize upon, in pofleffion of the enemy, and
- bring into any of the United States. If fuch reward is
given to our enemies, can it be efteemed criminal to prote&
the property of the citizens of thefe United States, when
coming from the enemy. Certainly not. At the time the
proteftion was given, I had no doubt of the right or pro-
priety of giving it. I am now confirmed in my opinion,
and that the refolution of congrefs I have mentioned,
warrants the meafure. But, if ftri&ly confidering the
matter, it fhall be thought that I exceeded my power, by
granting the proteion, I hope His Excellency General
Wathington, and this honourable court, will do me the
juftice to believe, that it was not out of any difrefpe& to
his authority, but an error in judgment, as I was convinced
at the time I had a right to grant the pafs ; and had I refufed
I fhould have thought myfelf culpable.

The fecond charge confifts in having fhut up the fhops
and ftores on my arrival in the city, fo as even to prevent
officers of the army from purchafing, while I privately made
confiderable purchafes for my own ufe, as is alledged and
believed.

The refolution of congrefs, *“direéts me to take early and
¢ proper care to prevent the removal, transfer, or fale of
‘““any goods, wares, or merchandize, in the poffeffion of the
“inhabitants of the city, until the property of the fame fhall
‘“be afcertained by a joint committee, confifting of perfons
“appointed by congrefs, and of perfons appointed by the
“fupreme executive council of the ftate of Pennfylvania.”
My inftru&ions from the general mention, * that I will find
“the obje&ts of my command fpecified in the refolution of
¢ congrefs, and that the means of executing the powers vefted

(13 i‘l
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“in me were left to my own judgment.” How could.I
better prevent the removal, transfer, or fale of any goods,
wares and merchandize, in the poffeflion of the inhabitants
of the city, ¢ than by fhutting up the fhops and ftores ?

If < the officers of the army were prevented from pur-
“ chafing,” it was becaufe the fale of any goods was dire&ed
by congrefs to be prevented, in which the fale of goods to
officers was neceffarily included ; and it was in order (as is
ftated in the proclamation prohibiting the removal, fale, or
transfer of goods) ¢ that the quarter mafter, commiffary and
“clothier generals, might contra& for fuch goods, as were
“wanted for the ufe of the army.

What I have already mentioned, renders it furprifing that
the fhutting up the fhops and ftores fhould be made a charge
againft me by any man, or body of men: what I am going
to mention, renders it peculiarly furprifing that this charge
fhould be made againft me by the gentleman, who is now
prefident of the ftate of Pennfylvania. It is in evidence be-
fore this honourable court, that this very gentleman pro-
pofed to one of my aids, that he, even before my arrival in
town, “fhould publith an order to prevent the felling any
‘““goods or merchandize ; that this very gentleman was
““ urgent to have this done ; that this very gentleman, after
““my arrival in town, drew up a proclamation for that pur-
‘¢ pofe, which was prefented to me.” The fame gentleman
now exhibits the fame meafure as an article of accufation
againft me.

The laft part of this charge is of a ferious nature indeed :
it is that, while I prohibited others from purchafing, I privately
made confiderable purchafes for my own benefit, “as is
“alledged and believed ;> if this part of the charge is true,
I ftand confefled, in the prefence of this honourable court,

the
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the vileft of men ; I ftand ftigmatized with indelible difgrace,
the difgrace of having abufed an appoiritment of high truft
and importance, to accomplith the meaneft and moft un-
worthy purpofes : the blood I have fpent in defence of my
country, will be infufficient to obliterate the ftain.

But if this part of "the charge is void of truth ; if it has
not even the femblance of truth, what fhall I fay of my
accufers? what epithets will chara&erize their condu&, the
fentence of this honourable court will foon determine.

Itis ¢ alledged and believed,” that I privately made con-
fiderable purchafes for my own benefit. I am not converf-
ant in the ftudy of jurifprudence ; but I have always under-
ftood, that public charges ought to have fome other founda-
tion to reft upon, than mere unfupported ¢ allegation and
“belief.” Who ““alledge and believe” this accufation?
None, I truft, but the prefident and council of Pennfylvania ;
becaufe, I truft, none elfe would alledge and believe any
thing tending to ruin a charaer, without fufficient evidence.
Where is the evidence of this accufation ? I call upon my
accufers to produce it : I call upon them to produce it, under
the pain of being held forth to the world, and to pofterity,
upon the proceedings of this court, as public defamers and
murderers of reputation.

They have indeed produced the evidence of a certain
Colonel Fitzgerald, to prove that he faw an anonimous
paper in the hands of Major Franks, one of my aids. I
fhall take no notice of the paper he alludes to, as it cannot
be deemed a proof, or admitted as evidence ; but the manner
of his procuring a fight of the paper, I cannot help taking
notice of : lodging in the fame houfe with Major Franks, in
his abfence, Colonel Fitzgerald’s curiofity prompted him to
examine Major Franks's papers, when he ftumbled upon a

fecret
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fecret too big for him to keep. Was not this a grofs viola-
tion of the confidence fubfifting between gentlemen ? but
what fhall I fay of the ufe this gentleman made of his fecret ?
I will not fay it was a difgrace to the charaler of a foldier
and gentleman. I will leave it to the gentleman’s own
feelings, which (if he is not callous) will fay more to him
than I can poflibly do on the fubje&. In the nature of
things, it is impoffible for me to prove, by pofitive and
dire&t evidence, the negative fide of a charge: but I have
done all that in the nature of things is poffible.

On the honour of a gentleman and foldier, I declare to
gentlemen and foldiers, that the charge is falfe.

My aids de camp were acquainted with my tranfa&ions,
and had accefs to my papers: ¢ My invoice, my minute
‘“and account books, were always open to their infpe&ion.”
Could I have made confiderable purchafes, without their
knowledge? “And yet they did not know of my making
‘“any purchafes of goods of any kind, dire&ly or indire&ly;
‘““and they had every reafon to think, that no fuch purchafes
‘“were made, either by me or my agents, except a few
“trifling articles to furnifh my table, and for my family’s
“ufe; moft of which were fupplied me by the quarter
‘ mafter, commiffary and clothier generals.”

If I made confiderable purchafes, confiderable fales muft
have been made to me by fome perfon in Philadelphia.
Why are not thefe perfons produced ? Have my profecutors
fo little power and influence in that city, as to be unable
to furnith evidence of the truth?

With refpe& to the third charge of the fupreme executive
council of the ftate of Pennfylvania, I think it neceffary to
make fome obfervations on it, becaufe it is evidently calcu-
lated, by a falfe colouring of a trifling and innocent tranf-

P a&ion,
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a&ion, to fubje& me to the prejudice of the freemen of
thefc ftates, and particularly of the militia of the ftate of
Pennfylvania.

I am charged  with impofing menial offices upon the
“fons of freemen of this ftate, when called forth by defire
“of congrefs to perform militia duty; and when remon-
¢ ftrated to thereupon, juftifying myfelf in writing, upon the

"¢“ground of having power fo to do.” The letters which
are in evidence before this honourable court, which paffed
between Mr. Secretary Matlack and myfelf, will explain
the fole tranfa&tion, upon which this general accufation is
founded.

By what ftrained conftru@ion the fentiments which I
have exprefled, ¢ that when a citizen aflumes the chara&er
“of a foldier, the former was entirely loft in the latter,”
thould be extended to a juftification of myfelf, on the mere
principal of power, is fomewhat extraordinary. My opinion
in this matter is confirmed, not only by the fentiments of
many of the moft enlightened patrons of liberty in this and
other countries, but fan&ified by the militia law of feveral
free ftates, both in Europe and America, particularly
Switzerland and the ftate of New York, where (if I am
not miftaken) the militia of the latter, when called forth
into continental fervice, are fubjected to the fame rules of
difcipline, with the troops of the United States; the cha-
radter and conduét of that militia prove the policy of this
principle. My ambition is to deferve the good opinion of
the militia of thefe ftates, not only becaufe I refpe& their
charater and their exertions, but becaufe their confidence
in me may (as I flatter myfelf it has hitherto been) prove
beneficial to the general caufe of America: but having no
local politics to bias my voice or my condu&, I leave it to

* others
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others to wiggle themfelves into a temporary popularity, by
affaffinating the reputation of innocent perfons, and endeav-
ouring to render odious a principle, the maintenance of
which is effential to the good difcipline of the militia, and
confequently to the fafety of thefe ftates. I flatter myfelf
the time is not far off, when, by the glorious eftablithment
of our independence, I fhall again return into the mafs of
citizens : ’tis a period I look forward to with anxiety ; I fhall
then cheerfully fubmit as a citizen, to be governed by the
fame principle of fubordination, which has been tortured
into a wanton exertion of arbitrary power.

This infinuation comes, in my opinion, with an ill grace
from the ftate of Pennfylvania, in whofe more immediate
defence I facrificed my feelings as a foldier, when I conceived
them incompatible with the duties of a citizen, and the
welfare of that ftate.

By a refolution of congrefs, I found myfelf fuperfeded (in
confequence of a new mode of appointment of general
officers) by feveral who were my juniors in fervice; thofe
who know the feelings of an officer, (whofe utmoft ambition
is the good opinion of his country) muft judge what my
fenfations were at this apparent mark of negle&. I repaired
to the city of Philadelphia in the month of May, 1777, in
order either to attain a reftoration of my rank, or a permif-
fion to refign my commiffion ; during this interval, the van
of General Howe’s army advanced, by a rapid march, to
Somerfet court houfe, with a view (as was then generally
fuppofed) to penetrate to the city of Philadelphia.

Notwithftanding I had been fuperfeded, and my feelings
as an officer wounded, yet, on finding the ftate was in im-
minent danger from the defigns of the enemy, I facrificed

thofe
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thofe feelings, and with alacrity put myfelf at the head of
the militia, who were colle&ed to oppofe the enemy, de-
termined to exert myfelf for the benefit of the public,
although I conceived myfelf injured by their reprefentatives.
Haw far the good countenance of the militia under my
command operated, in deterring General Howe from
marching to the city of Philadelphia, I will not pretend to
fay ; certain it is, he altered his route.

What returns I have met with from the ftate of Penn-
fylvania, I leave to themfelves to judge, in the cool hour of
refle&ion, which (notwithftanding the phrenzy of party, and
the pains fo induftrioufly taken to fupport a clamour againft
me) muft fooner or later arife.

I will conclude this fubje&, by reading a letter from Mr.
Matlack, received fubfequent to the letters which have
been already read, which I confider as an infult and in-
dignity. The letter will fpeak for itfelf; the fpirit and
tendency of it are very obvious.

Philadelphia, March 17th, 1779.
Sir,

It appears to me proper to communicate to you, that I
fhall, on Saturday evening next, lay before a refpe&able
number of citizens, the feveral letters which have paffed
between you and myfelf, relating to the orders delivered by
one of your aids to my fon. My intention is, to confult
with them on the meafures neceffary to prevent effeGtually,
a like infult being offered by you, to any other citizen of this
ftate. I fay, by you, becaufe it is intimated in your letter,
of the 12th of O&ober, that the matter lies between your
major and my fon ; whereas the order being your order, and

my
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my fon feveral years under age, 1 conceive it to lie between
yourfelf and me. And am, fir,
Your very humble fervant,
T. MATLACK.
To Major General Arnold.

The fourth charge is evidently triable only in a court of
common law, I fhould not therefore notice it at prefent,
did it not add to the torrent of afperfion which has been
poured forth againft me, and which, if not checked, may
leave upon the minds of fellow foldiers and citizens, difagree-
able impreffions, even though I fhould be acquitted of the
charges which are cognizable by the law martial. I there-
fore beg leave to lay before the court, a certified copy of an
indi€&ment preferred againft me for this fuppofed offence, in
behalf of the commonwealth of Pennfylvania, with the
jurors return, '

I, Edward Burd, prothonotary of the Supreme court, and of
the courts of Oyer and Terminer, and general gaol delivery,
in and of the common wealth of Pennfylvania, do hereby
certify, That at a court of Oyer and Terminer, and general
gaol delivery, held at Philadelphia, for the city and county
of Philadelphia, the fifth day of April, in the year of our
Lord one thoufand feven hundred and feventy-nine, before
the honourable Thomas M’Kean,(21) William Auguftus
Atlee,(22) and John Evans, Efquires, juftices of the faid feveral
courts, a bill was preferredto the grandinqueft (who were then
and there duly fummoned, impannelled, returned, fworn,
and affirmed, to inquire for the faid commonwealth, and for
the faid city and county of Philadelphia) in the following
words and figures, to wit :

Philadelphia,
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Philadelphia, Oyer and Terminer, April feffions, 1779.
Philadelphia county, [

The jurors for the commonwealth of Pennfylvania, upon
their oaths and affirmations, do prefent, That Benedi&t
Arnold, Efg., late of the city of Philadelphia, in the county
aforefaid, on the firft day of December, in the year of our
Lord one thoufand feven hundred and feventy-eight, with
force and arms, at the city aforefaid, in the county aforefaid,
did unjuftly and unlawfully maintain and uphold a certain
fuit, which was then depending in the court of admiralty of
this ftate, before the honourable George Rofs,(23) Efq., judge
of the fame court, and in which Captain Thomas Houfton,
commander of the brigantine of war, the Convention, in be-
half of himfelf, and all other perfons interefted or concerned
in the faid brigantine, was libellant againft the floop or veffel
called the Aftive, her tackle, apparel, furniture, and cargo,
and Gideon Olmfted, Artemas White, Aquila Rumfdale,
and David Clark, for themfelves, and alfo Captain James
Jofiah, commander of the private floop of war, the Le
Gerard, in behalf of himfelf] and all others concerned in the
faid private floop of war, or interefted therein, were feverally
claimants, on the behalf of them, the faid Gideon Olmfted,
Artemas White, Aquila Rumfdale, and David Clark, againft
the faid Thomas Houfton and James Jofiah, to the manifeft
hindrance and difturbance of juftice, in contempt of this
commonwealth, to the great damage of the faid Thomas
Houfton and James Jofiah, and againft the peace and
dignity of the commonwealth of Pennfylvania.

JONA. D. SERJEANT,(24) Att. Gen.

Which faid bjll was then and there returned by the faid
grand inqueft ignoramus; whereupon all and fingular the
premifes
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premifes being feen, and by the faid juftices here fully under- -
ftood, it is ordered by the faid juftices, that the faid Benedi&t
Arnold, Efq., be difcharged ; and he was difcharged accord-
ingly.
In testimony whereof, I have hereto fet my hand, and
the feal of the faid fupreme court, the twenty-
L. s. fecond day of November, in the year of our Lord
one thoufand feven hundred and feventy-nine.
EDW. BURD, Pro. Sup. Court.

Notwithftanding all the influence of the ruling powers of
Pennfylvania, which muft be well known by feveral of this
honourable court ; the unexampled method adopted by the
council to prejudice the minds of the citizens againft me,
previous to a trial, and the daily calumnies’ invented and in-
duftrioufly circulated to prevent the popular heat from fub-
fiding ; the impartiality and good fenfe of a body of freemen

‘of the city of Philadelphia, were impregnable to all the arts

made ufe of to poifon the fountain of juftice. And here I
cannot but congratulate my countrymen upon the glorious
effe@s of the exertions we have made, to eftablifh the
liberties of ourfelves, and pofterity, upon the firm bafis of
equal laws. Had it not been for the grand bulwark agiinft
the tyranny of rulers, the trial by peers, it is eafy to forfee,
from the fpirit of thofe who have been my accufers what
muft have been my fate. When I refle&t on this circum-
ftance, I contemplate, with a grateful pleafure, the fcars I
have received in defence of a fyftem of government, the
excellence of which, though frequently before the fubject

of my fpeculation, is now brought home to my feelings.
It is difficult to account for the extraordinary mode pur-
fued by the ftate of Pennfylvania, to damn my reputation,
and
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and for the afperity with which I was perfecuted, on any
other principle, than one, by which ftates, as well as indi-
viduals, are too often tempted to commit the moft flagrant
alts of injuftice, [ mean intereff. The floop Aftive,(2s)
which was the obje& of the fuit, which I was accufed of
unlawfully maintaining, was taken by part of the crew of
the veflel, who were Americans, who rofe upon the reft, and
after having confined the captain and others, were bringing
her into port. In this fituation fhe was boarded by a veffel
belonging to the ftate of Pennfylvania, and brought in, and
afterwards libelled as a prize taken by themfelves. The
original captors, who were (fome of them) born in Con-
ne&icut, my native country, with whofe conneétions I was
acquainted, applied to me for my affiftance in obtaining
them juffice. 1 affifted them both with my advice, my
time, and my purfe ; and though three fourths of the veflel
and cargo were, by the lower court of admiralty for the
ftate of Pennfylvania,]adjudged to the ftate captors, this
fentence was, by an unanimous opinion of a court of appeals,
reverfed and adjudged to thofe whom I patronized, as ap-
pears by their decree, which I beg leave to read, with their
report to congrefs, and the refolutions of congrefs there-

upon.

THomas Houston, Efq., &c., app.]
adv.
GipeoN OLMSTED, &c., appts. J

In the Court of Commiffioners of Appeal for the United States
of America.

At a court held at the ftate houfe, in the city of Phila-
delphia, on the twelfth day of December, in the year of our
Lord
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Lord one thoufand feven hundred and feventy-eight, before
the Honourable William Henry Drayton, William Ellery,
John Henry the younger, and Oliver Ellfworth, Efgs.,(26)
commiffioners appointed by the honourable congrefs, to hear,
try, and determine all appeals from the courts of Admiralty
of the feveral American ftates to congrefs, came the parties,
as well as appellants as appellees, in the above caufe, by
their refpeétive advocates; and after folemn argument, and
full hearing of the faid parties, by their faid advocates, the
faid court took time to confider thereof, and held the fatne
under advifement, until the fifteenth day of December
aforefaid.

At which day, the faid court being again met, proceeded
to the publication of their definitive fentence or decree, upon
the faid appeal ; which being read and filed, is in the words
following, to wit:

THromas HousTton, Efq., &c., App.
adv.

GipeoN OLmsTED, &c., Appts. and

Claimants of the floop Aftive, her

cargo, &c.

Appeal from the Court of Admiralty of the flateof Pennfylvania.

We the commiffioners appointed by the honourable
congrefs of the United States of America, to hear, try, and
determine all appeals from the courts of admiralty of the
feveral ftates aforefaid, to congrefs, having heard and fully
confidered, as well all and fingular the matters and things
fet forth and contained in the record or minute of the pro-
ceedings of the court aforefaid, in the above caufe, as the

Q arguments
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arguments of the advocates of the refpe&ive parties in the
above appeal, do thereupon adjudge and decree, That the
judgment or fentence of the court of admiralty aforefaid, be
in all its parts revoked, reverfed, annulled. And we do
further decree and adjudge, That the floop or veflel called
the-Aétive, with the tackle, apparel and furniture, and the
goods, wares and merchandizes laden and found on board
her at the time of her capture, as mentioned in the claim of
Gideon Olmfted, Artemas White, Aquila Rumfdale and
David Clark, e appellants, be condemned as lawful prize
to and for the ufe and behoof of them, the faid appellants;
and that procefs iffue out of the court of admiralty aforefaid,
commanding the marfhal of the faid court to fell the faid
floop Aétive; and her cargo, at public vendue, for the higheft
price that can be gotten for the fame; and after deducting
the cofts and charges of the trial in the faid court of admiralty,
and the expences attending the fale of the faid floop, &c.,
that he pay the refidue of the monies arifing from the faid
fale unto the appellants aforefaid, their agent or attorney ;
and we do further adjudge and decree, that the appellees
pay unto the appellants in this caufe, the fum of two hun-
dred and eighty dollars for their cofts and charges by them
expended, in fuftaifing and fupporting their faid appeal. -
December 15, 1778. ,

WM. H. DRAYTON,

JOHN HENRY,

WILLIAM ELLERY,

O. ELLSWORTH.

‘ (Copy.) Examined with the original,
Geo. Bonp, Dep. Sec. of Congrefs.

IN
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IN CONGRESS.:

March 6, 1779.

“ The committee to whom was referred the report of the
committee on appeals of January rgth, 1779, having, in
purfuance of the inftruions to them given, examined into
the caufes of the refufal of the judge of the court of admi-
ralty for the ftate of Pennfylvania, to carry into execution
the decree of the court of committee of appeals, report,

That on a libel in the court of admiralty for the ftate of
Pennfylvania, in the cafe of the floop A4five, the jury found
a verdi& in the following words, viz : ** one fourth of the
net proceeds of the floop AZive and her cargo to the firft
claimants, three fourths of the net proceeds of the faid floop
and her cargo to the libellant and the fecond claimant, as
per agreement between them;” which verdi¢t was con-
firmed by the judge of the court, and fentence paffed thereon.
From this fentence or judgment and verdict, an appeal was
lodged with the fecretary of congrefs and referred to the
committee appointed by congrefs, ‘to hear and determine
finally upon all appeals brought to congrefs,” from the
courts of admiralty of the feveral flates.

That the faid committee, after folemn argument and full
hearing of the parties by their advocates, and taking time to
confider thereof, proceeded to the publication of their defini-
tive fentence or decree, thereby reverfing the fentence of
the court of admiralty, making a new decree, and ordering
procefs to iffue out of the court of admiralty for the ftate of
Pennfylvania, to carry this their decree into execution :

That the judge of the court of admiralty refufed to carry
into execution the decree of the faid committee on appeals,
and has affigned as .the reafon of his refufal, that an a& of

' the
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the legiflature of the faid ftate, had declared that the finding
of a jury fhall eftablifh the fa&s in all trials of the courts of
admiralty, without re-examination or appeal, and that an
appeal is permitted only from the decree of the judge:

That having examined the faid a&, which is intitled *“an
a& for eftablithing a court of admiralty,” paffed at a
fefion which commenced the 4th of Auguft, 1778, the
committee find the following words, viz : “the finding of
a jury fhall eftablifh the fals, without re-examination or
appeal,” and in the feventh fe&ion of the fame a& the
following words, viz : “in all cafes of captures an appeal
from the decree of the judge of admiralty of this ftate, thall
be allowed to the continental congrefs or fuch perfon or
perfons as they may from time to time appoint for hearing
and trying appeals.” :

‘That although congrefs, by their refolution of November
25th, 1775, recommended it to the feveral legiflatures to
ere@ courts for the purpofes of determining concerning
captures, and to provide that all trials in fuch cafes be had
by a jury, yet it is provided that in all cafes an appeal fhall
be allowed to congrefs or to fuch perfon or perfons as they
fhall appoint for the trial of appeals : ” whereupon

Refolved, That congrefs, or fuch perfon or perfons as
they appoint to hear and determine appeals from the courts
of admiralty, have neceffarily the power to examine as well
into decifions on fa&s as decifions on the law, and to decree
finally thereon, and that no finding of a jury in any court of
admiralty or court for determining the legality of captures
on the high feas, can or ought to deftroy the right of appeals
and the re-examination of the fallts referved to congrefs :

That no a& of any one ftate can or ought to deftroy the
right of appeals to congrefs in the fenfe above declared :
That
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That congrefs is by thefe United States vefted with the
fupreme fovereign power of war and peace :

That the power of executing the law of nations is
effential to the fovereign fupreme power of war and peace :

That the legality of all captures on the high feas muft be
determined by the law of nations :

That the authority ultimately and finally to decide on all
matters and queftions touching the law of nations, does
refide, and is vefted in the fupreme fovereign power of war
and peace:

That a controul by appeal is neceffary, in order to compel
a juft and uniform execution of the law of nations :

That the faid controul muft extend as well over the de-
cifions of juries as judges in courts for determining the
legality of captures on the fea; otherwife the juries would
be poflefled of the ultimate fupreme power of executing the
law of nations in all cases of captures, and might at any
time exercise the fame in fuch manner as to prevent a pofli-
bility of being controuled; a conftru&ion which involves
many inconveniencies and abfurdities, deftroys an eflential
part of the power of war and peace entrufted to congrefs,
and would difable the congrefs of the United States from
giving fatisfation to foreign nations complaining of a viola-
tion of neutralities, of treaties or other breaches of the law
of nations, and would enable a jury in any one ftate to
involve the United States in hoftilities ; a conftru&ion which
for thefe and many other reafons is inadmiffible :

That this power of controuling by appeal the feveral
admiralty jurifdiCtions of the ftates has hitherto been exer-
cifed by congrefs, by the medium of a committee of their
own members.

Refolved, That the committee before whom was deter-

- mined
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mined the appeal from the court of admiralty for the ftate
of Pennfylvania, in the cafe of the floop Afive, was duly
conftituted and authorized to determine the fame :

On paffing this refolution, the yeas and nays being re-
quired by Mr. Searle,

New-Hampfhire, Mr. Froft, ay, }ay.
Maflachufetts-Bay, Mr. S. Adams, ay,

Mr. Lovell, ay, ~ay

Mr. Holten, ay,
Rhode-Ifland, Mzr. Collins, ay, }ay.
Corr2&icut, Mr. Dyer, ay,

Mr. Root, ay, }ay
New-York, Mr. Jay, ay, ) .

Mr. Floyd, ay, }ay :
New-jerfey, Mr. Witherfpoon, no, }* .
Pennfylvania, Mr. Armftrong, no,

Mr. Shippen, no,

Mr. Atlee, no, ¥ ne,

Mr. Searle, no,

Mr. M’Cleane,
Maryland, o Mr. Plater,

Mr. Carmichael, ay,

. M:r. Henry, ay a}

Virginia, Mr. T. Adams, ay,

Mr. M. Smith, ay,}

Mr. R. H. Lee, ay,
North-Carolina, Mr. Penn, ay,

Mr. Hill, ay,}

* Mr. Burke,

South-Carolina, Mr. Laurens, ay, a

Mr. Drayton, ay, ye
Georgia, Mr. Langwarthy, ay, }ay.

So it was refolved in the affirmative.
Refolved,



[ 127 ]

Refolved, That the faid committee had competent jurif-
di&ion to make thereon a final decree, and therefore their
decree ought to be carried into execution :

On this the yeas and nays being required by Mr. Searle,

New-Hampthire, M. Froft, ay, }ay.
Maflachufetts-Bay, Mr. S. Adams, ay,
Mr. Lovell, ay, }ay.
Mr. Holten, ay, ) -
Rhode-Ifland, Mr. Collins, ay, }ay.
Conne&icut, Mr. Dyer, ay,
. Mr. Root, . ay, }ay.
New-York, Mr. Jay, ay,

) Mr. Floyd, ay, }ay ’
New-Jerfey, Mr. Witherfpoon, ay, }*
Pennfylvania, Mr. Armftrong, no,

Mr. Atlee, no,

Mr. Shippen, no, # no.

Mr. Searle, no,

Mr. M’Clene, no, J
Maryland, Mr. Plater, ay,

Mr. Paca, ay,

Mr. Carmichael, ay, 4y

Mr. Henry, ay, J
Virginia, Mr, T. Adams, ay,

Mr. Smith, ay,}ay.

Mr. R. H. Lee, ay,
North-Carolina, Mr. Penn, ay,

Mr. Hill, ay,} y.

Mr. Burke, ay,
South-Carolina, Mr. Laurens, ay, 1,

Mr. Drayton, ay,} ¥
Georgia, Mr. Langwerthy, ay, }ay.

So it was refolved in the affirmative.
Refilved,
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Refolved, That the general affembly of the ftase of
Pennfylvania be requefted to appoint a committee to confer
with a committee of congrefs on the fubje& of the proceed-
ings relative to the floop A&ive, and the objetions made
to the execution of the decree of the committee on appeals,
to the end that proper meafures may be adopted for remov-
ing the faid obftacles ; and that a committee of three be ap-
pointed. to hold the faid conference with the committee of
the general affembly of Pennfylvania ;

The members chofen, Mr. Paca, Mr. Burke and Mr. R.
H. Lee.” .

This, gentlemen, is my cardinal guilt; hence proceeds
the vengeance of an interefted government againft me;
hence the pain and anxiety I have fuffered, in feeing the fair
fabric of reputation, which I have been with fo much
danger and toil raifing fince the prefent war, undermined by
thofe, whofe pofterity (as well as themfelves) will feel the
blefled effets of my efforts, in conjun&ion with you and
others, in refcuing them from a tyranny of the moft cruel
and debafing nature.

With refpe& to the fifth charge, of appropriating the
waggons of the ftate of Pennfylvania, when called forth
upon a fpecial emergency, laft autumn, to the tranfportation
of private property, &c., &c. )

"The evidence relative to that tranfa&ion, before the
court, will, I doubt not, juftify my condu& in their opinion.
It has been clearly proved by the teftimony of Colonel
Mitchell and Major Franks, that the waggons were fupplied
by the deputy quarter mafter general upon a private requeft,
and not confidered as in the public fervice, when employed.
Suppofe application had been made to me, for waggons,

during
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during my command in the city of Philadelphia, for remov-
ing property belonging to private perfons, which was in
danger of falling into the hands of the enemy, and I found
the fame could be done without injury to the public, thould
I be juftified in refufing the public affiftance? Certainly
not. Does then the criminality confift in removing the
property, becaufe I was interefted in it? Had the fupplies
for the continental army been obftru&ed by this tranfa&ion,
or had I endeavoured to make it a public charge, my con-
du& would certainly have been blame worthy; but as it
evidently appears, that neither the one or the other was the
cafe, I flatter myfelf, that my condud, inftead of being
condemned by this honourable court, will be approved, and
that an honourable acquittal will follow from the faéts I
have proved. :

What fhall I fay of the condu& of the prefident and
council of Pennfylvania, refpeting the waggons.? They
firft charge me with employing public waggons to remove
private property, infinugting, that the waggon mafter was
refufed payment for the hire of his waggons, and that I in-
tended to defraud the public. It would have been but
candid, had they informed the public, that Jefle Jordan the
waggon mafter had not been refufed payment for the hire
of his waggons, but that by their influence and advice, he
had been prevented calling on me for his pay, that they
might have fome pretence for inftituting an a&ion and this
charge againft me.

In the next inftance, they wrote, or caufed to be wrote,
a letter to Jefle Jordan, dire&@ing him to make out the ac-
count of the hire of his waggons, affuring him, that if he
charged eighty pounds for the hire of each waggon, (more
than double the firft account which he had prefented to me)

R they



[ 130]

they did not doubt of his recovering the whole fum, and
direed him to fend his account to the attorney general,
who had orders to commence an a&ion againft me for the
fame, which he accordingly did ; and there is now an aétion
againft me, depending in one of the courts of Pennfylvania,
for upwards of eleven hundred pounds, for the hire of thofe
waggons.

Is it not very extraordinary, that I fhould be accufed and
tried before this honourable court, for employing public
waggons, and at the fame time, and by the fame perfons, be
prafecuted in a civil court of Pennfylvania, for employing
the fame waggons as private property.

As to the fixth charge, purporting, that by my recom-
mendatory letter to General Maxwell, to grant a pafs to
Mifs Levy to go to New-York, I had violated the refolve
of congrefs, and ufurped the authority of the ftate of Penn-
fylvania. To attempt a ferious refutation, would be as
ridiculous as the charge itfelf. Let the letter wrote on this
occafion fpeak for itfelf. I kept no copy of it, but well
remember the purport, which was nearly as follows :

Sir,

The bearer, Mifs Levy, is a young woman of a good
chara&er, who has an aged parent that is blind, depending
on her for fupport ; fhe has money due to her from people
in New-York, and wifhes for a permiffion to go there for
the purpofe of colle&ing it, for the relief and fupport of her
mother, who will be greatly diftrefled without it. I believe
the will not make an ill ufe of a pafs, if granted to her.

I am fir,
Your humble fervant,
M. CLARKSON.(27)
General Maxwell.

As
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As to the feventh charge, of an indecent and difrefpeétful
behaviour to the council of Pennfylvania.

True it is, I refufed to obey an arbitrary mandate, (to
render to them an account of my condut) calculated to
criminate myfelf. They complain, that by my refufal their
dignity is wounded. Had I obeyed, foldiers and citizens
might juftly have faid, that I had betrayed their rights, and
wounded their dignity. The very demand was an infult to
common fenfe. 1 beg leave to obferve, that no one has a
greater refpe¢t than myfelf for the civil authority, and no
one is more convinced of the neceflity of fupporting it.
But when public bodies of men fhew themfelves actuated
by the paflions of anger, or envy, and apply their effe&s to
fap the charaéter of an individual, and to render his fituation
miferable, they muft not think it extraordinary, if they are
not treated with all the deference which they may think

their due.

It is the dignity with which an office is executed, much
more than the name, that can ever fecure refpe& and obedi-
ence from a free people, and true dignity confifts in exercif-
ing power with wifdom, juftice and moderation. Had I
experienced this, and had any unguarded expreflions efcaped
my pen in my letters to the prefident and council of Penn-
fylvania, I would cheerfully, in a cooler hour of refle&ion,
have made an acknowledgment; but they have thought
proper to take vengeance for themfelves: I fhall therefore
leave it to the impartial public of America to judge betwixt
us.

The anathema of the fupreme executive council, clofes
with obferving, ¢ That the difcouragement and negle&
manifefted by General Arnold to civil, military and other
chara&ers, who have adhered to the caufe of their country,

: with
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with an entire different condu& to thofe of another chara&er,
are too notorious to need proof or illuftration,” &c.

I am not fenfible, Mr. Prefident, of having negle&ted any
gentlemen, either in the civil or military line, who have ad-
hered to the caufe of their country, and who have put it into
my power to take notice of them ; with refpe@ to gentle-
men in the civil line and army, I can appeal to the candour
of congrefs and to the army, as- fcarcely a day paffed but
many of both were entertained by me; they are the beft
judges of my company and conduét.

With refpe to attention to thofe of an oppofite chara&er,
I have paid none but fuch, as in my fituation, was juftifi-
able on the principles of common humanity and politenefs.
The prefident and council of Pennfylvania will pardon me,
if I cannot diveft myfelf of humanity, merely out of com-
plaifance to them.

It is enough for me, Mr. Prefident, to contend with men
in the field ; I have not yet learned to carry on a warfare
againft women, or to confider every man as difaffeCted to
our glorious caufe, who, from an oppofition in fentiment to
thofe in power in the ftate of Pennfylvania, may, by the
clamour of party, be fliled a tory; it is well known, that this
odious appellation has, in that ftate been applied by fome,
indifcriminately, to feveral of illuftrious chara&er, both in
the civil and military line.

On this occafion I think I may be allowed to fay, without
vanity, that my condu&, from the earlieft period of the war
to the prefent time, has been fteady and uniform. "I have
ever obeyed the calls of my country, and ftepped forth in her
defence inevery hour of danger, when many were deferting her
caufe, which appeared defperate : I have often bled in it ; the
marks that I bear, are fufficient evidence of my condu&.

The
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The impartial public will judge of my fervices, and whether
the returns that I have met with are not tinGured with the
bafeft ingratitude. Confcious of my own innocence, and
the unworthy methods taken to injure me, I can with bold-
nefs fay to my perfecutors in general, and to the chief of
them in particular, that in the hour of danger, when the
affairs of America wore a gloomy afpeé?,.when our illuftrious
general was retreating through New-]Jerfey, with a handful
of men, I did not propofe to my affociates, bafely to quit
the general, and facrifice the caufe of my country to my
perfonal fafety, by going over to the enemy, and making my
peace. I can fay I never bafked in the funfhine of my
general’s favour, and courted him to his face, when I was
at the fame time treating him with the greateft difrefpe&,
and villifying his charaler when abfent. This is more
than a ruling member of the council of the ftate of Penn-
fylvania can fay, “ as it is alleged and believed.”(28)

Before I conclude, I beg leave to read before this honour-
able court a report of a committee of enquiry of congrefs,
on the charges publithed againft me by the council of
Pennfylvania, with feveral letters I did myfelf the honour to
write to congrefs, and a letter from their committee in
anfwer : I do not prefume to offer thefe as evidence, but as
they fhew the anxiety I had to have my condu& inveftigated,
and the relu&ance of my accufers to bring matters to an
iffue, I think it incumbent on me as an officer, to lay them
before you.

Report of the committee of congrefs on the charges ex-
hibited againft General Arnold by the prefident and council
of Pennfylvania.

The firft, fecond, third and fifth charges, are offences,

triable
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triable only in a court martial ; that the fourth charge is an
offence only of a civil nature, and triable only in a court of
common law ; that the fixth, feventh, and eighth charges
are offences, not triable by a court martial, or common law
court, or fubje& to any other punifhment than the difplea-
fure of congrefs and the confequences of it; that the com-
mittee are furnithed with evidence, by the fupreme execu-
tive council on the fifth and feventh charges, to which they
beg leave to refer ; that the committee of the faid executive
council, though repeatedly applied to, declined to give any
evidence on the reft of the charges, after fruitlefs applica-
tion for three weeks, during which time feveral letters
pafled between the faid executive council and committee,
in which letters, the fupreme executive council even threaten
the committee, and charge them with partiality.

Refolved, That as to the firft and fecond charges, no
evidence appears tending to prove the fame; that the faid
charges are fully explained, and the appearances they carry
of criminalty, fully obviated by clear, unqueftionable evidence.
The third charge, admitted by General Arnold in one in-
ftance, to be tranfmitted to the commander in chief. The
fourth charge, there appears no evidence to prove the fame,
and that it is triable only in a common law court. The
fifth charge be tranfmitted to the commander in chief.

Refolved, That the recommendatory letter in the fixth
charge, is not within the fpirit of the refolve of congrefs, or
an ufurpation of authority.

Refélved, That the letter in the feventh charge, though
not in terms of perfe& civility, yet it is not exprefled in
terms of indignity ; and that after the condu& of the faid
fnpreme executive council toward the faid General Arnold,
and the unexampled meafures they took to obtain fatisfac-

tion
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tion, totally and abfolutely preclude all right to conceflions
or acknowledgment.

Refolved, On the eighth charge, that there is no evidence
to prove the fame.

MR. PrESIDENT REED’s letter to MR. W. Paca.
IN COUNCIL.

: Philadelphia, 29 Fanuary, 1779.
GENTLEMEN,

After the conference between your honourable committee
and this board on Wednefday laft, the propriety of our
farther appearing to congrefs on that part of the fubje&,
which related to the employ of our public waggons, was
confidered ; and it now becomes my duty to acquaint you,
that this council preferring the public good to all other con-
fiderations, and more efpecially to thofe in which a fenfe of
indignity offered us, may be fuppofed to mingle, have con-
cluded to give you all the information that is now in our
power. In addition therefore to the papers enclofed, I
would mention, that if Mr. Mitchell’s ftate of that bufinefs
fhould appear to be defeQive, one Jefle Jordan, late a waggon
mafter in the quarter mafter’s department, can give teftimony
in the matter. We had fent to the quarter mafter to order
him up, before Mr. Mitchell’s ftate was given us, but we
find he has quitted the fervice, and we fuppofing that ftate
of the matter to afford fufficient ground of complaint, have
taken no meafures fince to bring him up for examination.

But while we thus a& upon motives fuperior to the
gratification of our own feelings, we think we fhould be
wanting in public duty and fpirit, if we concealed; and
while we are deliberating upon the meafures to which we

are
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are competent, for the vindication of our own honour, we
muft freely, *though refpetfully, declare, that, if in the ex-
ecution of public duty and the refolves of congrefs, your
officers may fruftrate our good intentions, and affront us
without feeling any marks of your difpleafure, it will greatly
difcourage our profecuting any enquiries into public abufes,
and executing your refolves farther than the fpecial exigen-
cies and conveniencies of our ftate fhould require : for we
cannot but feel great relu®ance to commit the authority
and honour of the ftate, and our own perfonal feelings, in
difputes with perfons who, in many cafes, may, by that
means, be elevated into undeferved confequence.
I am, gentlemen, with great refpeét,
Your moft obedient humble fervant,
(Signed.) JOS. REED, Prefident.

Philadelphia, March 17, 1779.
Sir, .
I did myfelf -the honour of writing to you on the r2th
ult. to which afk leave to refer. I am gratefully fenfible
of the attention, which congrefs paid to my requeft, in ap-
pointing a committee of their honourable body to enquire
into the charges publithed againft me by the prefident and
council of Pennfylvania; and having been informed, that
the committee have finithed their enquiry, and delivered in
their report, I pray you, fir, to recommend to congrefs, to
examine, and decide thereon as foon as poffible. I am
fenfible of the multiplicity of bufinefs before congrefs, yet I
flatter myfelf, that they will confider the cruel fituation in
which I am placed by the perfecution of my enemies, and
relieve me by a fpeedy decifion.
As an individual, I truft I fhall ever have fpirit to be the

guardian
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guardian of my own honour ; but as the fervant of congrefs,
when attacked by a public body, I confider myfelf bound
to make my appeal to that honourable body, in whofe
fervice I have the honour to be; and whilft my condu&t
and the charges againft me are under their confideration, I
think it my duty to wait the iffue, without noticing the
many abufive " mifreprefentations and calumnies, which are
daily circulated by a fet of wretches, beneath the notice of
a gentleman and man of honour ; yet permit me to fay, that
thefe calumniators, employed and fupported by perfons in
power and reputable ftations, whilft my caufe remains un-
determined before congrefs, confider themfelves fecure, and
induftrioufly fpread their infinuations and falfe affertions
through thefe United States, to poifon the minds of my
virtuous countrymen and fellow citizens, and to prejudice
them againft a man whofe life has ever been devoted to
their fervice, and who looks on their good opinion and
efteem, as the greateft reward and honour he can receive.
Thus circumftanced, I cannot be charged with undue im-
patience for foliciting an immediate decifion on the charges
brought againft me; and I flatter myfelf, that every member
of that honourable body muft have fome idea of what I
have fuffered on this occafion, and that they will relieve
me from a fituation, the cruelty of which is beyond my
power to exprefs.
I have the honour to be
- With great refpe& and efteem, fir,
Your moft obedient humble fervant,
B. ARNOLD.

His Excellency John Jay, Efg.

S Philadelphia,
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Philadelphia, April 14th, 1779.
Sir,

I find by a refolution of congrefs of the 3d inftant, that
they have dire€ted His Excellency General Wathington to
call a court martial on the 1ft, 2d, 3d and 5th charges con-
tained in the refolves of the executive council of the ftate
of Pennfylvania, of the 3d of February, the faid charges
being only cognizable by a court martial.

I cannot but teftify my furprize, that a court martial
fhould be ordered to try me for offences, fome of which the
committee of congrefs in their report, fay, there appears
“no evidence tending to prove the fame, that the faid
“charges are fully explained, and the appearances they
“carry of criminality fully obviated by clear unqueftionable
“evidence.” If congrefs have been induced to take this
meafure for the public good, and to avoid a breach with
this ftate, however hard my cafe may be, and however I am
injured as an individual, I will fuffer with pleafure, until a
court martial can have an opportunity of doing me juftice
by acquitting me of thefe charges a fecond time.

As congrefs have not decided on the 6th, 7th and 8th
charges, ’though their committee have acquitted me, I muft
now beg the favour of their decifion on thofe charges: I afk
it as a piece of juftice due to a faithful and honeft fervant,
and make no doubt of their immediately complying with
my requeft.

I have the honour to be, fir,
Your very humble fervant,
B. ARNOLD.
His Excellency John Jay, Efg.

Philadelphia,
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Philadelphia, April 26, 1779.
SIr,

I did myfelf the honour of writing to you on the 8th and
12th of February, and again on the 14th inftant, refpe&ing
the moft cruel and unjuft attempt made by the prefident
and council of this ftate, to injure my chara&er, to which
letters I beg leave to refer. In confequence of the two
former, congrefs were pleafed to appoint a committee to in-
veftigate the charges againft me, to the end, that I might
be, on their report, either acquitted or tried; and though
the committee, after three weeks fruitlefs application to the
prefident and council of this ftate, were not able to obtain
any evidence in fupport of the two firft charges, and in their
report to congrefs, fay, ¢ That there is no evidence tending
to prove the fame; that the faid charges are fully explained,
and the appearances they carry of criminality, fully obviated,
by clear, unqueftionable evidence.”

Yet, I find, by a refolution of congrefs, of the 3d inftant,
they have ordered a court martial to try me for thofe
charges, of which their committee have fully exculpated
me, and have refufed to decide on the report of the com-
mittee on the three laft charges, which are not cognizable
either in a civil law court, or court martial ; and of which I
ftill fuffer under the imputation, although this committee
have fully acquitted me. I muft once more beg congrefs
will do me the juftice to decide on thofe charges. I afk for
no favour, but juftice, and my right ; and I flatter myfelf,
when congrefs confider my paft fervices and fuffering in the
caufe of my country, they will no longer withhold the
juftice from me I am entitled to, however difagreeable it
may be to my cruel and implacable enemies, who, without

caufe
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caufe, have avowed their intentions to ruin me, and who, if
juftice is not denied me, will be held up to the public in
their true colours.

Ubpon application to the fecretary of congrefs, for copies
of all the papers relative to the charges againft me, I have
been informed, that I cannot have the report of the com-
mittee of congrefs, or the letters which paffed between them
and the fupreme executive council, without an order of
congrefs, which I now requeft, as thofe papers are abfolutely
neceflary to lay before the court martial, that the affair
may appear in a proper point of light. A court martial can
never, I prefume, fuppofe congrefs would have ordered me
tried for charges, of which their committee had acquitted
me. If therefore the report of the committee, or any other
papers, tending to elucidate the affair, is withheld from the
court martial, it will; doubtlefs, operate on their minds to
my difadvantage, and a fair trial can by no means be ob-
tained. As the committee of congrefs have a&ted as a court
of enquiry, I have an undoubted right (agreeable to the
cuftoms of all fuch courts) to the whole proceedings, and
every paper relative to the matter. This, I prefume, con-
grefs will not deny me. I therefore requeft, that they will
be pleafed to order copies of thofe letters, report, &c., de-
livered me as foon as poflible, as the court martial is ordered
-to fit for my trial on the firft of May.

I have the honour to be very refpe&fully, fir,
Your moft obedient fervant,
’ B. ARNOLD.
His Excellency J. Jay, Efq., Prefident of Congrefs.

Philadelphia,
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Philadelphia, May 14th, 1779.
DEar SR,

As you are chairman of the committee on my letter to
congrefs, refpeéting the report of the committee and letters
of the prefident and council of this ftate, I muft requeft the
favour of your endeavouring to have your report made to
congrefs as foon as poffible, and of knowing when that will
probably be, as my trial is pofitively fixed to the firft day of
June. If the report is not made in a few days, I fhall be
deprived of the benefit of thofe papers, which I conceive to
be my right, and abfolutely neceffary to obtain juftice of the
court maatial.

I am, with great efteem, dear fir,
Your moft obedient fervant,
B. ARNOLD.
Honourable William Paca, Efq.(29)

DEaR SR,

As congrefs cannot poflibly comply with your requeft,
the committee can make no report, that will be of any
fervice to you. You cannot have a copy of the report you
refer to, nor of the letters which paffed between the com-
mittees, becaufey on the late conference and accommodation
between congrefs and the ftate of Pennfylvania, thofe pro-
ceedings are to ceafe, and not to be brought again into view
or difcufion. The whole of the evidence, which relates to
the charges on which you are to be tried, is tranfmitted to
General Wathington, with the charges, and there is nothing
kept back, which you could avail yourfelf of in your de-
fence. As to the refolutions of the report acquitting you
of particular charges, they were founded, you know, on
ex parte hearing. The committee were obliged to finith

the
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the report, and as the executive council, from fome differ-
ence between their committee and the committee of con-
grefs, would not produce the evidence in fupport of thofe
charges, the committee took up the evidence offered on
your part, and paflfed the refolutions of acquittal; but the
executive council and congrefs having fettled the mifunder-
ftandings between the committees, and congrefs not having
decided on the report, and the faid executive council having
offered to produce the evidence before a court martial, the
refolutions of the committee can have no operation what-
ever : when we therefore come to report on your late appli-
cation, we muft report, that your application cannot be
complied with.
I am, fir,
Your obedient humble fervant,
W. PACA.

May 15, 1779.

This report was never a&ed upon by congrefs, the
council of Pennfylvania having had fufficient influence and
addrefs to quafh any proceedings upon it: my reputation
thus became for fome time longer a facrifice to what I
charitably fuppofe was deemed by congrefs .a neceflary fate
policy, to which individuals, however inconveniently, muft
fometimes, without repining, fubmit.

I have now gone through all the charges exhibited
againft me; and have given to each fuch an anfwer as I
thought it deferved.  Are they all, or any of them fupported
by truth and evidence ? or rather, does not each of them
appear to this honourable court to be totally deftitute of
every femblance of a foundation in fa& ? and yet bafelefs as
they themfelves are, they were intended to fupport a fabric ;

with
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with the weight of which, attempts were made to cruth my
reputation and fortunes: I allude to the preliminary refolu-
tion of the council, containing fevere but general ftriCtures
upon my chara&er and condu& ; ftriGtures of fuch a ferious
and important nature, that they themfelves were fenfible the
public would not think them juftified in making’ them, un-
lefs upon the moft unqueftionable grounds. Let them now
be meafured by their own ftandard. Had they unqueftion-
able grounds to go upon? Why then, in oppofition to
every principle of candour and juftice, in oppofition to
their own ideas of candour and juftice, did they make
and publith refolutions, containing cenfures of fuch a high
import againft me ?

An artful appearance of tendernefs, and regard for my
fervices, by which the council are pleafed to fay, I formerly
diftinguifhed myfelf, is held forth in the introdu&ion to their
charges. Did they mean by this to pour balfam, or to pour
poifon into my wounds? I leave it to this court, and to
the world to judge, whether they intended it to balance the
demerits they then urged againft me, by my former good
condud, as far as it would go; or whether they defigned it
as a fting to their charges, by perfuading the public, that
my demerits were fo enormous, that even the greateft and
and moft unaffeGed tendernefs for my chara&er, would not
excufe them in continuing filent any longer.

t If, in the courfe of my defence, I have taken up the time
of the court longer than they expeéted, they will, I truft,
impute it to the nature of the accufations againft me ; many
of which, though not immediately before you as charges,
were alledged as fa&ls, and were of fuch a complexion as to
render it neceflary to make fome obfervations upon them ;

becaufe
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becaufe they were evidently calculated to raife a prejudice
againft me, not only among the people at large, but in the
minds of thofe who were to be my judges.

I have looked forward with pleafing anxiety to the pre-
fent day, when, by the judgment of my fellow foldiers, I

fhall (I doubt not) ftand honourably acquitted of all the -

charges brought againft me, and again fhare with them the
glory and danger of this juft war. .

Fanuary 22.
The court met agreeable to adjournment. The judge
advocate having ftated the evidence relative to the feveral
charges exhibited againft the general, the court adjourned
until Wednefday eleven o’clock.

Fanuary 26.

The court met agreeable to adjournment, and having
confidered the feveral charges exhibited againft General
Arnold, the evidence produced on the trial, and his defence,
are of opinion, with refpe& to the firft charge, that he gave
permiffion for a veflel to leave a port in poffeflion of the
enemy, to enter into a port in the United States, which
permifion, circumftanced as he was, they are clearly of
opinion he had no right to give, being a breach of article
s5th, feGtion 18th of the rules and articles of war.(32) Re-
fpecting the fecond charge, that although it has been fully
proved, that the fhops and ftores were fhut by General
Arnold’s orders on his arrival in Philadelphia, they are of
opinion, that he was juftifiable in the order by the refolution
of congrefs of the 5th of June, 1778, and his excellency
the commander in chief’s inftruions of the 18th of June,
1778 : and with refpe& to the latter part of the fame charge,
the
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the making confiderable purchafes while the fhops and
ftores were fhut, they are clearly of opinion, that it is en-
tirely unfupported, and they do fully acquit General Arnold
of it. They do acquit General Arnold of the third charge.
Refpeéting the fourth charge, it appears to the court, that
General Arnold made application to the deputy quarter
mafter general, to fupply him with waggons to remove pro-
perty then in imminent danger from the enemy ; that wag-
gons were fupplied him by the deputy quarter mafter general
on this application, which had been drawn from the ftate of
Pennfylvania for the public fervice ; and it alfo appears, that
General Arnold intended this application as a private re-
queft, and that he had no defign of employing the waggons
otherwife than at his private expence, nor of defrauding the
public, nor injuring or impeding the public fervice; but
confidering the delicacy attending the high ftation in which
the general a&ed, and that requefts from him might operate
as commands, they are of opinion, the requeft was im-
prudent and improper, and that, therefore, it ought not to
have been made. . "The court, in confequence of their de-
terminations refpeéting the firft and laft charges exhibited
againft Major General Arnold, do fentence him to receive
a reprimand from his excellency the commander in chief.(31)
ROBERT HOWE,
Major General, Prefident.

Joun LAURANCE, Fudge Advocate.

The court adjourned without day.
T
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NOTES.

Note 1, Page 2,

The full names and rank of the general officers in this court, were
as follows: *

Maj. Gen. Robert Howe, (N. C.) O&ober 20, 1777,

Brig. Gen. William Smallwood, (Md.) O&ober 23, 1776.

Henry Knox, (Mafs.) December 27, 1776.
William Woodford, (Va.) February 21, 1777.
William Irvine, (Pa.) May 12, 1779. .

The names of the remaining officers, fo far as we have been able
to determine, were Colonels Stephen Moylan, Jofeph Wood,
Charles Harrifon, Jofiah C. Hall, Gunby (of the 7th Maryland
Battalion), and R. Butler. The Licutenant Colonels were Jofiah
Harmar, Charles Simms, and Popkins.

§ XIV, Art. 1, of the Articles of War, provided that a general
court martial thould not confift of lefs than thirteen commiffioned
officers, and the prefident could not be the commander in chief, or
commandant where the offender was tried, nor be under the degree
of a field officer. They were to take the fame rank as they held in
the army.

Note
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Note 2, Page 2.

The officers challenged were citizens of Pennfylvania, which may
have been the reafon of this proceeding.

General Arnold refigned his command in Philadelphia on the
18th of March, 1779, as foon as the committee in congrefs had
reported on the charges fubmitted by the council of Pennfylvania.

The proceedings of the court martial had but juft commenced,
when a movement of the enemy in New York, gave the commander
in chief reafon to fufpet that he intended either an advance into
New Jerfey, or up the North River. A council of war was called,
which decided that the prefent emergency required that every officer
fhould be at his poft, and the proceedings of the court were there-
fore poftponed until in the judgment of the commander in chief, the
the affairs of the army would juftify its continuance.

General Arnold was impatient at this irritating delay, which left
him through the whole fummer and autumn under the imputation of
the charges, and the fufpicions which the public might naturally
attach to them. He continued to refide in Philadelphia, where his
unpopularity rendered him the obje& of frequent infult from an
irrefponfible rabble. On one occafion when abroad in the ftreets
he was affaulted by the populace. He immediately applied to
congrefs, afking for a guard of continental troops, but that body de-
clined to interfere, ‘and referred him to the executive authority of
Pennfylvania for proteftion. In view of his open hoftility to the
members of the executive council, he could fcarfely have received
this reference otherwife as an infult, added to former injury. A
fecond application was not fuccefsful, and the whole year wore away
in ina&ivity, although his attive mind could not be idle. He pro-
je@ted a withdrawal from the army, and a fettlement in weftern New
York; and fome correfpondence pafled between him and Govenor
Clinton of New York, upon this fubje&t, but nothing refulted from
this fcheme. He had alfo thoughts of engaging in the navy, but
this plan alfo failed.

Note
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Note 3, Page 2.

The deportment of Gen. Arnold before the court, is thus de-
fcribed by Marbois :

“The army was encamped at a fmall diftance. Arnold repaired
“ to camp, and employed every artifice of intrigue and perfuafion,
““to draw over the members of the court to his interefts. He
“avoided at firft, prefenting himfelf before them ; but the tribunal
““ was as refolute as it was equitable and enlightened. In fpite of
¢ numberlefs fubterfuges, he was compelled to appear, and anfwer
““on each head of accufation. Relying upon effrontery to bear him
“out, he fteadily denied every fa&t which was incapable of dire&t
¢ proof, or vouched only by public notoriety. * * * Asto
““the charges proved, he alleged in extenuation even the diforder of
#¢ his finances ; he compared his cafe to that of the beft citizens, im-
‘ poverifhed like him by the revolution.”

Note 4, Page 3.

The names of officers not mentioned in a previous note, were:
Brig. Gen. Wm. Maxwell of N. J., O&. 23, 1776; Brig. Gen.
John Stark of N. H., O&. s, 1777; Brig. Gen. Mordecai Gift,
of Md., January 9, 1779. Col. Stephen Bradley, Col. Richard
Hampton, Col. Philip Van Cortlandt, Col. Mofes Hazen, Col.
Elias Dayton, Col. —— Sherburne, and Col. Oliver Spencer,

Note 5, Page 4.

Col. Mofes Hazen and Lieut. Col. Frederick Weifenfeldts, were
of the New York Line. The former had raifed a regiment of
Canadians in the expedition to Canada ; and while on this fervice
had been perfonally aflociated with General Arnold. His rank
dated from January 22, 1776.

Noze
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Note 6, Page 4.

Thefe charges were publifhed in feveral of the Newfpapers of
Pennfylvania and Maryland, in the abfence of General Arnold.
Mr. Clarkfon, hisaid de camp, and the reprefentative of his interefts,
foon after publifhed the following card, with the view of ftaying
public opinion until the charges could be legally inveftigated.

“To Tue PusLic:
¢¢ The prefident and council of this ftate on the 3d inftant came
‘“to certain refolutions refpe&ting the charalter and condu& of
“ General Arnold, and they have ordered them to be publithed,
¢ during his abfence, on 2 journey, which it was publicly known that
“he was about to make, feveral weeks before their coming to thofe
“ refolutions. It is I believe the firft inftance in the hiftory of any
¢ free or even defpotic, civilized flate, of the executive power con-
¢ demning an abfent man unheard, and ordering him to be profecuted
¢ afterwards. I will not therefore make any obfervations at prefent,
“ ou this new and unprecedented condu&, but it is my duty as one
“of his family, and as his friend, to affure the public, that every
“infinuation that General Arnold left Philadelphia to avoid an ex-
¢ amination into his condu&, is totally groundlefs, falfe and injurious.
¢ That, cafualtics excepted, he will return in the courfe of two or
““ three weeks, to this city, and in perfon anfwer any accufations that
‘“ may be brought againft him.
¢ The reafons which induced the executive council to delay their
¢¢ refolutions, and the publication of their charges until General
¢ Arnold had left the town, and why they made no application to
¢ General Wathington upon the fubje@, when his Excellency was
¢ here, will undoubtedly, at a proper time be laid before the public.
“In themean time, I muft pray them to fufpend their judgment,
“and not to entertain prejudices againft a man, who has fo often
¢ fought and bled in their defence, and whofe bravery and gencrofity
¢ have been fo often felt and acknowledged by our enemies. Itis
 not
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“not a difficult, though a very difagrecable tafk, to refute every
¢¢ charge brought againft this gentleman by the council, on what they,
“in juftification of their proceedings alledged and believed. Dif-
“¢ agreeable as it is, the publick may reft affured it will be done, not
“ only before the court, as foon as Mr. Attorney brings forward
“ his profecution, but the hiftory of the grounds and rife of thg
““whole tranfadtion, fhall be faithfully and impartially laid before
¢ them.”
‘M. CLARKSON, 4id de Camp.

¢¢ Pbiladelpbia, February 8, 1799.”

General Arnold alfo publifhed the following letter in the joumﬂs
of the day, cefending himfelf from the charges of the council.

¢ Camp Raritan, Feb. 9, 1779.
“To THe PusLick:
*“ Confcious of having ferved my country faithfully for nearly
¢ four years, without once having my publick condu& impeached, I
“ little expected at this time, to be charged with crimes of which I
“ believe few who know, would have fufpe@ted me. I find fince I
““left Philadelphia, that the prefident and council of the ftate, have
¢ preferred to congrefs eight charges againft me, for mal-adminiftration
““ while commanding in the ftate ; and that, not content in endeav-
““ouring in a cruel and unprecedented manner to injure me with
“¢ congrefs, they have ordered copies of the charges to be printed
““and difperfed thro’ the feveral ftates, for the purpofe of prejudic-
““ing the minds of the publick againft me, while the matter is in
¢ fufpenfe. Their conduét appears the more cruel and malicious in
““ making the charges after I had left the city, as my intention of
¢ leaving it was publickly known for four weeks before.
“I beg leave to inform the publick, that I have requefted congrefs
“ to diret a court martial, to enquire into my condugt, and truft my
“ countrymen will do me the juftice to fufpend their opinion in the
‘ matter until I have an opportunity of being heard, and condemned
“or acquitted. I hope the ifluc will fhow that, inftead of being
U < guilty



[ 154 ]

“ guilty of the abufes of power with which I am accufed, the pre-
“fent attack upon me is as grofs a proftitution of power as ever
¢ difgraced a weak and wicked adminiftration ; and manifefts a {pirit
“of perfecution againft a man (who has endeavoured to deferve
“¢ well of his country) which would difcredit the private refentments
“of an individual, and which oaght to render any publick body,
¢ who could be influenced by it, contemptable.
“BENEDICT ARNOLD.”

¢¢ The printers who have inferted or may infert the charges of
¢ the prefident and council againft me, are requefted to infert the

¢ above addrefs.
“B. A.”

The charges againft General Amold, were iffued in conneion
with the following circular of the council to the governors of each
of the other ftates :

“IN COUNCIL.
¢ Philadelpbia, Febry 61% 1779,
“Sir:

““The neceflity of preferving the dignity and fecurity of civil
¢ government, and guarding the good people of thefe ftates againft
«< all abufes of power, has induced us (though with great reluance,
¢ confidering the fervices and fufferings of the fubje& of them) to
¢ come into the enclofed refolves, and alfo to forward them to
“Your ExcelleY to be communicated to the legiflature of your
“ftate. We do aflure you, fir, that every abufe of power, and
¢ difrefpectful treatment of a fifter ftate will ever be reprobated by
““ the authority of Pennfylvania.

¢ We have now only to add, that on the zg5th of JanY laft, we
¢ communicated to the Hon® Continental Congrefs, the 5th article
“ of the charge in the inclofed, and on the 2g9th Jan'¥ laft the 6th
“¢ article, at the fame time acquainting them that other tranfaions
¢ were under confideration which would in due time be prefented,

“ and
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‘“and as General Arnold was about to leave this ftate immediatcly
““on a pretenfe of private bufinefs, it was requefted that he might
‘ be detained to anfwer the charges, but he is departed from this
‘¢ ftate pending the complaints, and when the proofs were ready to
¢ be exhibited.

““ Our reverence for the Hon® Congrefs, induces us to form the
‘““moft favourable conftruttions of every part of their proceedings,
““ and in this inftance to fuppofe, that confiderations of greater mo-
““ ment to thefe United States than affefting a particular ftate, have
“¢ engroffed their attention, fo as to occafion no other meafure than
‘“ appointing a committee, That General Arnold might not be un-
¢ acquainted with our fentiments refpecting him, we furnifhed him
¢t with the firft copy.

“I am fir Refpeftfully
“Your Moft Humble Servt
¢ JOSEPH REED.”

Note 7, Page 4.

Mr. Bryan emigrated from Dublin, Ireland, at an early age,
engaged extenfively in commercial bufinefs, but was finally unfuc-
cefsful. He was attive and publick fpirited, was chofen a delegate
to the congrefs of 1765, and after the Declaration of Independence,
was chofen vice prefident of the fupreme executive council of Penn-
fylvania. In 1779, upon the ftate conftitution going into efle&t, he
was eleted a member of the legiflature, in which he planned and
advocated a law for the gradual abolition of flavery. In 1780, he
was appointed a judge of the fupreme court, and held this office
till his death, which occurred January 28; 1791, at the age of fixty
years. His aflociates in the council were all prominent and influ-
ential citizens.

Note 8, Page q.

The complaint of the council, was referred to a committee in
congrefs, who held a conference with the joint committee of the
’ general
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general affembly and the council of Pennfylvania. This refulted in
two fets of refolutions, one to be reported to congrefs, and the other
to the general affembly, and council of Pennfylvania. That addrefled
to congrefs, was received on the 3d of April, and was as follows :

*“ 1. Refolved, That unanimity and harmony between the repre-
¢¢ fentatives of the United States in congrefs affembled and each ftate
¢ individually has been, under God, the happy means.of our paft
“ fuccefs and the only fure foundation whereon to reft our future
““ hopes of terminating the conteft with Great-Britain with honour
‘“and advantage.

“ 2. Refolved, That congrefs is highly fenfible of the importance
“and fervices of the ftate of Pennfylvania in the prefent conteft,
“ and regard with fincere concern and regret every event which may
““tend to leflen the mutual confidence and affe@ion which has
¢ hitherto fubfifted.

¢ 3. Refolved, That it is the full intention of congrefs on all oc-
¢ cafions, to manifeft the fame juft and equal attention to the faid
“ ftate and authority of Pennfylvania as to any other ftate in the
“ union.

4. Refolved, That any difrefpectful and indecent behaviour of
< any officers, of any rank, under the appointment of congrefs, to
*¢ the civil authority of any ftate in the Union, will be difcountenanced
¢ and difcouraged ; and that a contrary behaviour will be confidered
¢ as one of the fureft means to recommend any officer to the favour
¢ and notice of congrefs.

5. Refolved, That the complaints againft General Arnold be
¢¢ tranfmitted to his excellency the commander in chief, in order
< for trial; and that the fame be duly notified to the executive
¢ council ; and that they be requefted to furnifh the commander in
«¢ chief with the evidence thereupon in their poffeffion; and that all
¢ farther proceedings elfewhere ceafe, fave the colle&ting and tranf-
“¢ mitting any further evidence thereupon to the commander in chief.

The
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The firft four refolutions were adopted feparately, and without
diffent. The fifth being read, Mr. Penn moved, and it was feconded
by Mr. Burke, that it be poftponed until congrefs confidered the
report of the committee on the letter of the 25th of January, from
the prefident of the fupreme executive council of Pennfylvania, and
the letters of the 8th and 12th of February, from Major General
Arnold. The ayes and noes being required, this motion was loft.

Mr. Paca then moved, feconded by Mr. S. Adams, that in lieu of
the firft part of the fifth refolution as far as “ poffeflion,”” inclufive,
the refolution given in the text fhould be fubftituted. This refolu-
tion was adopted.

Note g, Page 11.

In collefting evidence of the ufe of thefe waggons for private ufe,
after being called out under the pretext of publick bufinefs, Prefident
Reed addrefled General Green, quarter mafter general, and received
the following reply :

““ Col. Mitchells, § o’clock, Fanuary 3d, 1779.
“ Six,

“ Your favor of this day, dated at three o’clock this afternoon, is
“is to me both furprifing and unintelligible. I have given no
““orders refpecting the matter you mention. Col. Mitchell fhewed
““ me a letter from General Arnold, and one he wrote the general
““upon the fubje®, endeavoring to fix the principles upon which
““ the party were to be paid for their fervices, at the fame time
““obferving, he fhould obey the general’s order if he gave one.
“ Col. Mitchell waits upon you to give any further information you
“ may want refpeting the bufinefs. If there has been any thing
“ done contrary to the honor or intereft of the ftate, it is a piece of
“¢ inadvertance and altogether without defign.

I have the honor to be, with refpe&,
 Your moft obedient and humble fervant,

“NATH. GREEN.
¢ Direted,

¢ His Excellency Governor Reed, prefident.
Note
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Note 10, Page 19.

Mr. Thomfon was born in Ireland in 1730, fettled in Philadel-
phia as a teacher, and there formed an intimate acquaintance with
Dr. Franklin, which probably led to his being feleéted as the fecre-
tary of the firft congrefs. He difcharged the duties of this office
with great credit to himfelf, and ufefulnefs to the public, during the
whole period of our government, until the adoption of the conftitu-
tion. .He died at Lower Merion, Montgomery county, Pa., Auguft
16, 1824, at the age of 94 years. ‘

Note 11, Page 20.

David Solcbury Franks, was one of the aids of General Arnold,
through the period of his command at Philadelphia, and until his
final flight to the enemy in September, 1780. From his clofe rela-
tions with the traitor, fufpicions were naturally excited in regard to
his fidelity to the colonial caufe. To remove thefe, Majors Franks
and Varick folicited and obtained a court of inquiry, which exoner-
ated both of thefe officers from any conne&ion with the plot. The
traitor, himfelf, in a letter written on board the Y «/ture, foon after
his efcape, and addrefled to General Wathington, exonerated both
his aids from any participation in his plans.

The odium which had been attached to his name-at Philadelphia,
however, led the council of that ftate, on the fecond of O&ober, to
order the fheriff of Philadelphia to iffue warrants for the arreft of
Major Franks, together with three others, ¢“they being perfons
“‘ whom there is juft reafon to fufpeét are enemies of the American
¢ caufe, and to hold an unlawful and dangerous eorrefpondence and
“ intercourfe with the enemy in New York.”

Mr. Seabury, one of the fufpeted perfons, was foon after releafed
on proof of his good condu&t. David Franks, a Britith agent, was
ordered to New York, and Wm. Hamilton was allowed to depart
for the Ifland of St. Euftatia, under bonds not to return during the
war. It does notappear that Major D. S. Franks or Mr. Conftable
were ever arrefted under the above order.

On
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On the 20th of O&ober, Major Franks addrefled a letter to the
executive council of Pennfylvania, from his quarters at Robinfon’s
" Houfe, near Weft Point, in which he folicited to have forwarded to
Gen. Wafthington, copies of any papers in their poffeffion, tending
to criminate him, and particularly that part on which a fcandalous
report of perjury was founded. He profeffed his innocence of any
criminal intentions or ats, and afked the privilege of refuting them.

Note 11, Page 33.

New Windfor, upon the Hudfon river, juft above the Highlands,
and three miles below the modern city of Newburgh, was one of
the moft important depots for military fupplies in the later years
of the revolution. At this place the principal body of the army lay
encamped feveral months before being difbanded in 1783,

Note 12, Page 34.

Mr. Young, waggon mafter general, died at Philadelphia, January
29,1779. The date of this letter is after the official copy, publifhed
by order of congrefs, but is manifeftly intended for 1778, inftead of

1779-
Note 13, Page 38.

Mr. Jordan commenced a fuit againft Arnold to recover the
money due for team labor on his two trips to Eggharbour, but was
murdered in Chefter county, in O&ober, 1779, before it came to
trial, which rendered it neceflary for his heirs to recommence the
fuit. The development of treafon, which forever banifhed the
defendant, and confifcated to the publick whatever eftate there might
have been found, fetded the fuit by leaving the claim ftill unpaid
upon their hands. In purfuit of juftice, Jordan had placed his pay
rolls in the hands of the fecretary of the executive council, where
they were ufed as ftated in the text.

As Col. Matlack appears prominently in the proceedings againft

Arnold,
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Arnold, a brief notice may be proper in this conne&tion. He had
previoufly ferved in the army, and was confpicuous for his devotion
to the revolutionary caufe. Although belonging to the fociety of
Friends in early life, he found no fcruples in the way of taking arms
in defence of his property and his liberty. He refided many years
in Lancafter, Pa,, and late in life was appointed prothonotary of
one of the courts of Philadelphia. He died at Holmesborough, Pa,,
April 15, 1829, aged 99 years.

Note 14, Page 50.

The law under which teams were at this period called out, was
pafled January 3, 1778, and was entitled ‘“ An a& for the regulation
of waggons, carriages, and pack horfes for the publick fervice.”” It
created a waggon mafter general for the ftate, and a county waggon
matfter in each county with the pay and rations of a major ; deputy
waggon mafters were entitled to the pay and rations of a captain,
when in attual fervice. Requifitions were made upon the county
waggon matfters, according to the emergencics of the cafe, and the
payment was firft made by the ftate, and fubfequently charged upon
the continental account, and paid by congrefs.

Note 15, Page 53.

Mr. Matlack, who took a moft a&ive part in preparing the
teftimony to be ufed againft Arnold, on the 18th of February, 1779,
addrefled the following letter to Mr. Jordan :

¢ Sir,
¢ Major General Arnold is now in this city, and no time ought to be
“Joft in obtaining the fettlement with him for the waggon hire of the
“¢ brigade which he fent to Eggharbor. You will, therefore, without
¢ delay, fend an order to Jonathan D. Sergeant, Efquire, to commence
“¢ fuits for the recovery of it, that you may be able in good time to
“ repay the money advanced to you by the council. It will be
“ neceflary
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“ neceflary to fend the names of the feveral perfons, owners of the

¢ waggons, or perhaps it will be beft for you to come to the city

¢ yourfelf if you conveniently can. There can be no doubt in my

“ opinion, but that you will recover of the general the price paid to

¢ other waggons who were hired to private perfons for like fervices,

¢ which I underftand was about £80 for the trip to each waggon.

I am, &c., yours,

“T.M”

¢ Direéted, )

““To Mr. Jefle Jordan, W, M.

Note 16, Page s5.

Col. William North was an aid to Baron Steuben in the Revolu-
tion, and became one of his executors and heirs after his death,
He was Adjutant General of the Army for fome years, and was a
fhort time in the fenate of the United States from New York. He
ferved five years in the Legiflature, and was thrice clected fpeaker
of the affembly. Having married a daughter of the Hon. James
Duane, he fetded at Duanefburgh, in Schene&tady county, where he
fpent his later years. He died at the age of eighty-three years.

Note 17, Page s5.
Gen. Charles Scott of Virginia.

Note 18, Page sgs.

Col. Proftor was a native of Ireland, and fettled in America be-
fore the Revolution. He engaged in the fervice and as colonel of
Artillery, and at the battle of Brandywine, was particularly diftin-
guithed for his courage. He was by tradc a carpenter. He died
March 16, 1807, aged 67 years, and his remains were interred in
St. Paul’s church yard in Philadelphia.

A\’ Note
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Note 19, Page 77.

Mr. Boudinot was at this time a member of the continental congrefs,
of which he was fubfequently chofen prefident. In 1796, he was
appointed diretor of the mint, but in 1805, refigned, and retired
to private life at Burlington, N. J. On the formation of the
American Bible Society, he was chofen its firft prefident. He died,
OQ&ober 24, 1821, aged 81 years.

Note 20, Page 106.

In April, 1777, an expedition left New York under Governor
Tryon, for the purpofe of deftroying’ a quantity of military ftores
which the Americans had colle&ed at Danbury, in Conneéticut.
Governor Tryon was accompanied by Generals Agnew and Sir
William Erfkine, and had under his command about two thoufand
men. They landed on the 25th, and marched feven miles into the
country where they refted for the night. At eight o’clock the next
morning they reached Reading, and early in the afternoon arrived
at Danbury. Their approach created the utmoft alarm, and many
of the inhabitants fled in hafte to the woods or to the adjacent towns,
fpreading the alarm of invafion wherever they went. The ciacmy
quartered themfelves in the village; numbers became intoxicated,
and their condu& became rude and boifterous. Upon their firft
approach, they were fired upon from a dwelling houfe, which greaty
exafperated them, and the troops upon entering, thruft the men
found in it into the cellar, and burned the houfe down over their
heads.

The riot thus begun, continued without reftraint from officers,
till next morning, when they fired every houfe in the village, and
left the fcene of their fiendifh caroufal, before a fufficient force
could be affembled to divert them from their work of deftruction,
or to prevent their return. Nineteen dwellings, a church, and
twenty-two ftores and barns were burned.

Gencrals Arnold and Woofter were then at New Haven, and a

few
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few other troops were at other points too diftant to render effetive
fervice. To thefe, word was fpeedily fent, and fuch difpofition of
the forces was made, as the emergency allowed.

General Armold joined the expedition about four miles from
Reading, and at that place they were met by General Woofter.
Their united force was now fix hundred men, of whom one hun-
dred were continental troops. Having ftopped a fhort time to re-
frefh their troops they reached Bethel, on the road to Danbury
about midnight, and there learned of the deftru&tion of Danbury.
At daylight Arnold and Silliman with four hundred men proceeded
to Ridgefield with the defign of intercepting the enemy on their re-
turn, and Woofter with two hundred men took another route with
the defign of harrafling their rear. In a fkirmifh received on this
fervice, General Woofter received 2 mortal wound. At Ridgefield,
Arnold, with a force now increafed to five hundred, took a pofition
acrofs the road, threw up a breaftwork and awaited the Britifh
who arrived at three o’clock in the afternoon. They were attacked,
and defended the pofition an hour, but then gave way. They rallied,
and purfued the enemy to his fhips, having feveral fharp fkirmifhes
on the way. Col. Huntington joined the Americans, and aflifted
in the purfuit. '

Gen. Arnold’s horfe was fhot under him at Ridgefield. He faved
himfelf by drawing his piftol and fhooting a foldier, who after
having fired his piece at him, was rufhing forward with his bayonet.
The next day, a horfe which he rode was fhot through the neck.
The Americans loft twenty killed, and from feventy to eighty
wounded. The lofs of ftores was feverely felt by the American
army, efpecially that of fixteen hundred and ninety tents, which had
been removed from Peekikill to Danbury for fafety.

This barbarous tranfaction reflected great fcandal upon the Britith
arms, and Sir William Howe, attémpted to difclaim any premedi-
tated barbarity, and to excufe the tranfa&ion on the plea of neceffity.

Note
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Note 21, Page 117.

Mr. McKean was chief juftice twenty-two years. He was a
member of the Congrefs that adopted articles of independence, and
one of the figners of thatinftrument. In 1799, he became governor
of Pennfylvania, and held till 1808, when he retired to private life.
He died June 24, 1817, aged 83 years,

Note 22, Page 117.
Judge Atlee was a judge of the fupreme court and prefident of the
common pleas for Lancafter and other counties. He died at his
feat on the Sufquehannah, Sept. 9, 1793.

Note 23, Page 118.

Mr. Rofs was born at Newcaftle, Del,, in 1730, ftudied law with
his brothers, and fettded at Lancafter. He was in congrefs from
1774 to 1777, and was one of the figners of the Declaration of
Independence. Hewas appointed a judge of the coart of admiralty
in Pennfylvania, in April, 1779, and died in July of that year, at
the age of 49 years.

Note 24, Page 118.

Jonathan Dickinfon Sergeant, was born in Princeton, N. J., in
1746, was a delegate from New Jerfey in congrefs, from February,
1776, till July, 1777, when he was appointed attorney general of
Pennfylvania.

In 1780, he refigned this office, and returned to private praftice
in which he attained great eminence. In 1793, upon the occurrence
of the yellow fever as a fearful epidemic in Philadelphia, he was ap-
pointed to affift the fick and relicve the poor, and while difcharging
this pious duty he fell a vi&tim to the difeafe and died in Oétober of
that year, at the age of 47.

Note
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Note 25, Page 120,

The capture of this veffel occurred in 1776, They were taken
from a privateer, carried to Jamaica, and thence ordered to a prifon
fhip in New York. While on this paffage, four of the crew arofe
on the captain and crew, and captured the veflel, as defcribed in the
text. .

Gideon Olmftead died in Eaft Hartford, Feb, 7, 1845, aged g6.

Note 26, Page 121.

Thefe commiflioners were members of congrefs. Mr. Drayton
was from South Carolina. Mr. Ellery, from Rhode Ifland. M.
Henry, from Maryland. And Mr. Ellfworth from Conneéticut.

Note 27, Page 130.

Mr. Matthew Clarkfon had ferved as an aid de camp to General
Arnold for fome time, and at the battle of Saratoga, received a fevere
wound in the neck. At Philadelphia he ferved as provoft marfhal,
and fhared to fome degree with General Arnold, the hoftility of the
council. On the 25th of January, 1779, he was requefted to attend
before the council at noon the next day, to give fuch information as
might be neceflary, but negle@ed the fummons. Upon this the
council made complaint to congrefs, and a refolution of cenfure was
moved in that body on the 24th of February, but loft by a tie vote.

They, however, decided that a letter addrefled by him to the
council, contained expreflions indecent and improper, which congrefs
‘highly difapproved of, and refolved that they would not countenance
-any military officer in difrefpe@ful condu&t to the civil magiftracy.
There is no evidence that he was implicated in the fpeculations or
frauds of his principal.

Mr. Clarkfon in after life took an a&ive intereft in benevolent
enterprifes, and was a vice-prefident of the American Bible Society.
He died in New York city, April 22, 1825, aged 66 years.

Note
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Note 28, Page 133.

This pungent reflettion upon Prefident Jofeph Reed, the reader
will find difcuffed, and the proofs on both fides prefented, in the
“Reed and Cadwalader controverfy,” elfewherc alluded to in this
volume. Arnold refers to a converfation alledged to have been
overheard between Gen. Reed and another officer, a little before
the croffing of the Delaware, by Wafhington, in which, they re-
garded the Continental caufe as well nigh defeated, and difcuffed the
profpe&s of an early return to Britith allegiance, as the fureft way
of fecuring perfonal immunities, and pecuniary advancement. The
ftory was emphatically denied by General Reed.

Note 29, Page 141.

Mr. Paca was one of the figners of the Declaration of Independ-
ence. From 1778 to 1780 he was chief juftice of Maryland ; and
afterwards chief judge of the court of appeals in admiralty cafes,
governor of the ftate (in 1782 and 1786), and judge of the diftrit
court of the United States. He died while holding the laft named

office, in 1799, aged 59 years.

Note 30, Page 144.

The following fe&ion in the articles of war, as they then exifted,
is here referred to:

Secrion xviii, Art. 5. ““ All crimes not capital, and all diforders
““and negle@s which officers and foldiers may be guilty of, to the
¢ prejudice of good order and difcipline, though not mentioned in
¢ the above articles of war, are to be taken cognizance of by a
“ general or regimental court martial, according fo the nature and
¢¢ degree of the offence, and be punifhed at their difcretion.”
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Note 31, Page 145.

Although General Wathington detefted the vices of Arnold, he
admired his impetuous bravery, which, while it often carried him
into the midft of dangers, was ufually crowned with fuccefs. The
manner of reprimanding him, was as delicate and gentle as could be
-expeéted by the moft fenfitive mind, and was in the following words
as reported by Marbois:

“ Our profeflion is the chafteft of all. Even the fhadow of a
¢ fault tarnifhes the luftre of our fineft achievements. The leaft
“ inadvertance may rob us of the publick favor, fo hard to be ac-
“ quired. I reprimand you for having forgotten, that, in propor-
“ tion as you had rendered yourfelf formidable to our enemies, you
“fhould have been guarded and temperate in your deportment
“ towards your fellow citizens: exhibit anew thofe noble qualities
¢ which have placed you on the lift of our moft valued commanders.
¢ I will, myfelf, furnith you as far as it may be in my power, with
¢ opportunities of regaining the efteem of your country.”

General Arnold retired with traces of the keeneft refentment at
the decifion of the court, and doubtlefs from that moment refolved
to feek a pofition that fhould give the greateft value to his treafon,
and the largeft opportunity for revenge upon the government that
had found it neceflary to oppofe its laws againft his arrogance and
avarice. '

There was ftill found even in the executive council which had fo
energetically prefled their charges upon the attention of the publick
and of congrefs, a certain degree of refpe for the military achieve-
ments of General Amold, and on the 3d of February, 1780, their
prefident, by their dire&ion, addrefled a letter to the commander-in-
chief, requefting him, if confiftent with his views of propriety, to re-
mit that portion of the fentence of the court martial, which required
him to adminifter publick reprimand. The following letter was ac-
cordingly written : .

“In
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s ¢ In Cosncil, Phils., February 3, 1780.
“Sm,

“ The proceedings of the fupreme executive council of Penn-
¢ fylvania, in the cafe of Major Gen! Amold, however mifrepre-
¢ fented by fome & mifunderftood by others, originated from the
¢ complaints of the inhabitants of the ftate who apprehended them-
“¢ felves injured, and applied officially for redrefs. The ill advifed
¢ refufal to have any communication with the civil authority on that
“ fubject led to other meafures, which, however varioufly conftrued,
“ will, we hope, produce this happy cffet, that both civil and
* military power will find their true intereft in preferving perfect
““ harmony and correfpondence more efpecially upon all inquiries
“ tending to corre& publick abufes. We do not think it proper to
*¢ affe& ignorance of what is the fubje of publick converfation, and
“ the fentence of the court martial leading to impofe a mark of re-
«¢ prehenfion upon General Arnold, we find his fufferings for and
“ fervices to his country fo deeply imprefled on our minds, as to
¢ obliterate every oppofing fentiment, and therefore beg leave to re-
“ queft that congrefs will be pleafed to difpenfe with that part of the
¢ fentence which impofes a publick cenfure, and may moft affe&t
¢ the feelings of a brave and gallant officer.

“In the aflertion of our own rights, we would not forget the
¢ juft pretenfions of others to publick gratitude and attention, and as
¢ we hope Gen. Arnold’s merits and fervices will be remembered,
‘ when all obje¢tions to his conduét are long forgotten, we fhall find
“¢ a pleafure in preferving the memory of the former while we en-
¢ deavour to efface that of the latter, Influenced by thefe confidera-
¢ tions, permit me, fir, in the name of the board at which I have
‘ the honor to prefide, to entreat you to lay our requeft before con-
“ grefs, as well as to fubfcribe myfelf with the greateft refpet and

¢ efteem
Sir,. Your obedt and very Humbe Serv’t,

JOSEPH REED.
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CTIVE, veflel named, 118,
120, 121, 122, 123, 126,
128.
Adams, S., vote of, 126, 127.
Adams, T., vote of, 126, 127.
Admiralty fuits, 58, 121, 123,
124, 125.
Decree of court of N. J,,
76.
Agnew, Gen., 162.
Albany, Arold at, iv.
Allegation of crime in Arnold,
111, 112,
André correfponds with Arnold,
viii, ix, xxvii.

Appeals, when allowgd by law of
Penn., 124, 125.
Armftrong, Mr., vote of, 126,

127,
Arnold, wounded at Saratoga, iii.

joins army at Valley Forge,
iv.

appointed to command at
Philadelphia, iv.

temptations to cupidity of,
iv, v.

chara&er of, vii.

expenfive habits of, ix.

propofes to enter navy, ix.

Arnold, quarrels with council, xi.
complains of delay, xii,
150.
refigns at Phila., xii, 150.
letter to Board of War, xiii.

accufed by Col. John Brown,
xv, Xvi.

refolutions of Council con-
cerning, 4.

introduces documents at
court, 8.

charged with ufing public
teams on private account,
6. 10, 39, 43, 48, 70,
73,79, 96-

acquaintance with fufpeted
parties, viii, 15, 17.

concerned in a cargo, ix,
16, 66.

inftruftions from Gen.
Wathington to, 18.

proclamation by, 19, 64.

faid to be concerned in an
illegal trade, 21, 23, 45,

112,
letters of Timothy Matlack
“to, 2§, 28, 116.

letters to T. Matlack, 26,
30.
. Arold,
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Amold, defence of, 62, 78.

order for clofing ftores, 63,
77, 78, 79, 110.

does not purchafe goods,
63, 65, 111.

not concerned in altering
memorandum, 74, 94.

addrefs to court by, 102.

letters from Gen. Wathing-
ton to, 103, 104.

cpaulettes prefented to, by
Wathington, iv, 103.

horfe prefented to, by Con-
grefs, 105. of od

proceedings in coart -
miralty, in cafe of, 118,

report of committee in Con-
grefs, comcerning, xxix,
133.

letters to Mr. Jay in Con-
grefs, 136, 138, 139.

letter to Wm. Paca, 141.

fentence of court upon, 145,

167.
infulted by a rabble, 150.
deportment  before court,
151,
charges anfwered in newf-
papers, 15z.
letter to the public, 153.
council afks &vor in his be-
half, 168.
Articles of war, 149, 166.
Atlee, Wm. Auguftus, fuit be-
fore, 117.
Atlee, Mr., vote of, 126, 127.
notice of, 164.
Attorney General of Penn., or-
dered to profecute Ar-
nold, s.
Ayes and noes, on refolutions of
Congrefs, 126.

BARBER, afledged infalt in

ordering a fergeam to call,
25, 29, 31, 32, 33.

Batkenridge, paper dated ast, 79.

Bayard, John, certificate by, 101.

Bennington, battle of, 106.

Beveridge, David, affidavit of,
56, 62, 108.

Biddle, Col., forage matfter, 40.

to be paid for forage, 84.
Board of war, letter ot?gxeiii.
letter to, 17.
Bond, Geo., certificate, 105,
122.
Boogs, Jofeph, pay due to, 51, §a.
Boudinot, Elias, 66, 77, 162.
Boyd, Andrew, complaints con-
cerning teams, 9, 12, 49,
83, 100.
orders from, 37, 42.
pay roll of teams, 40, 52, §3.
Boyd, John, pay due to, 51, §52.
depofition of, 37, 43.
Boyd, Col. Themas, teams or-
dered out by, 43, 44-
Brackenberry, Mifs, occurrence
at houfe of, 21.

Bradley, Col. Stephen, 2, 3,
151

5I.
Brandywine, battle of, xxiv.
Brown, Henry, ereéts monument,
xvii.
Brown, Capt. John, early deteéts
Arnold, xv.
letters to Council, xv, xvi.
death of, xvii.
Bryan, George, vice-prefident of
Council, 4, 155.
application made to, for
redrefs, 8.
Burgoyne, capture of, 104, 105,
106,

Bard,
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Burd, Edward, certificate by,
117, 119,

Burke, Mr., vote of, 126, 127.
on committee, 128.

Buder, Col. R., 1, 2, 3, 149.

ADWALADER, Gen., xxiii,
166.
Captures, jury wriels in, 124,
126,
Cargo, fuit concerning, §6, 108.
Carlifle, flour to be fent from,

34, 35.
Carmichael, Mr., vote of, 126,

127.

Carolina, Maj. Franks returns
from, 23.

Certificate afked from Col.
Mitchell by Gen. Arnold,
87.

not given, 87.

Challenge of members of court
martial, 2.

Challoner & W hite, letters from,
33, 85-

Charges againt Amold, plea to,

13.

Charming Nancy, fchooner, 13,
14, 54, 56, 58, 61, 62,
66, 76, 77.

Chefter Co., teams from, 7, 10,
36, 48, 80, 81, 82, 8s.

Circular to governors in cafe of
Arnold, 154.

Citizens, rights of, when they
become foldiers, 27, 28,

29.
Clark, David, concerned in a fuit,
. 118, 122,
orders from, for unloading
teams, 43, 44.
Clarkfon, Matthew, depofition
of, 63.

Clarkfon, Matthew, goes for wag-
gons, 70, 71, 73.
money for teams left with,
71, 8s.
pafs by, 7, 130.
card from, 152,
notice of, 16§.
Clingan, Mr., applied to for
redrefs, 98.
Clinton, Gov., correfpondence
with, 150,
Cochran, David, depofition of,
37, 42.
pay due to, §1, §2.
Coffin"& Anderfon, owners of a
veflel, 61.

Coleman’s, flour loaded from, 38,
Collins, Stephen, depofition of,
37 4332);?’ 108.
receives s, 39, 42.

before court of admiralty,
58, 61, 62.
Collins, Mr., vote of, 126, 127.
Committee appointed to afcertain
owners of goods, 19.
Concealment of deferters pun-
ithed, zo.
Confifcation of goods, ordered
in certain cafes, zo.
Congrefs cenfures conduét of
Johnftone, xxii.
refolutions in, 8, 18, 19,

78.
arrival of, in Philadelphia,

reftores Arnold to com-
mand, 104.
vote thanks to Arnold,
Gates, and Lincoln, 105,
106.
refolutions protefting pro-
rty, noticed, 110.
ordering ftores clofed, 110,
Congrefs
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Congrefs, committee of, on ad-
miralty cafes, 121.
powers of, defined, 124,
125.
ayes and noes on refolutions,
126.
committee on cafe of floop
Agdtive, 128.
report of, 123, 133.
Conne&ticut claim to Wyoming,
m‘
Cooke, Jofeph, refult of a fuit of,

77

Conﬁabl6e7, William, 45, 60, 62,

8, 77.

Contempt, A7rnold’s defence on
charge of, 131, 132.

Convention, veflel named the,
118.

Council of Pennfylvania, 4, 8,
11, 36, 50, 75, 81, 86,
101, 131, 1§5.

Court martial ordered, xi, 8.
organized, 1, 2, 3.
fentence of, 144, 145.
interrupted, 150.

Cuftis, Wathington P., xxvi.

ANBURY, expedition to,
106, 162.
Dartmouth, Lord, correfponds
with Reed, xviii.
Dayton, Col. Elias, 2, 3, 151.
Decifion of court, 144.
Defence of Gen. Arnold, 102.
Delaney, Sharpe, xxiv.
Deferters, concealment of, for-
bidden, 2o.
DeWitt, Simeon, xxvi.
Difcharges not given to teams, g6,
Drayton, Wm. Henry, proceed-
ings before, 121, 122,
165.

Drayton, Mr., vote of, 126, 127.
Duane, James, 161.
Duanefburgh, 161.

Dunmore, Lord, xxvii.

Dyer, Mr., vote of, 126, 127.

CKARD, S. R., xxvi.
Eggharbor, goods removed
from, 9, 10, 37, 38, 39,
42, 43, 44> 07, 72, 73>
gg,- 79, 80, 81, 85, 86,

Elizabethtown, paffes to, 7.

Ellery, Mr., 121, 122, 165.

Ellfworth, Oliver, 121,122,165,

Epaulettes prefented to Arnold,
iv, 103.

Erafure of memorandum, 45, 46,
47> 48, 49,72, 73, 74>
75, 85, 94-

Erfkine, Sir William, 162.

Evans, John, fuit before, 117.

FITZGERALD, John, tefti-
mony of, 21, 22, 112.
Fleeb, Alexander, at Trrenton, 36.
Fleefon, Plunkett, depofition be-

fore, 21, 22, 38, 42, 44»

Flour l:asded from Coleman’s,
Phila., 38.
laid up at Windfor, 33, 34.
prefling need of, 35.
Floyd, Mr., vote of, 126, 127.
Fooke, Paul, ill treated by She-
well, 16.
Forage fent to Eggharbor, 79.
iffued, 84.
Fort Schuyler relieved, 106.
Franks, David, order for arreft
of, 158,
Franks, David S., aid and fecre-
tary to Gen. Am;ld, 20.

»

————
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Franks, David S, alleged mifcon-
du&t of, 21, 22, 25, 29,
31, 32, 33.
Franks, David, teftimony of, 22,
23, 24,63, 68, 69, 120.
Franks, Major David S., pro-
pofed partnerfhip with
Gen. Arnold, 23.
orders for waggons by, 37,
38, 39, 73-
notice of, 1§8.
exonerated by court, 158.
warrants iffued for arreft of,
158.
atks an opportunity for de-
fence, 159.
French fleet, flour for, 33.
Froft, M., vote of, 126, 127.

ADSDEN, Mr., xxvii.
Gardner, Dr., teftimony
of, 96, 97, 101.
Gates, Gen., thanks voted by
Congrefs to, 106.
Germantown, battle of, xxiv.
Gibfon, Andrew, pay due to,
51, §2.
Gibfon, Samuel, pay due to, 51,

52.
Gibfon, Thomas, pay due to,

51, §2.
Gift, General, on court martial,
2, 3.
date osfrank, 151,
Goods, returns of, ordered to be
made, 19.
order to purchafe illegally,
21,
loaded at Eggharbor, 39.
fold on commiffion, 44-
Governors, circular letter to, 154.
Greene, Gen., fends for Mr.
Jordan, 8z.

Greene, Gen.,, letter of, 157.
Gunby, Col.,, on court martial,

1, 2, 3, 149.
HALL, Col., on court martial,
1

s 25 3.

Hall, Col. Jofiah C., 149.

Hall, John, makes changes in
memorandum, 72, 73.

Hambright, John, member of
Council, 4.

Hamet, Eleazer, pay due to, 51,

53.
Hamilton, 6Iét. Col., depofition

of, 66.
Hamilton, Wm., order for arreft
of, 158.
Hampton, Col. Richard, 151.
Harlem, enemy at, 67.
Harmar, Col. Jofiah, 1, 2, 3,

149.
Harrifon, Col. Charles, on
court martial, 1, 2, 3,

149.
Hart, Cg]? Jofeph, member of
Council, 4.
Hazen, Col. Mofes, on court
martial, 3, 4, I§1.
Henry, Mr., vote of, 126,

127.

Henry, John, proceedings before,
122, 165.

Hepburn, Stacy, Mr. Shewell
defires to vifit, 55.

Hill, Mr., vote of, 126, 127.

Hilzeimer, order for forage from,
74 75‘

Hogan, Gen., fucceeds Arnold,
xiii.

Holten, Mr., vote of, 126,
127.

Horfe and equipage voted to
Gen. Amold, 10s.

oufton,
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Houfton, Thomas, commander
of a privateer, 118, 130,
121,

Howe, Gen. Robert, xxvii, 1,
2, 3, 76, 145, 14

Howe, Sir William, 56, 115,
116, 163.

Howell, Gov., xxiii.

Humpton, Col. Richard, on court
martial, 3, 4.

Huntington, Col., 163.

Huntington, Gen., information
from, 103.

MLAY, John, affidavit before,
55, §8, 62, 77.
Impreffiment of wagons, com-
plained of, 37.
Indi&ment againft Arnold, 117,
118,
Ingerfoll, Samuel, plaintiff in a
fuit, 56, 58, 62, 76, 77.
Inftructions to Arnold at Phila-
delphia, 18.
Irvine, Gen. Wm., notice of)
xxiv, xxviii, 1, 2, 3.
date of rank, 149.

ACKSON, Col,, on court
martial, 4.
regiment of, enters Phila-
delphia, 21.
Jamaica, capt6ured prifoners fent
to, 165,
Jay, John, prefident of Congrefs,
13.

vote of, 126, 127,
letter from Arnold to, 136,
138, 139.
Jerfeys, private property removed
from, 10.
Johnftone, Mr., tries to bribe

.o

Reed, xxi, xxii,

Jordan, Jefle, deputy wagon

mafter, 9, 1g, 11, 37, 38,

435 45, 46, 475 48, 49,

505 53, 705 725 735> 74s

75> 80, 81, 83, 83, 84,

?g; 819: 9¢l>» 94> 98, 99,

» 129,130, 135, 159,

Jofiah, James, mmmnmgnsr ofs' 9:
floop, 118.

Jury trials, ?nw concerning, 124.

KITE, Jofeph, pay due to, 51.
3.

5
Knox, Brig. Gen. Henry, on
ial, i, 1,
2, 3, 149.

LANCASTER, Pennfylvania
government at, 108.
Lancafter county, provifions
from, 34, 35.
Langworthy, M., vote of, 126,
127,
Laurance, John, judge advocate,
xxvii, 1, 2, 79, 145.
Laurens, Mr., vote of, 126, 137.
on committee, 128.
Lebanon, teams wanted from, 35.
Lee, Gen. Charles, letter from,
to Reed, xix, xx.
Lee, R. H,, vote of,
127,
Le Gerard, veflel named, 118.
Levy, Mifs, pafs to, 130.
Levy, Mofes, xxiv.
Lewis, Jofeph, at Morriftown, 36.
Lincoln, Gen., epaulettes pre-
fented to, 103.
thanks voted by Congrefs
to, 106.
Lovell, Mr., vote of, 126, 127,
Lufk (or Rufk) countermands an
order, 35.
McCallifter,

126,
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McCALLISTER, John, to
load waggons, 33.

McClure, Mr., vote of, 126,
127.

McDougall, Gen. Alexander,
xxvii.

McEvers, Mr., concerned with
Mr. Seagrove, 66.

McKean, Thomas, 117, 164.

McKinley, Governor, confulted
about a cargo, 56.

McLene, James, member of
Council, 4.

Macky, John, member of Coun-

cil, 4.
Magazines at New Windfor, 33,

34

Marbois’ account of Arnold,
151, 167,

Matlack, Timothy, Secreury to
Councd xiv, xvii, 8, 9,
10, 11, 12, 1§, 17, 22,
25, 26, 28, 30, 31, 34,
35» 36, 375 45> 52, 54»

, 114, 110, 150,

Maxwell, General Wm., on court
martial, 3, 130, 152.

Maxwell, Mary, xxiii.

Memorandum book, names in,
72 to 76.

Menial fervices required of mili-
ua, 25, 29, 31, 32, 33

114.

Merchandize of doubtful owner-
thip, v.

Middlebrook, head quarters at,

3.
Middletown, Arnold at, iv, 2.
Militia, alledged ill treatment of,

5» 25, 29, 31, 32, 114.
importance of their fervi-

ces, 6, 25, 105.
X

Minute book of Col. John
Mitchell, 45, 46, 47, 48,
49, 72 to 76.

Mitchell, John, deputy OQr.
Matt. Gen,, 9, 11, 12,
13, 34, 35, 36, 38,
40, 41, 43, 455 47, 48,
50, 69, 70, 71, 72, 73»
74’ 755 765 79, 83, 86,

87, 88, 89, 90, 95, 100,

128, 135.

Monmouth, battle of, xxi.

Moore, Wm., mafter of a veflel,
145 375 39, 42, 43 54»
70.

Morris, Mr., xxv.

Morriftown, court martial at,
xiv, 2, 3, 35, 36, 104.

Moylan, Col. Stephen, 1, 2, 3,
149.

EWFOUNDLAND, pro-
pofed voyage to, §6.
New Haven, Arnold at, iv.
New Jerfey, proccedings in ad-
miralty court of, §8.
vefle] fails to, under a pafs,
108,
New Windfor, ftores laid in at,
9> 335 34> 35, 154-
New York, incident on evacua-
tion of, 67.
clearance "could be obtained
for, 56, 59.
militia law 1n, 114.
Nicholfon, Wm., appears before
court, 101.
Norfolk, xxvii.
Norris’s tavern, court martial

at, 3.
North, Col. Wm,, 55, 161.

Obedience
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OBEDIENCE the duty of a
foldier, 27, 29.
Obliteration in a memorandum
book, 47, 48, 49-
Official fignature to p;ivatc order,

70.

Olmftead, Gideon, defendant in
a fuit, 118, 120, 121,
122, 165.

Oppreflion charged againft Ar-
nold, 4.

Order for teams, how regarded,

1, 92, 93.

Order for meeting of court mar-
tial, 2, 3, 76.

Ownerthip of goods to be afcer-
tained, 19.

PACA, Wm., vote of, 27.
on committee, 128.
letter of J. Reed to, 135.
letter to Arnold, 141.
letter from Arnold to, 141.
refolution offered. by, 157.
notice of, 166.

Parke, Samuel, pay due to, 51.
Pafchal, Benjamin, papers af-
firmed before, 63.
Paflport for cargo declined, §7.
Paflports, by whom granted, 55.
Paffes into enemy’s lines im-
properly iffued, 7.
by whom granted, 109.

Payment for teams refufed, 79.
Pay of teamfters, difficulties
about, 40, 41.
for waggons, Arnold’s de-
fence concerning, 129.
to teamfters, 49.
Pay rolls, fent to Gen. Arnold,

49.
of Andrew Boyd’s brigade
of waggons, 52, §3.

Pay for team work, difficulties
about, 74, 75.
altered, 98, 99.
Peekikill, importance of, 104.
tents removed from, 163.
Penn, Mr., vote of, 126, 127.
Pennfylvania, form of govern-
ment in, x.
complains of exceflive wag-
gon fervice, 37.
committee from, on cafe of
floop Aédtive, 128.
Pettit, Col., letter received from,

87.

calls for certificate, 88, 89.

Philadelphia evacuated, iii.

Arnold appointed to com-
mand of, iv.

loyal inhabitants of, viii,
15, 17.

Gen. Hogan in command
of, xiii.

waggons fent to, 9.

inftru@ions to Arnold at, 18.

Col. Jackfon’s regiment at,
21

teams ordered to, 38.
Congrefs removes to, 65.
pafs of a veflel from, 108,
threatened by enemy, 115,
116,
Pickering, Col., fucceeds Col.
eed, xx.
Pittfburg, tranfportation to, 35.
Plater, Wm., vote of, 126,

127.
Plea of Gen. Amold, 13.
Pompton Plains, teams fent to,

2, 43.
Popkins, Lt. Col, on court
martial, 1, 2, 3.
Porter, Sir Robert Ker, xxvi.
Prize, difpute concerning, 6.
Proclamation,
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Proclamation, clofing ftores, pre-
pared by Jofeph Reed,
111,
iffued by Gen. Arnold, 19.
Pro&or, Col. Thomas, affidavit
of, §5.
certlﬁcate of aﬁdavnt,
allufion to evidence of,
108.
notice of, 161.
Prote&ion, given by Arnold to
Shewell, 13.
Amold’s reply to charge of
granting, 107.
by whom granted, 109.
Pulatki, Count, xx.
Purchafes, privately made by
Armold, 6.
illegally ordered by Arnold,
21,
private, denied by Arnold,
113.

RANK, claiimed by Amold,
Rations cicnied to teamfters, 39,

42.
Read, George, xxv.
Read, Col. James, biographical
notice of, xxiii. 19.
member of ‘council, 4.
Read, James, Jr., xxvi.
Read, John, xxiii.
Read, Thomas, xxvi.
Reading, Ct., 162.
Rcccipt for goods not given, 39,

Reed, Jofeph charges by, xi.
correfpondencc of, xii.
letter.of Col. Brown to, xv,

xvi.
biographical notice of, xviii.
member of Council, 4.

Reed, Jofeph, letter of, referred,
8

letter to, 9.
Pres. Council, 13, 78.
concepning clofing of fhops,

64.

drew up proclamation, 64,
78, 111.

Amold’s cenfure of, 132,
133.

letter to W, Paca, 135.
letter to governor, 154.
letter to Wathington, 168.
Reefburgh’s office, orders for
loading teams from, 38.
Reprimand, ordered by court
martial, 145.
adminiftered by Wafhing-
ton, 167.
Refolutions of Congrefs, 19.
of Penn’a Council upon Ar-
nold, 4o.
Retirement to private life, Ar-
nold anticipates, 115.
Rhemeftown, teams wanted from,

Rldgeﬁel3ds enemy at, 163.

Robefon, Andrew, certificate by,
62, 77.

Root, Wm., vote of, 126, 127.

Rofs, George, fuit before, 118.

notice of, 164.

Rumf{dale, Aquilla, concerned in
a fuit, 118, 122.

Rufk, (or Lufk) countermands
an order, 35.

SALT cargo, loaded, 57, 59.
of no value in New York,

Saltar’s, Sloads?xken at, 43.
Scars received by Arnold, alluded
to, 119.
Schuyler,
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Schuyler, Gen., information
from, 104.
Scott, Col. Charles, 161.
Scott, Gen., gives a g:
Scott, Thomas, mem
cil, 4.
Scull, Major, letter to, xiii.
Seabury, James, order for arreft
of, 158,
Seagrove, James, interefted in a
cargo, 45, 6o
formerly refided in New-
York, 61.
admits that Arnold is part
owner of an intereft in
fchooner Charming Nan-

fs Coun-

€y 00.
political charalter of, 66,
67, 68. 94.
decree in cafe of, 77.
Seare, Mr., vote of, 126, 127.
Sentence of court martial, 145.
Serjeant, _]ona D., Atty. Gene-
ral, 118,
Sergeant, militia, complains of il
treatment, 2§, 29, 32.
notice of, 164.

Sherburne, Colonel, oan court
martial, 2, 3, 151.
Shewall, Robert, Jr., prote&tion
given to, 13, 14, 15.
charalter of, 15, 16, 17,

69, 94-
interefted in goods, 45, 6o,
61.
allegiance of, 54, 55, 69.
applies for leave to fhip falt,

55» 5
refides in Penn., 61.
voluntarily with enemy, 66.
decree in fuit concerning,

77
Shippen, Mr., vote of,
127.

126,

Shoemaker, David, interefted in
cargo, 6o.

Shops clofed at Philadelphia by
order, 6, 18, 19, 20,
63.64. 77,78, 79, 111.

Shurtliff, Wm., fupercargo, 14,

16.

chara&ter of, 16, 68,
partner in a fpcculanon, 56,
57, 58, 6o.
fufpeéted by encmy, 6o
decree in fuit of, 77.
Simms, Lt. Col. Charla, on
court martial, 1, 2, 149.
Smallwood, Brig. Gen. Wm. -,
on court martial, xxvii,
1, 2, 3, 149.
Smith, Mr M., vote of, 126,

127.

Smith, Wm., forage mafter, 40.

Somerfet Court Houfe, enemy at,
5.

Speciﬁcatiosns of charges againft
Arold, s.

Speech of Gen. Arnold before
the court, 102.

Spencer, Colonel, on court mar-
tial, 2.

Spencer, Col. Oliver, 151.

Stark, Gen. John, on court

s martial, 3,d151.

teen, James, ue to, §1,

Stcubei']: Baro:l:,a };61 thide

Stockton, Richard, xviii.

Stone Arabia, Col. Brown killed
at, xvii,

Stores clofed by order, 6, 18, 19,
20, 63, 69, 77, 78, 79
nr.

Supreme Executive Council, how
organized, x.

Switzerland, militia law in, 114.

Sword knot prefented to Arnold,
103. Tcams
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TEAMS, how ufually dif-
charged, 96.
releafed, 98, 99.
Teftimonials introduced by Ar-
nold, 103.
Thanks of Congrefs voted to
Arnold, 106.
Thomfon, Charles, fecretary of
Congrefs, 8.
notice of, 158.
Town major, return of goods
to be made to, zo0.
Treafon, Arnold’s remarks on,
132, 133.
Trenton, flour at, 35, 36.
Tryon, Gov., expedition of,
162.

VALLEY FORGE, iii, xxi, §.
papers iffued at, 14.
letter dated at, 104.
Van Cortland, Col. Philip, on
court martial, xxix, 2, 3,
151,
Veflel, irnsproper]y licenfed, §.
Arnold’s explanation of pafs
given to, 108.
captured, 165.

WAGGONS,mtlawfullycal]-
ed out, 5, 6,9, 10, 11,
Arnold’s defence, on charge.
128,
Waggon law of Pennfylvania,
160.

Waggon fervice, remonftrance
againft amount of, 36.
Wathington, Gen., letter to
Pres. Reed, xiv.
intercepts Lee’s letter, xix.
Arnold claims to be refpon-
fible only to, 12, 13.

Wathington, Gen., pafles given
without knowledge of,

14.
Shewall ordered out of camp
of, 15, 16.
inftruftions to Arnold, 18,
19.
proclamation under orders
of, 19.
aid to, 21.
articles referved for, 65.
prefents cpaulettes to Ar-
nold, 103.
letters from, 103, 104.
reprimands Arnold, 167.
Reed’s letter to, 163,
Weifenfeldt, Lt. Col. Frederick,
on court martial, z, 4
151,
Weldon, Jacob, pay due to, 51,

2.

Whartorf, Prefident, xi, xxiv,
XXV,

‘White, Artemus, concerned in a
fuit, 118, 122.

Wilmingggn, veflel efcapes to,

cargo propofed to be fent
tow§6.
Winder, William, xxiv, xxv.
Witherfpoon, Mr., vote of, 126,

127.
Wood, Col., on court martial,
1, 2, 3, 149.
Woodford, Gen. Wm.,, xxvii,
xxviii, 1, 2, 3, 149.
Woofter, Gen., attacks enemy,
162, 163.
killed, 162.
Wykoff, family concerned in a
cargo, 17.
Ifaac, information from, 17.
Wyoming
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Wyoming controverfy, xxii, Yorktown, waggons to be loaded
ay 33, 34.
ANTIPPE, fuit in the cafe Young, Jamc’s, waggon mafter
of a fchooner named, 56, general, 9, 41, 84.
58. letter to, 33.
requifition on, for teams,
ORK Co., waggons called 36.
Y from, 33,'34, 35. complaint made through,
Yorkiown, board of war in fef- 49, 97, 100, I0I.

fion at, 17. death of, 159.
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